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1991 Vangermeersch Manuscript Award 

Anne Fortin 
UNIVERSITY OF QUEBEC IN MONTREAL 

THE 1947 FRENCH ACCOUNTING PLAN: 
ORIGINS AND INFLUENCES ON 

SUBSEQUENT PRACTICE 
Abstract: The first official French Accounting Plan, adopted in 1947, 
had a marked influence in several countries. Its impact can still be felt 
today and many of its features have been retained in the 1982 French 
Accounting Plan. The article highlights the economic, political and 
accounting influences on the development of the 1947 Plan. The main 
characteristics of the Plan are also described. After presenting an over-
view of the events that marked the evolution of French accounting 
subsequent to the adoption of the 1947 Plan, the paper concludes with 
a comparison of the 1947 Plan with the latest French Plan (1982). 

The 1947 French Accounting Plan, later revised in 1957, had a 
marked influence in several European, Asian and African coun-
tries (Greece, Turkey, Tunisia, for example). Its impact is pervasive 
today through the model financial statements of the European 
Fourth Directive adopted in 1978. What were the forces that led to 
the development of the 1947 Accounting Plan? What were the 
sources on which its development was based? What were the 
strong elements of the Plan that gave it its usefulness and led to its 
widespread adoption? These are important and basic questions 
that need to be answered to understand more fully the present 
state of accounting in the many parts of the world that have been 
influenced by French standardized accounting, and to understand 
why it had so much influence. 

After considering the methodology used in the study, the pa-
per will address, in turn, the aforementioned research questions. 
An overview of the events that marked the French Accounting 
Plan's history subsequent to the adoption of its first official version 
of 1947 will follow. The paper then proceeds to highlight the per-
vasive features of the 1947 Accounting Plan that have been re-
tained in the latest revised version of the Plan, that of 1982. The 
conclusion recapitulates the landmarks of French accounting his-
tory since 1940. 
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RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 
The research approach used in this study involved library re-

search to obtain the following type of data: evidence on social, 
cultural, political, and economic factors in the relevant time peri-
ods; pertinent laws and decrees affecting accounting; rulings and 
decisions from accounting normalization bodies. Primary and sec-
ondary types of evidence were reviewed, including contemporary 
records and reports, government documents and compilations, 
and expressions of opinions, such as books. 

Essentially, the necessary literature was obtained at the li-
brary of the Conseil National de la Comptabilité and the library of 
the Ordre des Experts Comptables et des Comptables Agréés. 

The research process was one of abstraction and analysis of 
the factors which influenced the development of French account-
ing thought. The analysis included such steps as the determination 
of actual events that have happened and their sequence, and an 
identification of interrelationships among those events together 
with inferences about possible explanations. 

FORCES THAT LED TO THE DEVELOPMENT 
OF THE 1947 ACCOUNTING PLAN 

On August 31, 1944, after the liberation of Paris by the Allies, 
De Gaulle's interim government moved from London to the 
French capital. The war had left a devastated country with dimin-
ished productivity in both the agricultural and industrial sectors. 
Faced with an enormous task of reconstruction, De Gaulle's gov-
ernment initiated a number of economic and social measures: 
companies in key sectors of the economy were nationalized; a five-
year economic plan for modernization and equipment was 
launched; revaluation of assets was permitted; and social security 
was extended. Nationalizations and economic planning were the 
driving forces that spurred the development of the 1947 Account-
ing Plan. 

Nationalizations 
In the post-war period, the general sentiment shared by the 

resistance organizations, the three major political parties (the 
Communists, PC; the Socialists, SFIO; and the Christian Socialists, 
MRP), and the leading trade unions was that nationalization of 
key sectors of the economy would allow for a structured reform of 
the economy and lead to a new social democratic order. Three 
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motives were behind the nationalization movement: distrust of 
private companies, the urgent need for economic reconstruction, 
and the desire for improved labor conditions [Baum, 1958, pp. 
175-177]. 

In the immediate post-war period, the first companies to be 
nationalized were the coal mines of the North and Calais regions, 
which badly needed structural reforms to play their role in the 
recovery of French industry. The next companies nationalized 
were, among others, the Renault manufacturing plants, the 
Gnôme and Rhône motor company and Air France. After the No-
vember 1945 election, the first Constituent Assembly continued 
the nationalization program with the Bank of France and the four 
largest credit institutions; gas and electrical utilities; and thirty-
four major insurance companies. 

After May 1946, there was a virtual halt in the nationalization 
movement. The constitution of the Fourth Republic, adopted in 
October 1946, recognized and retroactively defined nationalization 
in the following terms: 

"any good or any company whose operations have or ac-
quire the characteristics of a national public service, or of 
a de facto monopoly, must become the property of the 
collectivity" [Chenot, 1977, p. 22]. 
There is no doubt that the nationalization of so many com-

panies in such a short time was a determining factor in the 
creation in April 1946 of a committee to study accounting nor-
malization (Commission de Normalisation des Comptabilités). 
The government needed to put some order into the disparate 
accounting of nationalized enterprises if it was to manage and 
control them adequately. What could be a better way to meet 
this objective than a uniform accounting plan? The fact that 
nationalized companies and the companies in which the state 
had an interest were the first to have the plan applied to them 
underlines the key role played by nationalization in the stan-
dardization of French accounting. 

In time, the government's objective was to extend the applica-
tion of the plan to private industry so that everyone could benefit 
from the enhanced comparability of accounting information. 

Economic Planning: The Modernization and Equipment Plan 
War destruction and appropriations by the occupying forces 

had left France in poor economic condition. In 1945, agricultural 
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and industrial production levels were respectively at two-thirds 
and one-half of their pre-war levels. 

In the early post-war period, Jean Monnet, who had been a 
wartime member of the first French committee for national libera-
tion, convinced De Gaulle of the necessity for an organized and 
planned development of the economy. Monnet believed that the 
strength of a country rested on its productive capacity. In this 
area, France lagged behind other industrialized countries due to 
the lack of innovative spirit which, in the past, had brought insuf-
ficient investment in productive and modernized equipment. 

To restore and improve upon France's pre-war productivity, 
the country's productive structure needed to be rebuilt and mod-
ernized; this was the objective of Monnet's five-year economic 
plan. Emphasis was put on the key sectors of the economy: coal, 
electricity, cement, steel, transportation and agricultural equip-
ment, some of which the government already controlled through 
nationalization. 

The plan was prepared from scarce data; no set of national 
accounts was available. However, economic planning spurred the 
development of national accounting by drawing attention to its 
importance both in the elaboration of the plan and in the assess-
ment of its realization, concurrently demonstrating a need for 
more sophisticated and more plentiful statistics. It was probably 
to meet this need that the National Institute of Statistics (l'Institut 
National de la Statistique et des Etudes Economiques, INSEE) was 
created in April 1946. It was also to meet the need for comparable 
and reliable data for statistical and national accounting purposes 
that the 1946 Committee for the Normalization of Accounting 
(Commission de Normalisation des Comptabilités) was created. In 
fact, the committee had a section whose mandate was to study the 
normalization of accounts for national accounting purposes. 

THE SOURCES OF THE 1947 ACCOUNTING PLAN 
Two major sources inspired the characteristics and structure 

of the 1947 Accounting Plan, namely the 1942 Accounting Plan 
and the Plan of the National Committee of the French Organiza-
tion (Comité National de l'Organisation Française, CNOF) [Brunet, 
1951, p. 168]. The influence came through individuals who had 
worked on the respective committees that developed these two 
plans, and who were later appointed to the 1946 Committee for 
the Normalization of Accounting. What were these plans, why 
were they elaborated and what were their respective contributions 
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to the 1947 Accounting Plan? The following paragraphs seek to 
answer to these key questions. 

The 1942 Accounting Plan 

Developed during World War II, the 1942 Accounting Plan 
was the product of an Accounting Plan Committee (Commission 
Interministérielle du Plan Comptable) instituted by an April 1941 
Decree. The plan's objectives were stated as follows by Detoeuf 
[1941, pp. 9-12], vice-president of the committee: 

1. To allow the determination of assets, capital, profits and 
product costs at both the company and the industry level; 

2. To make it possible to calculate industry-wide average 
costs for certain product types for government price con-
trol purposes; 

3. To decrease the possibilities of deceiving tax authorities by 
increasing the clarity of accounts; 

4. To help the government to avoid making mistakes in its tax 
and economic policies by normalizing accounting for each 
industry. 

As can be seen from these objectives, the motivation behind 
the 1942 Plan was government control of firms and prices. This 
comes as no surprise since the plan was drawn up during the war, 
at a time when dirigisme, or the planned economy, was very 
strong. Although accounting normalization was considered useful 
for company management, this objective was not among the driv-
ing forces that led to the development of the 1942 Accounting 
Plan. 

Contents of the Plan. To meet its expressed objectives, the 
1942 Plan contained a chart of accounts, terminology, valuation 
rules, financial statement models — a balance sheet, a trading 
account and a profit and loss account — as well as a method for 
computing product costs [Brunet, 1951, p. 250]. 

The headings of the ten categories of the chart of accounts are 
the following [Fourastié, 1943, pp. 171-179]: 

0. Capital and investments 
1. Financial accounts 
2. Regularizations and encumbrance accounts 
3. Inventory and purchase accounts 
4. Expenditures classified by type 
5. Allocation accounts 
6. Charges by sections 
7. Product costs 
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8. Sales and other revenues 
9. Profit and loss accounts and results of operations 
In fact, there were two charts of accounts: a complete one 

with ten classes for companies which used cost accounting, and a 
simplified one without the cost accounting classes (numbers 5, 6 
and 7) for others. Due to the integration of cost accounting into 
the accounting chart, there had to be two formats for the trading 
account and two for the profit and loss account: one set of state-
ments classifying expenses by destination (functions) for compa-
nies using the cost accounting classes, and another classifying ex-
penses by nature for companies which did not use these classes. 

The 1942 French Plan was developed on the basis of a docu-
ment prepared by Chezleprêtre, a Vichy government senior civil 
servant within the Ministère de l'Économie Nationale et des Fi-
nances, who had been trained as a statistician [Standish, 1990, p. 
346]. Chezleprêtre had probably drawn up his Plan using the 1937 
Goering Plan as a starting point since it had the only official chart 
of accounts in use at the time. In fact, there are similarities be-
tween the German and the 1942 French charts. 

In both the German and French charts, cost accounting was 
integrated with financial accounting. This arrangement of ac-
counts reflected Schmalenbach's conception, in which the chart of 
accounts follows the cycle of manufacturing activity: first, capital 
is raised and invested in fixed and current assets; then, materials 
are purchased and processed to create products that are sold; and 
lastly, all accounting elements are assembled in class 9 for the 
periodic closing of the books. 

However, even if the German and the 1942 French charts of 
accounts were similar, the French influence had impact in two 
areas of the 1942 Plan: product costing and the standard balance 
sheet. The resulting characteristics were later retained in the 1947 
Plan. 

First the latest innovations in French cost accounting were 
embodied in the 1942 Plan. The homogeneous sections method, 
developed and defined by Lieutenant-Colonel Rimailho in a 
1928 pamphlet under the aegis of the Commission Générale 
d'Organisation Scientifique du Travail (C.E.G.O.S.), was to be used 
in computing product costs. This method was concerned with the 
allocation of indirect charges to product costs. These charges were 
to be accumulated in various accounting units or sections (such as 
a division of the enterprise or a specific activity like distribution). 
Then, section costs were charged to product costs using a chosen 
work unit (unité d'oeuvre) as basis of allocation (such as kilome-
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ters or direct labor hours). This method allowed cost prices to be 
determined at each successive stage of the production process. 
The addition of the charges incurred at one level of production to 
the previous charges provided the cost of the product at that par-
ticular production level. However, since the method did not pro-
vide the original breakdown of the various cost components, com-
ponents had to be recomputed on a separate schedule. The homo-
geneous sections method was adopted in the plan for cost compu-
tations because it allowed precise calculations, and afforded great 
possibilities of application to various situations. 

Another characteristic related to product costing introduced 
in the French Plan was the use of mirror or contra-accounts which 
allowed product costs to be computed without altering expense 
accounts. In fact, charges were debited to the appropriate cost 
accounts by crediting contra-accounts, which preserved the infor-
mation registered in financial accounting's expense accounts while 
ensuring the identity of the information carried from financial 
accounts to cost accounts. 

Second, the rational classification (discussed in the next sec-
tion) which had developed in France in the 1920s [CNOF, 1946, p. 
46] and which, by the 1940s, had been widely adopted by the 
majority of French enterprises for their balance sheets [CNOF, 
1946, p. 23] inspired the 1942 Plan's standard balance sheet. How-
ever, the rational classification was not retained for the 1942 
Plan's chart of accounts since it was inspired by the German chart. 

The 1942 Plan was mainly criticized for its lack of logic and 
its complexity, and for being overly oriented toward the determi-
nation of financial results for external purposes, and of product 
costs for internal and external pricing of products. Not enough 
attention was paid to the role of accounting in the daily manage-
ment of operations [Brunet, 1951, pp. 252-253]. 

The other major criticism addressed to the Plan concerned 
the duality of the operations account and the profit and loss ac-
count, stemming from the possibility of classifying expenses either 
by nature or by function depending on whether the cost classes (5, 
6 and 7) were used or not. This situation deprived national ac-
countants of valuable information needed in the preparation of 
national accounts [Brunet, 1951, p. 252]. As will be seen in a later 
section, this criticism was taken into account in the drafting of the 
1947 Plan. 

An official adaptation of the 1942 Plan was only produced for 
the aeronautic industry. However, Brunet [1951, p. 254] mentions 
that a number of major companies also adopted the general plan, 
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and applied it without any official approval. The application of the 
plan allowed users to discover its weaknesses, and the experience 
they gained was valuable for the 1946 accounting normalization 
committee. 

The Plan of the National Committee of French Organization 
The National Committee of French Organization (CNOF) was 

an association of individuals from various professions who were 
interested in the organization of work in general. In 1928, Gabriel 
Faure, who in fact had been the first author to offer a modern 
decimal accounting chart in 1909, formed the CNOFs accounting 
section, whose major concern was normalizing the balance sheet. 

In July 1942, the CNOFs accounting section was invited by 
the CNOF council to study the plan prepared by the 1941 Account-
ing Plan Committee. Upon examination, the 1942 Plan was found 
to be too complex and technically difficult to apply to the large 
industrial companies for which it had been primarily conceived. 
Its classification was believed to be too empirical, without reflect-
ing any particular order or method. To make a positive contribu-
tion to the advancement of accounting, the accounting section 
then devoted its efforts to the rationalization of current French 
practice; by 1944, the section had published a rational plan for the 
organization of accounts. Eminent French accountants partici-
pated in the deliberations of the section: Gamier, Brunet, 
Anthonioz, Demonet, Fourastié and others, all of whom later 
helped in the drafting of the 1947 Plan, carrying over ideas that 
they had applied in the CNOF Plan. 

The objectives set by the authors of the rational plan were the 
classification, codification and articulation of accounts. No defini-
tions were provided in their plan, since the authors believed that 
there were enough excellent definitions in current practice. Nor 
was there any new method given for computing product costs. The 
plan provided a structure for making and registering the desired 
computations, but confined them to a particular set of accounts. 
Their correspondence with, and complete independence from, fi-
nancial accounting were ensured by the use of contra-accounts 
(imputation accounts). Any cost accounting method could be used 
in conjunction with the plan. 

The CNOFs Rational Plan. The proposed plan presented three 
double-entry systems, each containing two ordres. Each ordre clas-
sified events or accounting elements from a different perspective. 
The summation of all the accounts of any ordre provided the re-
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suits of operations. The ordres were linked together either by 
double-entry or by the use of contra-accounts. The plan's double-
entry systems were as follows [CNOF, 1946]: 

Financial accounting Ordre 1 — Operating accounts 
(revenues and expenses) 
(accounting elements seen 
as causes) 

Ordre 2 — Balance sheet accounts 
(assets and liabilities) 
(effect of transactions on 
the company's position) 

Managerial accounting Ordre 3 — Cost accounts and sales 
accounts (transactions 
classified as to purpose) 

Ordre 4 — Imputation or contra-
accounts 

Budgetary accounting Ordre 5 — Budgeted operations 
Ordre 6 — Budgeted liquidities 

Ordre 7 and 8 were left open, in case other accounting systems 
were developed in the future. Ordre 9 was devoted to commit-
ments and transitory accounts, such as purchases and sales in 
cash, and internal transfers. In financial statements, transitory ac-
counts were to be replaced by the ordre to which they were related 
(1 or 2), and commitments were to be listed at the end of the 
balance sheet. 

Each ordre was further divided into categories, each having its 
own specific meaning. For example, the categories found in ordre 
1 were charges and revenues that are included in the gross profit 
margin, operating charges and revenues, investment-related 
charges and revenues, administrative charges, miscellaneous rev-
enues and financial charges. These categories were further 
grouped to provide the following summary accounts: the gross 
profit margin, results of operations, net revenue from investments, 
net administrative charges and financial charges. The classifica-
tion adopted in that ordre was based first on the economic func-
tion of the transactions and second on their nature. Another ex-
ample of the breakdown of an ordre into categories is provided by 
ordre 2. In the latter, assets were divided, according to their eco-
nomic function in the company and their degree of liquidity, into 
fixed assets, investments, short-term assets (inventories and short-
term investments), receivables and liquid assets (cash and cash 
equivalents). 

Ordre 3 and 4 were devoted to cost accounting, constituting a 
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separate double-entry system. Separation of cost accounting from 
financial accounting was believed to be essential. The reasons that 
were given then for this separation seem still valid today in view of 
the maintenance of the same practice in the 1982 Accounting 
Plan. The most important justifications were the following: 

1. It facilitated the establishment and further modification of 
the cost accounting system; 

2. In cases where there were modifications in production or 
in the company structure, the cost accounts could be 
adapted without modifying the plan for financial ac-
counting, thus preserving the inter-firm comparability of 
the financial information, as well as its comparability 
over time; 

3. Charges included in product prices could differ from ex-
penditures registered in financial accounting; 

4. The use of contra-accounts allowed complete freedom in 
cost accounting; the transformation of data for the compu-
tation of product prices and the determination of results of 
operations could thus be done freely without altering the 
original accounts [CNOF, 1947, pp. 32-34, 99]. 

The CNOF Plan was very well designed; however, to preserve 
the recent tradition introduced by the 1942 Plan, only some of its 
features were retained in the 1947 Plan. The influence of the 
CNOF Plan and of the 1942 Plan on the 1947 Plan will be consid-
ered after introducing the latter. 

THE 1947 ACCOUNTING PLAN 
As the first official plan drafted after the Liberation, the 1947 

Plan constituted the real beginning of accounting normalization in 
France. It was initially designed for industrial and commercial 
undertakings, but with the intention of adapting the plan to all 
sectors of the economy. The ultimate goal of the Committee for 
the Normalization of Accounting was to create a system that 
would allow the summation of the accounts of all economic units, 
thereby facilitating the preparation of national accounts. 

The Committee was headed by its vice-president, Turpin, who 
was secretary of the Centred Committee for Prices. The secretary 
of the Committee was Pujol, a state economic expert and former 
secretary of the adaptation committee for the 1942 Plan. Among 
the sub-committees that were formed to work on specific topics, 
the three most important ones were the sub-committee on prin-
ciples, definitions and rules, headed by Fourastié and Lauzel; the 
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sub-committee on the general chart of accounts and financial 
statements, headed by Lemoine and Pujol; and the sub-committee 
on cost accounting, headed by Martin [Brunet, 1951, p. 166]. 

The committee had to focus on accounting in industrial and 
commercial businesses as the starting point of what would ulti-
mately become a national rationalization of accounting. More, 
specifically, the accounting system chosen had to be simple, com-
plete and flexible enough to be applied to large companies as well 
as to the more numerous small and medium-sized companies. 
Finally, the orientation chosen by the plan's designers was towards 
the determination of financial results for investors and creditors 
(particularly banks), and the determination of product costs for 
pricing purposes. Although finding a plan suitable for national 
accounting was not the primary goal of the committee, several 
measures were nonetheless adopted which stressed the economic 
orientation of the accounting reform. The economic concerns of 
the designers were reflected in the following features of the plan: 

1. Classification of companies' assets according to their eco-
nomic function or location; 

2. In the balance sheet, grouping of accounts into classes that 
reflected the accounts' economic function: permanent capi-
tal, long-term assets, inventories, third-party accounts and 
financial accounts; 

3. The classification of expenses by type, which provided the 
necessary elements for the study of the economic situation 
at the company, industry and national levels; 

4. The production of information on company operations to 
complete the financial statements, such as endorsements 
and commitments, or to facilitate the analysis of certain 
elements of the balance sheet (depreciation, fixed assets, 
provisions). 

Contents of the 1947 Plan 
The plan constituted a complete set of accounting procedures, 

including [Veyrenc, 1950?; Retail, 1951]: 
1. A definition of financial and cost accounting; 
2. A chart of accounts (see Appendix) and related terminol-

ogy; 
3. A list of the accounts and how they interact; 
4. General rules for the application of the plan; 
5. Valuation rules for assets; 
6. Rules for determining depreciation and provisions; 
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7. Models for the balance sheet, the trading account and the 
profit and loss account; 

8. A section on cost accounting, including a description of the 
system adopted, terminology, rules for computing product 
costs, an explanation of the perpetual inventory method 
and the procedure for the classification of expenses into 
fixed and variable categories; 

9. Statistical accounts necessary to analyze the company's 
situation and establish a national accounting system (see 
point 4 in the previous section). 

General Features of the 1947 Plan 
The plan offered a simple, logical and flexible structure, while 

introducing the most advanced cost accounting techniques of the 
time (the homogeneous sections method described earlier). Termi-
nology and presentation were largely borrowed from the account-
ing tradition. The chart of accounts (see Appendix) classes were 
chosen in accordance with the two traditional objectives of finan-
cial accounting: the determination of the firm's situation and the 
analysis of the year's results. The plan used the decimal system to 
number accounts and classes of accounts. The main classes of the 
plan were as follows: 

Balance 1. Permanent capital (capital, reserves, liabili-
sheet ties); 
accounts 2. Fixed assets and investments; 

3. Stocks; 
4. Third-party accounts (receivables and payables); 
5. Financial accounts (short-term loans and 

borrowing, short-term investments, cash); 
Operating 6. Expenses, classified by type; 
accounts 7. Revenues, classified by type; 

8. Profit and Loss accounts; 
9. Cost accounting accounts; 

10. Statistical accounts. 
This structure made it easy to prepare the balance sheet 

which was established from the accounts of the first five classes. 
Unlike the 1942 Plan, the order of appearance of the accounts on 
the balance sheet was the same as in the chart of accounts. Ac-
counts were first classified according to the duration of use or 
realizability for assets (short or long-term) and according to the 
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degree of payability of debts and capital. Subsequent classification 
of accounts depended on the physical or legal nature of the ele-
ments they represented. 

The logic behind the balance sheet framework was based on 
the representation on an industrial and/or commercial firm with 
the following characteristics: productive assets having a long-term 
useful life and an irregular renewal pattern; long-term financing 
for long-term productive assets; inventories rotating rapidly in less 
than a one-year time period; and an operations cycle whose dura-
tion was also considered to be less than one year. This representa-
tion led to a classification of assets, debts and owners' equity 
based on the one-year time period, the year being traditionally 
considered as the usual time frame for the accounting period. The 
permanent resources at the disposal of the firm, together with 
their investment in long-term production means, were therefore 
shown in the upper part of the balance sheet, with short-term 
assets and debts appearing below. Exhibit 1 indicates the structure 
of the balance sheet as it has been outlined above, as well as the 

Exhibit 1 

Structure of the Balance Sheet: 
Relationships Between Classes of the Chart of 

Accounts and Balance Sheet Elements 
ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Preliminary 
Expenses 

Fixed Assets 

Other 
Long-term 
Assets 

Class II 
Permanent 
Assets 

Capital and 
Reserves 

Cumulated 
Profit and Loss 
(opening balance) 

Super-annuation 
Funds 
Provisions for 
Contingencies 
Long-term 
Liabilities 

Class I 
Permanent 
Capital 

Stocks Class III  

I Class IV Short-term 
and Liquid 
Assets Class V 
Profit and 
Loss Account Class VIII 

Current 
Liabilities 

Profit and 
Loss Account 

Class IV 

Class V 

Class VIII 

• one 
year 

: one 
Year 
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relationship between the classes of the chart of accounts and the 
elements of the balance sheet. 

The main categories of the balance sheet defined above were 
then subdivided into as many elements as needed to register the 
results of the various transactions that modified the patrimony of 
the firm. The correspondence between the nomenclature of bal-
ance sheet elements and the structure of the statement facilitated 
the passage from the list of accounts to the balance sheet. 

The 1947 balance sheet was presented in the form of a T 
account, with the income or loss for the year as the credit or debit 
balance of that account. This provided a link between the balance 
sheet and the profit and loss account which was given some 
prominence. The following paragraphs will detail how income re-
lated operations were dealt with in the chart of accounts and fi-
nancial statements. 

Classes 6 and 7 of the chart were used to account for expenses 
and revenues. At the end of the period, the accounts were closed to 
account code number 80 (see Appendix) which then provided the 
information needed to draft the trading account. The profit and 
loss account was established from the information contained in 
account code number 87. The structure of the two statements is 
presented in Exhibit 2. 

In the trading account, charges were classified by type, so it 
was impossible to determine the gross profit figure from the infor-
mation provided. The plan offered an alternative presentation for 
these two statements, which could be used on an optional, supple-
mentary basis: after reclassifying the charges by function, it was 
possible to present a trading account showing the gross profit on 
operations. In this alternative presentation, administrative charges 
appeared in the profit and loss account, rather than in the trading 
account. The option of presenting the trading account by function 
was offered in the hope of making it easier for management to 
analyze charges and set up a cost accounting system in companies 
that in the past had only been concerned with financial account-
ing. 

The logic that prevailed in the subdivision of income accounts 
into two statements was based on the character of the operations 
which were being accounted. In the first statement, the trading 
account, all regular transactions that repeat themselves from pe-
riod to period were grouped. The balance of this account thus 
provided an indication of the current performance of the firm. 
Next, all irregular or exceptional transactions were grouped in the 
second results statement, the profit and loss account. The break-
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Exhibit 2 
Structure of Income Accounts 

TRADING ACCOUNT 

Current 
Results 
Related 
to 
Operations 

Opening Stock 
Purchases 
Wages and Salaries 
Taxes and Duties 

Rent and Maintenance 

Transport and Travelling 

Supplies 
General Operating Expenses 
Interest and Charges 
Provisions for Super-
annuations and for 
Amortization 

Credit Balance 

Closing Stock 
Sales 
Scrap Proceeds 
Proceeds from Packing 
Materials 
Own Construction of Fixed 
Assets 

Other Income 

Interest Revenue 
Allowances Received 

Debit Balance 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

Exceptional 
(non 
current) 
Results 

Operating Loss 
(from Trading Account) 
Losses Relating 
to Prior Years 

Exceptional Losses 
Exceptional Provisions 

Income Taxes 
Total Net Profit 

Operating Profit 
(from Trading Account) 
Profits Relating 
to Prior Years 

Exceptional Profits 

Total Net Loss 

down between regular and irregular transactions was based on the 
assumption that certain types of transactions were always of an 
exceptional nature, whatever the type of firm involved. Transac-
tions classified as irregular or exceptional were gains and losses on 
the sale of permanent assets, foreign exchange gains and losses, 
and profits and losses from previous periods. It must be noted that 
the classification by type adopted in the trading account was here 
replaced by a classification according to the origin of transactions. 

Further classification of revenues and expenses in the trading 
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account was developed from an analysis of the various elements to 
be accounted for. The logic that prevailed in the selection of the 
order of presentation of charges was based on the distinction be-
tween the major economic and financial operations usually con-
ducted by the firm. First, production operations necessitate the 
purchase of material, the payment of wages to employees and of 
taxes to the state, and the incurring of various operating expenses. 
Next, a category was created to register financial charges resulting 
from the firm's financing policy. Finally, a category was devoted to 
the cost of permanent productive means related to the period: 
depreciation of fixed assets. On the revenue side of the trading 
account, resources coming from the sale of production or pur-
chased goods were shown first, since they result from the primary 
activity of the firm. Next, sales revenues from two secondary 
sources were shown in separate categories. Production by the firm 
of its own fixed assets, which was considered revenue since it 
represented a transfer of charges to the balance sheet, also ap-
peared under a separate heading. Finally, a category was allocated 
to revenues from financial operations such as interest and divi-
dends. 

Aside from financial accounting provisions, the plan con-
tained an important section on cost accounting. As mentioned 
earlier in the case of the CNOF Plan, to maximize both the stan-
dardization of financial accounting and the flexibility and adapt-
ability of the cost accounting system, the plan reserved a separate 
class for cost accounts, number 9. Separation of cost accounting 
also favored the progressive introduction of cost accounting, with-
out delaying the application of the financial accounting section of 
the plan. The role assigned to cost accounting by the plan was 
threefold, including the periodic determination of: 

1. The cost of manufactured or purchased products; 
2. Inventories, using the perpetual inventory method; 
3. The results of operations by each branch or subdivision of 

the firm's activities 
In the general plan, a main structure for industrial accounting 

was prescribed, leaving the problem of application to particular 
cases to company plans. 

Two measures ensured the flexibility and adaptability of the 
plan. First of all, the use of the decimal system meant that any 
account could be subdivided by adding extra digits to the account 
number. Secondly, the free accounts left in the general plan could 
be used to fill specific needs. 
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Comparison of the 1947 Plan with the 1942 Plan 
and the CNOF Plan 

To facilitate the adoption of the plan, the Committee for the 
Normalization of Accounting did not want to upset accounting 
traditions unduly. Since the 1942 Plan had already been intro-
duced in some companies, it seemed natural that the committee 
base its work on that plan, and try to improve upon it. The com-
mittee benefited from companies' experience with the 1942 Plan, 
and took into account the criticisms that had been expressed of 
the earlier plan. 

The 1947 Plan was a major advance over the 1942 Plan. First, 
to number the first class, the zero was dropped and replaced by 
the number one to facilitate the use of accounting machines. The 
zero was used thereafter for statistical accounts. Second, separate 
classes were created for fixed assets and third-party accounts 
(short-term receivables and payables). Third, class number 2 of 
the 1942 Plan, which contained the regularization and engage-
ment accounts, was abolished, and the accounts reallocated to 
other classes. Fourth, purchases now appeared in class 6 instead 
of class 3, which was reserved for inventories, and the cumber-
some accounts for purchases added to inventory were eliminated. 
Lastly, accounts were classified in the same order on the balance 
sheet and in the chart of accounts. 

The separation of cost accounting from financial accounting, 
a feature of the CNOF Plan, was retained, together with the impu-
tation of both expenses and revenues in the cost accounts. As in 
the CNOF Plan, contra-accounts were placed in the same catego-
ries as the accounts they corrected, and accounts that had the 
same function in the firm were designated by the same number of 
digits. 

The rational classification used in the CNOF Plan was 
adopted for the balance sheet. However, the committee did not 
retain the classification into ordres and categories found in the 
CNOF Plan, since the flexibility of decimal coding was preferred. 
This meant that, as in the 1942 Plan, the balances of the 1947 
chart's classes were meaningless. 

Applicability of the 1947 Plan 
The Superior Council for Accounting, created by a January 

1947 decree, was to supervise the application of the 1947 Plan. 
The conditions under which it was to operate were to be specified 
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by a subsequent law. However, none of the propositions formu-
lated concerning a possible accounting law were adopted. The 
government, through several decrees, simply extended the applica-
tion of the plan to nationalized industrial and commercial compa-
nies, and mixed capital companies in which the government had 
interests (decree of October 22, 1947); government and public es-
tablishments of either an industrial or commercial nature, or of an 
administrative character; private companies benefiting from gov-
ernment subsidies or financial guarantees; private companies un-
der administrative control (for example, farming cooperatives); 
companies which had revalued their assets in accordance with the 
June 1948 decree. 

Finally, as a result of the rational conception of the plan, and 
due to the unsuitability of existing accounting systems in most 
French businesses, the plan was spontaneously adopted by several 
firms. This is confirmed by the fact that more than 45,000 copies 
of the official edition of the 1947 Plan were sold, and several pri-
vate editions of the plan were also successful [CNC, 1957, p. 8). 

The introduction of the plan was also facilitated by the fact 
that it was adopted by professional accountants, and taught in 
colleges and high schools. 

Impact of the 1947 Plan 
Favorable consequences of the 1947 Plan could be observed in 

several areas. First, in providing a rational organization of both 
financial and cost accounting, the plan provided the tools needed 
to improve company management — an objective of utmost im-
portance in the post-war reconstruction period. Secondly, the in-
troduction of uniform rules of valuation, classification, and pre-
sentation, together with the establishment of a clear terminology, 
facilitated inter-firm comparisons and improved the quality of the 
information collected for national accounting purposes. The in-
creased homogeneity of the data collected further allowed them to 
be added at various levels of analysis. Finally, the classification of 
expenses by nature and of some assets according to their eco-
nomic function in the company met the needs of national ac-
counting. 

These characteristics of the 1947 Plan made it appealing for 
countries looking for order in company accounts and readily avail-
able data for national accounting. Those were the reasons for the 
widespread influence of French accounting from the 1950s up to 
the present. 
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THE POST 1947 PLAN ERA 
During the 1950s, the Higher Council of Accounting made 

the first revision of the 1947 Plan. The new Plan was approved 
in 1957. The Council mainly devoted its efforts to improving the 
various elements of the 1947 Plan while retaining its framework 
and giving the cost accounting section of the plan more flexibil-
ity. A 1962 decree required the 1957 Plan be used in the private 
economic sector. The 1957 Plan thus became legally binding in 
over eighty lines of business for which particular plans were 
developed. Further, in the 1960s, the 1957 Plan served as basis 
for the development of the Plan for the African, Madagascar and 
Mauritius Organization (grouping of former French colonies) by 
a group of experts from the National Council of Accounting and 
INSEE. 

With changing economic conditions in France, the passing of 
new laws, the rapid development of information processing tech-
niques and the internationalization of trade and capital markets, 
the Accounting Plan needed revision. The need to improve the 
possibilities for financial and economic analysis offered by the 
plan s financial statements played an important role in drafting 
the revised plan's conceptual framework; in fact, this consider-
ation dominated the first phase of the revision (1970 to 1975). The 
new proposed plan changed the classification criteria adopted in 
the 1947 and 1957 Plans, and introduced a number of innovations. 
The classification of balance sheet elements according to their de-
gree of liquidity/maturity was replaced by a classification of assets 
and liabilities according to their economic function in the firm. 
The impact of tax regulations on accounting income and on the 
balance sheet was to be shown separately in accounts such as 
regulated provisions. The presentation of a statement of changes 
in financial position was to be made mandatory as a result of 
banks' and financial analysts' requests for information about the 
impact of the firm's transactions on its financial position. In the 
income statement, components of production were to be shown 
separately, and computation of value added was required to meet 
national accountants' information needs. These changes were ap-
proved by the National Council of Accounting (Conseil National de 
la Comptabilité) in 1975. 

Unfortunately, the 1975 Plan could not be adopted as such, 
since it had to be harmonized with the requirements of the Euro-
pean Economic Community (EEC) directive on company financial 
statements, which was approved in 1977. The EEC fourth direc-
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tive had both positive and negative impacts on the evolution of 
French accounting. 

Among the positive results were the introduction of the "true 
and fair" concept used in English-speaking countries, which -goes 
beyond the French notion of comptes réguliers et sincères (whose 
meaning is closer to careful obedience of the law), the new level of 
importance granted to notes to financial statements, the break-
down of income taxes information on deferred taxes. 

Among the negative impacts of the fourth directive on French 
accounting were the abandonment of the requirement for the 
preparation of a statement of changes in financial position; the 
partial abandonment of the functional classification in the balance 
sheet reverting to the previous classification of elements according 
to their degree of liquidity/maturity; and the abandonment of the 
computation of value added on the income statement. At the EEC 
level, financial statements were not designed with the same broad 
objective of serving micro and macro-accounting as in France. 
Furthermore, its development was based on the 1957 Accounting 
Plan's financial statements and on the German financial state-
ments in use in the 1960s [Nichus, Spring 1972]. Therefore, a 
number of innovations of the 1975 Plan, some of which reflected 
national accountants' demands, were not incorporated into the 
fourth directive. Similarly, since no conciliatory work had been 
done on a possible statement of changes in financial position at 
the EEC level, no such statement was included among the manda-
tory documents to be prepared annually by firms. 

EEC member countries could go beyond the fourth directive's 
requirements when incorporating its provisions into their respec-
tive laws. Nevertheless, France was bound by the EEC require-
ments, since the French industry representatives at the CNC found 
support in the directive for their claims for simpler statements and 
fewer disclosures than originally anticipated in the 1975 Plan. 
French companies did not want to have to disclose more informa-
tion than was required from their EEC competitors. Furthermore, 
it was not difficult at this point for industry representatives at the 
CNC to bring about changes in the 1975 Plan, since it was only a 
draft and had not yet been implemented. A compromise solution 
involved providing, in addition to the basic set of financial state-
ments, a more elaborate, optional set of documents with the same 
basic structure as the EEC directive statements, but retaining as 
many as possible of the innovations of the 1975 Plan. A third, 
much shorter set of statements was adopted for small firms. 
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The revised plan was adopted by ministerial decision in June 
1979. A final version of the plan, very similar to the 1979 draft, 
was approved in April 1982, and came into effect on April 30, 1983 
with the passing of the accounting law designed to incorporate the 
provisions of the EEC fourth directive into the national legislation. 

THE HERITAGE OF THE 1947 PLAN 
AND RECENT INNOVATIONS 

The basic characteristics and structure of the 1947 Account-
ing Plan remain in the 1982 Plan. However, some elements were 
added, the terminology was refined and augmented, the presenta-
tion of the Plan was improved, and a number of changes were 
made to the chart of accounts and the financial statements. To 
highlight what has been retained of the past experience in the 
1982 Plan and what are its main new characteristics, a compara-
tive analysis with the 1947 Plan will be presented in the following 
paragraphs. 

The 1982 version of the Plan contains basically the same ele-
ments as the 1947 edition (refer to the previous presentation of the 
1947 Plan). However, accounting principles, which were implied 
in the 1947 Plan, are now specified clearly in the first section of 
the Plan. The cost accounting section of the Plan was greatly ex-
panded. However, cost accounting remains independent from fi-
nancial accounting. Additional information provided in this sec-
tion includes the objectives of cost accounting, its uses for the 
management of operations, and a framework for the analysis of 
transactions in cost accounting. 

The 1982 chart of accounts uses only nine of the ten classes, 
the class for statistical accounts (number 10) having been elimi-
nated. Classes 1 to 5 are still reserved for balance sheet accounts 
and they retain the same titles. The operating accounts remain in 
classes 6 and 7. However, in each class, important reallocations 
were made in two-digits accounts in order that the chart more 
closely correspond to the new financial statement presentation of 
the classes' elements. Class 8 is now used for special accounts, 
such as commitments and consolidation accounts. Former profit 
and loss accounts of class 8 were reallocated into other classes 
because there is now only one statement for income related opera-
tions. 

In fact, the fusion of the former trading account, and profit 
and loss account into one income statement is a major change 
that has been made to the 1947 Plan. However, the current/excep-
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tional breakdown of operations has been maintained in the struc-
ture of the 1982 income statement, which is now divided into four 
sections namely, operations results, financial results, exceptional 
results and income taxes. 

As far as the balance sheet is concerned, the 1947 liquidity/ 
maturity criterion was retained for the classification of elements, 
except for financial investments and for liabilities. These elements 
are shown globally, details of maturity using the one-year criterion 
being given in notes to the balance sheet. A noteworthy change in 
the balance sheet concerns the presentation of net income for the 
period: it has been made part of equity instead of being shown 
separately as the last element of either the left or right section of 
the statement. 

New importance has been granted to the supplementary in-
formation provided with the financial statements. In fact, notes 
are now regarded as being an integral part of the financial state-
ments, subjected to the concept of true and fair presentation of 
financial information. Also, supplementary schedules are more nu-
merous than in the 1947 Plan. A schedule presenting assets and 
liabilities maturities has been added and some summary statistics 
covering a five year period are requested, concerning such ele-
ments as capital, net income, wages and social security benefits. 

The three sets of financial statements (the basic set; the op-
tional, developed set; the abridged set, for small enterprises), all 
based on the basic framework, also represent a new feature of the 
1982 Plan. 

As can be noted from the comparison of the 1982 and 1947 
Plans, the successive French committees on normalization had a 
good basis to work upon and, even if many improvements have 
been made, several features of the 1947 Plan have been preserved. 

CONCLUSION 
Since the 1940s, the road to French accounting standardiza-

tion has been paved by a number of episodes, each building upon 
the previous stages. First, there was the unofficial 1942 Account-
ing Plan drafted during World War II under government's initia-
tive. Then, in the 1942-1944 period, the Rational Plan was elabo-
rated under the aegis of the CNOF, a private organization. Follow-
ing the war, the 1947 Accounting Plan was the first plan officially 
approved by a governmental decree. Subsequently, revised edi-
tions of the 1947 Plan were approved in 1957 and in 1982, the 
latest version of the plan incorporating European considerations 
originating from the harmonization at that level. 
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Since the 1950s, French plans influenced accounting practice 
worldwide through their adoption by several countries and their 
adaptation for the former French colonies in Africa. Still today, 
some countries, like Madagascar who has adopted the latest 
French Plan, continue to be influenced by French innovations in 
accounting. 
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Abstract: In order to better understand the development of accounting 
research, this paper examines the work of the leading authors of The 
Accounting Review (Leading Authors) during 1946-1965. An earlier 
study [Fleming, Graci and Thompson, 1990] concluded that the work 
of the Leading Authors during the 1926-1945 period was characterized 
by a practical orientation. The Accounting Review in many respects 
remained a practically oriented journal during 1946-1965. However, 
changes are evident that were contributing factors in the evolution of 
The Accounting Review into its current quantitative/empirical orienta-
tion. 

The purpose of this paper is to increase the understanding of 
the development of accounting research as published in The Ac-
counting Review, one of the premier as well as oldest journals in 
the field. In a related paper by Fleming, Graci and Thompson 
[1990], the work of the 19 Leading (i.e., most prolific) Authors of 
The Accounting Review during 1926-1945 was compared with the 
work published while Sundem and Kinney were Editors of The 
Accounting Review (1982-1989). The major finding in that paper 
was that the early Leading Authors, several with significant practi-
cal experience, tended to write articles, in terms of topics, research 
methods, citations, and length, which would be of interest to prac-
titioners. 

The authors are grateful to Rob Bricker, Jesse Dillard, Bob Elmore, Walker 
Fesmire, Dieter Weiss, and two anonymous referees for reviewing earlier versions 
of this paper. Also, the authors wish to thank Tom Koster for his assistance on 
this project. 
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This paper examines the work of the 22 authors (henceforth 
referred to as "Leading Authors") who published the greatest num-
ber of articles in The Accounting Review during 1946-1965, the 
next twenty-year period. Although this period was initially selected 
for different reasons,1 it turns out to be a fortuitous choice for 
tracing the evolution of accounting research. The period begins 
shortly after the end of World War II which, although not an 
accounting event per se, is nevertheless associated with events 
(e.g., increased college enrollments after its conclusion 
[Niswonger, 1956; Moyer, 1956] and controls over war related in-
dustries [Davis, 1947] that did have an impact on accounting.2 

Similarly, the period ends about the time that there was a notice-
able change in the nature of published accounting research 
[Dyckman and Zeff, 1984].3 Also, just after the end of this period, 
The Accounting Review adopted an editorial review board to make 
the journal a peer reviewed publication [Flesher, 1991, p. 167]. 

The focus of this paper is on Leading Authors, those who 
were most successful in getting their work published in The Ac-
counting Review. While this is more of a quantitative measure 
than a qualitative measure,4 there is nevertheless interest in pro-
lific authors as evidenced by such publications as Richardson and 

1Twenty-year periods were selected by Heck and Bremser [1986] who com-
piled lists of authors (which serve as the starting point for this paper) with the 
most articles published in The Accounting Review during 1926-1945, 1946-1965 
and 1966-1985 (as well as for the entire period 1926-1985). Twenty-year periods 
seem to be a reasonable length to trace the evolution of accounting research. 
Interestingly, Dyckman and Zeff [1984] evaluated the Journal of Accounting Re-
search after a twenty-year period. 

2Although not the focus of this paper, World War II may have had numerous 
effects on accounting. For example, consider that 1940 marked the beginning of 
a period of sustained and dramatic growth in the market value of all listed stocks 
on the New York Stock Exchange from less than $50 billion to well over $800 
billion less than 40 years later [Previts and Merino, 1979, p. 330]. Undoubtedly, 
the fact that the United States had one of the few intact industrial economies 
following World War II played a large role in this growth. It would seem that this 
environment could not help but influence the development of accounting in the 
U.S. 

3It is worth noting that Previts and Merino [1979] used 1937-1966 as one of 
their time periods in their history of accounting. While the beginning dates differ 
(the beginning date for this paper is fixed given that an earlier paper [Fleming, 
Graci and Thompson, 1990] covered 1926-1945), their ending date is close to the 
year 1965 used here. In any case, there does not appear to be a definitive date in 
the 1960s to use as a cutoff to trace the changing nature of accounting research. 

4Note though that number of publications is not without a qualitative aspect. 
At least the editor must have thought the articles made a valuable contribution. 
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Williams [1990], Heck and Bremser [1986], Jacobs, Hartgraves 
and Beard [1986] and Williams [1985], which each use number of 
publications in their analysis. More importantly, the emphasis in 
this paper is on how The Accounting Review changed over time. 
The Leading Authors constitute a well-defined sample which fa-
cilitates comparisons of different periods.5 

Specifically, this paper seeks to determine if the work pub-
lished in The Accounting Review by the Leading Authors during 
1946-1965 was simply an extension of the practically oriented 
work of the Leading Authors during 1926-1945; or, alternatively, if 
the work served to more gradually bridge the gap between the 
earlier practical orientation of The Accounting Review to the cur-
rent quantitative/empirical one. The method employed is to exam-
ine characteristics of the articles of the Leading Authors during 
1946-1965 and compare them to their counterparts of 1926-1945 
as well as to recent contributions appearing in The Accounting 
Review.6 A detailed examination of why a particular individual 
wrote a particular article at a particular time is beyond the scope 
of this paper. 

The questions addressed in this research include the follow-
ing. (1) What were the topics of the articles? (2) What research 
methods were employed? (3) Which journals were important? 
(4) Did books matter? (5) Who influenced the Leading Authors? 
(6) How long were the articles? (7) What was the background of 
the Leading Authors? Along the way, other details are provided 
which should be of interest to accounting scholars (e.g., a listing of 
the more influential works). 

Questions (1) and (2) are addressed by examining the indi-
vidual articles and classifying them. Questions (3) through (5) are 
investigated by employing a citation analysis in the spirit of Brown 
and Gardner [1985a; 1985b] and others (i.e., "single" citation 
analysis is used as opposed to co-citation analysis). Page lengths of 

5There certainly are other valid approaches. For example, all of the articles in 
The Accounting Review could be examined, but this is not practical for the level 
of detailed analysis used in this paper. Another possibility would be to examine a 
random sample of articles; however, unless the sample size is sufficiently large, 
sampling variation may affect the results. Again, the Leading Authors constitute 
a well-defined group that is meaningful in each time period. It also should be 
pointed out that this paper is not about determining seminal contributions to 
accounting. An analysis of seminal contributions is not likely to reveal how The 
Accounting Review changed through time. 

6A detailed analysis of the 1966-1985 period awaits future research. 
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the articles are analyzed for question (6) and some biographical 
information is provided for question (7).7 

This paper is presented in five parts. The first part addresses 
the topics of the articles and the research methods used by the 
Leading Authors. The second part reports the results of the cita-
tion analysis. It is followed by an examination of the length of the 
articles. Biographical information on the Leading Authors is then 
provided. The final part includes a summary and concluding re-
marks. 

TOPICS AND RESEARCH METHODS 
Analysis of the articles begins with a classification by major 

topics to learn what issues were of interest to the Leading Authors. 
Next, research methods are examined to determine how the Lead-
ing Authors approached these issues. Since research methods may 
vary with topic, a cross-classification of research method by topic 
is presented. Finally, a detailed classification of the articles in the 
most popular topic area, financial accounting, is provided. This 
gives a closer look at how the interests of authors changed over 
time. 

To facilitate comparisons, the classification schemes for top-
ics and research methods developed by Sundem [1987] for analy-
sis of The Accounting Review were used with the exception that, 
for the topic classification scheme, an education category was 
added.8 Exhibit 1 presents the criteria for topic classification de-
veloped by Sundem while Exhibit 2 presents his criteria for the 
classification of research methods. Each of the three authors of 
this paper, independent of one another, classified the articles 
based on the primary emphasis (with respect to topic and research 
method) of the articles. The authors then met and discussed their 
classifications. In the vast majority of cases, there was initial agree-
ment among the independent classifications. Any differences were 
discussed and in most of these cases unanimous agreement was 
achieved. In the few cases in which unanimity was not achieved, 
the classification was based on a 2-to-l vote. These cases typically 
involved disagreement as to the primary emphasis (topic or re-
search method) of the article rather than the classification criteria. 

7The tabulations presented may also be useful to other researchers in helping 
answer other questions as well as in helping to spur the formation of further 
research hypotheses. 

8Other classification schemes are certainly possible (e.g., Dyckman and Zeff 
[1984] and Vasarhelyi, Bao and Berk [1988]). 
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Exhibit 1 
Topic Classification Scheme 

(Adapted from Sundem [1987, pp. 194-195]) 

FINANCIAL— External reporting issues even though they may impact internal 
reporting also. Inventory valuation papers were classified as financial rather 
than managerial. 

MANAGERIAL — Internal reporting issues. 
AUDITING — Related to tasks performed by auditors. 
TAX — Federal income tax issues. 
PROFESSIONAL — Professional practice of accounting firms. 
RESEARCH METHODS — Focused completely on such methods without direct 

application to an accounting issue. 
INTERNATIONAL— Assessed uniquely international aspects of an issue such as 

differences in accounting practices. Generally involved more than one coun-
try. 

NONPROFIT/GOVERNMENTAL — Required the special circumstances of such 
organizations to be a major influence on the research. 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS — Broad range of papers from office automation, to 
evaluation methods for accounting software, to the affects of different data 
storage systems on decision making, etc. 

EDUCATION— Studies on pedagogy and curriculum matters. 
OTHER — Not related to one of the above. 

Exhibit 2 
Research Method Classification Scheme 
(Adapted from Sundem [1987, p. 198]) 

GENERAL EMPIRICAL — A catch-all that includes primarily descriptive em-
pirical work. 

CAPITAL MARKET — Studies using security prices to measure reaction or 
association. 

BEHAVIORAL —Studies conducted to measure the reaction of student or pro-
fessional subjects. 

ANALYTIC MODELING — Studies using models with no specific underlying 
economic theory but use mathematical techniques. 

ECONOMIC MODELING — Studies which bring economic analysis to bear on a 
topic — they may be mathematical or verbal models. 

STATISTICAL MODELING — Studies which use models where the main focus 
is on statistical models. 

SIMULATION— Studies where the analysis is so complex so that computer 
simulation is necessary. 

DEDUCTIVE — The deductive studies that do not fit in other categories, includ-
ing opinion pieces. (To be explicit, this category in this paper was interpreted 
to include inductive, descriptive and legal research methods as well.) 

HISTORICAL— Papers that use archival methods to study an issue of current 
interests. 

SURVEY — Studies reporting information gathered by questionnaire about 
practices or attitudes. 
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As Sundem points out [1987, p. 194], such classifications are 
subjective and others may have classified the papers differently. 
Perhaps the most difficult aspect of Sundem's classification 
scheme is with international topics. Unlike the other topics in 
which it is relatively easy to discern differences (e.g., financial vs. 
auditing), international is not necessarily mutually exclusive of 
financial or other topics. "International" was interpreted to mean 
more than one country or at least the motivation of the paper 
included making a comparison with U.S. practices. Consideration 
was also given to the other Accounting Review articles written by 
an author. For example, Mary Murphy's "Comparative Profes-
sional Accountancy — Australia," ostensibly considered only Aus-
tralia. However, she wrote a series of such papers considering 
professional accountancy in several countries. Thus, her Australia 
paper was classified as "international." This classification seemed 
the most consistent with Sundem's criteria. 

Topics 
Table 1 shows that the 22 Leading Authors published 188 

articles in eight topical areas and an "other" category.9 As noted, 
financial accounting is the most popular topic with 46% of the 
articles. The education category is second with 21% of the articles, 
followed by the managerial area (13%), the professional area (8%), 
and the international area (5%). The Leading Authors published 
less than ten articles in each of the tax, nonprofit/governmental, 
and auditing areas. 

Financial accounting decreased in its share of articles form 
67% during 1926-1945 to 46% during 1946-1965 which is similar 
to its recent share of 45% of the articles while Sundem was Editor 
[Sundem, 1987] and 50% of the articles while Kinney was Editor 
[Kinney, 1990].10 Education articles became much more popular 

9Heck and Bremser [1986] reported the number of articles published by each 
Leading Author along with the guidelines used for counting articles. Except for 
Lorig, the specified number of articles was found for each author. In Lorig's case, 
seven articles were found along with two replies. Since replies were not suppose 
to count as articles by their guidelines and since it was not clear which reply was 
apparently counted (in order for Heck and Bremser to credit Lorig with eight 
articles), only seven articles were used for Lorig in this study. Also, Heck and 
Bremser reported that there were 1,464 articles published in The Accounting 
Review during the 1946-1965 period. Thus, the Leading Authors accounted for 
approximately 13% of the articles. 

10All the data from the 1926-1945 period reported in this paper is from 
Fleming, Graci and Thompson [1990]. 
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Table 1 
Major Topic by Author 

Mary Murphy 3 9 12 
Harold Avery 5 1 5 11 
Harold Bierman 7 2 1 10 
William Campfield 1 9 10 
A. C. Littleton 5 2 1 1 1 10 
Kenneth Perry 1 6 1 2 10 
Sidney Simon 8 1 1 10 
Charles Horngren 8 1 9 
Robert Mautz 3 5 1 9 
Frank Singer 6 2 1 9 
Robert Van Voorhis 9 9 
Lawrence Benninger 3 5 8 
Williard Stone 1 4 2 1 8 
Norton Bedford 4 1 1 1 
Sidney Davidson 5 1 1 
George Husband 5 1 1 
Robert Jaedicke 2 5 
E. L. Kohler 3 1 2 1 
Arthur Lorig 2 1 1 2 1 
John Myers 4 1 2 
Ralph Snyder 7 
George Staubus 7 

Total 86 39 25 15 10 4 3 1 5 188 

Percent: 1946-1965 46% 21% 13% 8% 5% 2% 2% 1% 3% 100%* 

Percent: 1926-1945 67% 8% 6% 3% 0% 3% 2% 4% 100%* 

*does not add up to 100% because of rounding errors 

during 1946-1965 compared with the earlier period (21% vs. 8%) 
while being phased out of The Accounting Review in recent years.11 

Managerial accounting experienced an upward trend in interest 
over the years (from 6% to 13% to 17% while Sundem was Editor) 
but fell-off while Kinney was Editor (to 9%). Auditing articles, a 
significant proportion of articles in recent years (16% during 

11In 1983, the American Accounting Association started publishing a new 
journal, Issues in Accounting Education, for education articles. 
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Sundem's term and 26% during Kinney's term), were practically 
nonexistent among the Leading Authors during the first 40 years 
of The Accounting Review. The same can be said of tax articles, 
although the interest has not been as strong as auditing in recent 
years (6% for Sundem and 8% for Kinney). 

With respect to the relative number of articles published in 
the various categories, the 1946-1965 period plays a mixed role in 
the evolution of research published in The Accounting Review. The 
Leading Authors of 1946-1965 exhibited a similar level of interest 
to recent contributors in the financial accounting area. This level 
is lower than that of the 1926-1945 period, reflecting a greater 
diversity of interest in other topics in both the 1946-1965 period 
and recent years. In the managerial area, the Leading Authors of 
1946-1965 exhibited an intermediate level of interest between that 
of the Leading Authors of the 1926-1945 period and that of recent 
contributors. In this sense, the 1946-1965 period bridges the gap 
between the earlier period and recent years. However, in the tax 
and auditing areas, there is no evidence based on the work of the 
Leading Authors that suggests that the 1946-1965 period bridges 
the gap between the low level of interest of the earlier years and 
the relatively high level of interest in recent years. 

Research Methods 
The research methods used by the Leading Authors are classi-

fied in Table 2. The deductive method was used over 87% of the 
time. The second most popular method was analytical modeling 
which was employed about 4% of the time. Thus, research meth-
ods other than the deductive method were not widely employed by 
the Leading Authors. In fact, 12 of the 22 Leading Authors used 
only the deductive method. Moreover, except for Snyder,12 each of 
the Leading Authors used the deductive method more than any 
other method. 

These results are comparable to the first twenty years of The 
Accounting Review where the Leading Authors used the deductive 
method 84% of the time. Thus, 1926-1965 can be characterized as 
a period dominated by deductive methods. In contrast, recent con-
tributors to The Accounting Review generally use quantitative/em-
pirical research methods [Sundem, 1987; Kinney, 1990]. Accord-
ing to Bricker and Previts [1990], this change was due to such 

12Each of Snyder's papers, some quite sophisticated, were related to time 
value of money problems. 
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factors as the adoption by the AACSB in 1967 of the doctorate as 
the terminal degree for accounting faculty and recent promotion 
and tenure standards requiring research, including theoretical-em-
pirical studies. 

Nevertheless, there is a small but perceptible trend in the use 
of quantitative/empirical research methods from the 1926-1945 
period to the 1946-1965 period. There is a total of 20 (11%) ar-

Table 2 
Research Methodology 

Mary Murphy 10 2 12 
Harold Avery 9 1 1 11 
Harold Bierman 8 1 1 10 
William Campfield 10 10 
A. C. Littleton 8 2 10 
Kenneth Perry 10 10 
Sidney Simon 10 10 
Charles Horngren 9 9 
Robert Mautz 9 9 
Frank Singer 8 1 9 
Robert Van Voorhis 7 2 9 
Lawrence Benninger 8 8 
Williard Stone 6 2 8 
Norton Bedford 7 7 
Sidney Davidson 7 7 
George Husband 7 7 
Robert Jaedicke 4 2 1 7 
E. L. Kohler 7 7 
Arthur Lorig 7 7 
John Myers 7 7 
Ralph Snyder 7 7 
George Staubus 6 1 7 

Total 164 8 4 4 3 3 1 1 188 

Percent: 1946-1965 87% 4% 2% 2% 2% 2% 1% 1% 100%* 

Percent: 1926-1945 84% 1% 11% 1% 2% 0% 1% 0% 100% 

*does not add up to 100% because of rounding errors 

D
ed

uc
tiv

e 

A
na

ly
tic

al
 

M
od

el
in

g 

H
is

to
ric

al
 

Su
rv

ey
 

G
en

er
al

 
E

m
pi

rc
al

 

St
at

is
tic

al
 

M
od

el
in

g 

E
co

no
m

ic
 

M
od

el
in

g 

C
ap

ita
l 

M
ar

ke
t 

To
ta

l 

44

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



36 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

tides (seven of which were written by Snyder) in other than the 
deductive and historical categories during 1946-1965 while there 
are only eight (5%) such articles published by the Leading Authors 
during 1926-1945. Of the 20 articles in the 1946-1965 period, 15 
were published prior to 1960. Although it certainly could not ac-
count for the dramatic change in the literature, there is an insig-
nificant trend toward quantitative/empirical articles among the 
Leading Authors prior to the 1960s. 

Topics by Research Methods 
A cross-classification of topics and research methods is pre-

sented in Table 3. As in the 1926-1945 period, the deductive 
method is the dominant method on an overall basis as well as for 
each topic area. Moreover, it is the only method applied in the 
professional, tax, nonprofit/governmental, and auditing areas. 
Once again, these results are quite different from the work of 
current authors who usually use quantitative/empirical methods in 
each area [Sundem, 1987; Kinney, 1990]. Thus, it would be diffi-
cult to conclude that the 1946-1965 period played much of a direct 
evolutionary role in the use of empirical/quantitative research 
methods. 

Table 3 
Research Methodology by Major Topic 
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Financial 
Education 
Managerial 
Professional 
International 
Tax 
Nonprofit/ 
Governmental 
Auditing 
Other 

75 7 
34 
19 1 
15 
8 
4 

5 

3 

1 

1 

2 

2 1 
4 1 

3 1 

86 
39 
25 
15 
10 
4 

3 
1 
5 

Total 164 8 4 4 3 3 1 1 188 
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Financial Accounting Subtopics 
Table 4 provides a classification for the articles dealing with 

financial accounting. The classification scheme is based on the 
chapters in intermediate and advanced accounting textbooks, with 
similar chapters being combined (e.g., the two chapters on inven-
tories were combined into a single subtopic).13 The "other" cat-

Table 4 
Financial Accounting Subtopics by Author 

Mary Murphy 
Harold Avery 
Harold Bierman 
William Campfield 
A. C. Littleton 
Kenneth Perry 
Sidney Simon 
Charles Horngren 
Robert Mautz 
Frank Singer 
Robert Van Voorhis 
Lawrence Benninger 
Williard Stone 
Norton Bedford 
Sidney Davidson 
George Husband 
Robert Jaedicke 
E. L. Kohler 
Arthur Lorig 
John Myers 
Ralph Snyder 
George Staubus 

Total Articles 

Total Authors 

1 1 1 1 1 
2 1 1 2 1 

3 1 1 
1 

1 2 1 1 1 2 
1 1 2 1 2 1 
1 1 1 
3 2 1 

1 1 1 
1 

1 2 1 
1 1 2 1 

2 1 1 1 
1 1 

1 1 1 
1 1 

1 1 1 1 
7 

1 1 2 1 1 1 
14 9 8 8 8 7 7 7 6 3 2 7 

9 8 6 6 2 6 6 6 5 3 2 6 

13For definitiveness, Kieso and Weygandt's Intermediate Accounting [1989] 
and Baker, Lembke, and King's Advanced Accounting [1989] were used. 
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egory was used for subtopics which contained only a single article. 
Treating the chapter titles of the textbooks as general categories, 
all of the 86 articles related to either intermediate or advanced 
accounting, with all but six articles relating to intermediate. 

Environmental and concepts (i.e., the first two chapters in 
intermediate accounting) was the most popular subtopic with 14 
articles. The next most popular area was plant and equipment 
(including depreciation) with nine articles. Next came stockhold-
ers' equity, full disclosure, and long-term liabilities (including 
present value), each with eight articles. 

Many of these themes were also prevalent in the preceding 
twenty-year period. The three most popular financial accounting 
subtopics for the Leading Authors during 1926-1945 were environ-
ment and concepts, stockholders' equity, and plant and equip-
ment. Sundem [1987] reports that the three most popular finan-
cial accounting subtopics in recent submissions to The Accounting 
Review were inflation (i.e., changing prices), earnings prediction 
(i.e., financial statement analysis), and standard setting (i.e., envi-
ronment and concepts).14 

Interestingly, standard setting was popular in all three time 
periods while changing prices received significant attention as 
well. The big difference is the explicit interest in the use of finan-
cial information in recent years as evidenced by the popularity of 
earnings prediction. The classification scheme does not disclose 
that the 1946-1965 period played a significant role in this shift in 
emphasis.15 

It is also notable that there was a relative decline in interest in 
articles on environment and concepts, plant and equipment, and 
stockholders' equity. Less was written in these areas by the Lead-
ing Authors during 1946-1965 (31/86 or 36%) than in 1926-1945 

14Kinney [1990] did not classify financial accounting articles by specific top-
ics. 

15To be fair, there was a user-oriented theme in some of the articles during 
the 1946-1965 period. Several of Horngren's articles fall into this category. With 
respect to Horngren's articles, it should also be mentioned that it was somewhat 
difficult to classify them with respect to research method. Although he based at 
least part of his articles on surveys and interviews with financial statement users, 
detailed explicit results were not provided. The feedback he received was referred 
to in a general descriptive way. Thus, this work was classified as deductive. 
Presumably, if these papers were published today, the detailed results would be 
included. Perhaps the style of The Accounting Review dictated this method of 
reporting his findings. 
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(61/115 or 53%). This decline is understandable given the concern 
over standard setting, depreciation, and dividends during the 
1926-1945 period [Fleming, Graci and Thompson, 1990]. John 
Carey [1970, pp. 567-89] notes that with the number of stock mar-
ket participants rapidly expanding following World War II, the 
major issue in financial reporting became comparability of re-
ported earnings by different companies (i.e., uniformity). There 
was pressure from many quarters to reduce the number of report-
ing alternatives for specific items. Consistent with this, the Lead-
ing Authors apparently branched out, analyzed, and wrote about 
more financial accounting areas. That trend has continued in re-
cent years where the three most popular subtopics accounted for 
only 32% of the submissions in the financial accounting area 
[Sundem, 1987]. 

A CITATION ANALYSIS 
An obvious element of the Leading Authors' articles to investi-

gate is the references (i.e., citations). In recent years, there has 
been numerous applications of citation analysis in the accounting 
literature. These applications have: (a) explored the accounting 
discipline's knowledge system [McRae, 1974]; (b) quantified the 
impact of journals [Dyckman and Zeff, 1984; Brown and Gardner, 
1985a; Brown, Gardner and Vasarhelyi, 1987]; (c) determined sig-
nificant works [Brown and Gardner, 1985a; Gamble and 
O'Doherty, 1985a]; (d) ranked faculties and doctoral programs 
[Brown and Gardner, 1985b; Gamble and O'Doherty 1985a]; (e) 
investigated the role of historical articles in recent research 
[Bricker, 1988a and 1988b]; (f) identified seminal contributions to 
the literature [Gamble and O'Doherty, 1985b; Gamble, O'Doherty 
and Hyman, 1987]; and (g) inferred the structure of accounting 
research [Bricker, 1989]. Applications (a) through (e) used "single" 
citation methods while applications (f) and (g) also employed co-
citation methods. In short, numerous uses of citation analysis 
have been found using different methods. 

This study employs the "single" citation method to help deter-
mine influences on the Leading Authors. This method consists of 
counting references in articles (one or zero per article; it does not 
matter how many times a reference is cited within the same ar-
ticle) and tabulating the results. Journals, authors of articles, ar-
ticles, authors of books, and books are identified. Inferences are 
made based on the results in an attempt to better understand the 
development of accounting research. In addition, an association is 
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found between being an influential author as determined by cita-
tion analysis and being in the Accounting Hall of Fame. This find-
ing provides additional support for the validity of citation analysis. 
Nevertheless, citation analysis has limitations [Brown and 
Gardner, 1985a; Gamble and O'Doherty, 1985a], such as not tak-
ing into account the age of a reference; therefore caution is urged 
in interpreting the results. 

The following guidelines were employed in this study. To be 
counted, the citation for a journal article needed to at least include 
author, title, and journal. For a book to be counted, at least author 
and title had to be given. These minimum requirements provided 
consistency in the collection of the citations and enhanced objec-
tivity in the analysis (e.g., books could be readily distinguished 
from journal articles). Papers in proceedings were counted as jour-
nal articles and the proceedings were counted as a journal. Chap-
ters in books were counted as books. Self-citations were elimi-
nated to focus on which journals/authors had the greatest impact 
on the Leading Authors. No adjustments were made for co-
authored works (i.e., a co-author was given full credit in counts of 
authors). 

Table 5 summarizes the number of citations of articles and 
books for each of the Leading Authors and in total. The overall 
results are very similar to the 1926-1945 period in that there are 
relatively few references and books are referenced more often than 
articles. The average number of citations per article of 3.4 for this 
time period is only .2 higher than the average for the earlier 
twenty-year period. Since the average number of citations per 
books (2.0) is the same in both time periods, the small increase in 
citations is due to articles. For comparison, in a recent volume 
(LXIV or 1989) of The Accounting Review, articles averaged, with 
self-citations eliminated, 20.9 citations comprised of 16.65 average 
citations of journal articles and 4.25 average citations of books. 
The small increase in citations during 1946-1965 can hardly be 
considered a sufficient trend to account for the large number of 
citations used in articles today. 

At the individual author level, the Leading Authors during 
1946-1965 have a more even distribution of citations than their 
counterparts of the 1926-1945 era. Only three of 22 authors in the 
1946-1965 period averaged one or fewer references per article 
compared with 12 of 19 in the earlier period. Apparently, making 
references to other works was becoming a more typical writing 
technique, possibly reflecting that more of the Leading Authors 
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Table 5 
Citations of Articles and Books 

41 

Articles 
Articles Books & Books 

Total Avg. Total Avg. Total Avg. 

Mary Murphy 42 3.5 68 5.7 110 9.2 
Harold Avery 2 0.2 4 0.4 6 0.5 
Harold Bierman 12 1.2 9 0.9 21 2.1 
William Campfield 8 0.8 19 1.9 27 2.7 
A. C. Littleton 9 0.9 6 0.6 15 1.5 
Kenneth Perry 2 0.2 13 1.3 15 1.5 
Sidney Simon 27 2.7 52 5.2 79 7.9 
Charles Horngren 41 4.6 26 2.9 67 7.4 
Robert Mautz 4 0.4 10 1.1 14 1.6 
Frank Singer 10 1.1 29 3.2 39 4.3 
Robert Van Voorhis 5 0.6 8 0.9 13 1.4 
Lawrence Benninger 15 1.9 20 2.5 35 4.4 
Williard Stone 1 0.1 2 0.3 3 0.4 
Norton Bedford 21 3.0 41 5.9 62 8.9 
Sidney Davidson 13 1.9 26 3.7 39 5.6 
George Husband 9 1.3 7 1.0 16 2.3 
Robert Jaedicke 9 1.3 7 1.0 16 2.3 
E. L. Kohler 6 0.9 8 1.1 14 2.0 
Arthur Long 11 1.6 9 1.3 20 2.9 
John Myers 0 0.0 1 0.1 1 0.1 
Ralph Snyder 2 0.3 6 0.9 8 1.1 
George Staubus 12 1.7 14 2.0 26 3.7 

261 1.4 385 2.0 646 3.4 

had a Ph.D. (discussed subsequently) and were taught to seek out 
other relevant literature.16 As a consequence of a more even distri-
bution of references across authors, the results which follow re-
garding journals and authors are not dominated by the references 
of a relatively few authors as was the case in 1926-1945. 

16On the other hand, none of the Leading Authors of the 1946-1965 era made 
extensive use of references, each author averaging less than ten per article. This 
is in contrast with the earlier period in which both Henry Sweeny and Harry 
Kerrigan averaged more than ten references per article (21.4 and 11.6, respec-
tively). 
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Journals 
Table 6 shows the journals cited by the Leading Authors. By 

far, the most cited journal is The Accounting Review. The Journal 
of Accountancy is a distant second. Thus, The Accounting Review 
seems to have had the greatest impact on its Leading Authors 
during this era. This is in contrast with the 1926-1945 era in which 
the Journal of Accountancy was the most cited journal by the 
Leading Authors with The Accounting Review a close second. 
While this change does not necessarily reflect a change in practical 
orientation, it could reflect a change in the group of people influ-
encing the Leading Authors. To the extent that authorship of the 
cited works in The Accounting Review was becoming dominated 
by individuals with Ph.D.s17 and less practical experience (which 
is the case for the Leading Authors as discussed subsequently), 
this change may foreshadow the recent emphasis on quantitative/ 
empirical orientation of The Accounting Review as influential aca-
demics came to accept this type of research. 

Table 6 
Most Cited Journals 

Name of Journal Times Cited 
Accounting Review 107 
Journal of Accountancy 38 
Proceedings of the International Congress of Accountants 16 
Harvard Business Review 9 
Journal of Business 8 
NACA Bulletin 8 
Accounting Research 6 
Analysts Journal 6 
Accountant 4 
Accountants Digest 3 
Conference of the International Association 

for Research in Income and Wealth 3 
Internal Auditor 3 
Journal of Accounting Research 3 

11 journals (tie) 2 
25 journals (tie) 1 

17Based on a review of the Comprehensive Dissertation Index, 1861-1972 
[Xerox University Microfilms, 1973], approximately two-thirds of the articles 
cited were written by authors with a Ph.D. 
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Another interesting aspect of Table 6 is that most of the 13 
journals listed by name have an accounting orientation. The ex-
ceptions are Harvard Business Review, Journal of Business, Ana-
lysts Journal, and the proceedings from the Conference of the Inter-
national Association for Research in Income and Wealth. This is in 
contrast to the 1926-1945 era where there were several economic 
and legal journals on the list of the most cited journals. Thus, the 
Leading Authors were primarily relying on the accounting field's 
own literature during 1946-1965. On the other hand, in volume 
LXIV (1989) of The Accounting Review, only six of the most cited 
14 journals are accounting oriented.18 The others are from finance 
(3 journals), psychology (3), management (1), and economics (1). 
Thus, once again, authors published in The Accounting Review are 
being heavily influenced by other fields. It appears that research 
published in The Accounting Review has made a transition from 
initially relying on other fields (economics and law) in the 1926-
1945 period, to breaking away and establishing its own identity 
during 1946-1965, and then to borrowing from other disciplines 
(finance, psychology, management and, still, economics) in recent 
years. 

Two other comments are worth making. First, all of the cita-
tions to the Proceedings of the International Congress of Accoun-
tants were made by Mary Murphy. As shown in the topic classifi-
cation of the articles (Table 1), she was the leading author in the 
international area. Murphy earned her Ph.D. at the London School 
of Economics. In addition, based on her articles and "Association 
Notes" published in The Accounting Review, she often traveled 
abroad lecturing and attending various professional meetings.19 

Second, note the presence of the Journal of Accounting Re-
search near the bottom of the list. Since this journal did not start 
publication until 1963, it had comparatively few articles which 
could have been referenced by the Leading Authors. Thus, it 
would be inappropriate to conclude from Table 6 that the Journal 
of Accounting Research was not influential during its early years. 
During 1989, the Journal of Accounting Research was the most 
cited journal in The Accounting Review. 

18Since there was a tie for thirteenth place in the current list of journals, 14 
journals are discussed. 

19Mary Murphy is also listed in the first edition of Who's Who of American 
Women. 
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Authors 
Table 7 shows the most cited authors of articles.20 William A. 

Paton heads the list. His article, "Depreciation and the Price Level 
— Second Affirmative," published in The Accounting Review, was 
cited three times by the Leading Authors. No other article was 
cited three or more times by the Leading Authors. 

Table 7 
Most Cited Authors of Articles 

Name of Author Times Cited 
William A. Paton* 7 
Edward B. Wilcox 5 
Raymond J. Chambers* 4 
Carl T. Devine 4 
W. J. Graham 4 
George H. Sorter 4 
George J. Staubus 4 
William J. Vatter 4 
Hector R. Anton 3 
Robert L. Dixon 3 
James L. Dohr 3 
Howard C. Greer 3 
Charles T. Horngren* 3 
George R. Husband 3 
Jeremy C. Jenks 3 
Herbert E. Miller* 3 
Richard Stone 3 
Herbert F. Taggart 3 

30 authors 2 
153 authors 1 

* Member of the Accounting Hall of Fame 

Edward B. Wilcox's work was cited the second most by the 
Leading Authors. His most cited articles are "The Case Against 
Price Level Adjustments in Income Determination" (co-authored 
with Howard C. Greer) and "Accounting for Stock Dividends: A 
Dissent from Recommended Practice." Both of these appeared in 
the Journal of Accountancy and were each cited twice. Given the 

20Since there was little likelihood that authors cited by current authors would 
match any of those cited by the Leading Authors, a list of recently cited authors 
was not compiled. 
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lack of concentrated citations for given articles, it is fair to say that 
there were not very many specific articles with a great impact on 
the Leading Authors. The same holds true for the 1926-1945 pe-
riod. This is in contrast to current practice where specific articles 
have had a major impact on accounting literature (e.g., Ball and 
Brown [1968]). 

William A. Paton was also the most cited author of books as 
shown in Table 8. Eight different books written by Paton were 
cited by the Leading Authors. His most cited work was the classic 
he co-authored with A. C. Littleton, An Introduction to Corporate 
Accounting Standards. It was cited 12 times. No other work comes 
close in terms of number of citations by the Leading Authors. The 
next most cited works were cited only five times. These are The 
Fund Theory of Accounting and Its Implications for Financial Re-
ports, written by William J. Vatter, and The Economics of Accoun-

Table 8 
Most Cited Authors of Books 

Name of Author Times Cited 

William A. Paton* 25 
A. C. Littleton* 17 
Maurice Moonitz* 10 
Henry A. Finney* 9 
William J. Vatter 7 
George H. Newlove 6 
John B. Canning 5 
Carl T. Devine 5 
A. A. Fitzgerald 5 
Henry R. Hatfield* 5 
W. H. Bell 
F. Sewell Bray 
Victor Z. Brink 
J. M. Clark 
Stephen Gilman 
Eric L. Kohler* 
George O. May* 
John J. W. Neuner 
Robert T. Sprouse 
Charles E. Staehling 
Richard Stone 

8 authors 3 
47 authors 2 

231 authors 1 

* Member of the Accounting Hall of Fame 
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tancy, written by John B. Canning. Three works were cited four 
times each: A Tentative Set of Broad Accounting Principles for Busi-
ness Enterprises, written by Maurice Moonitz and Robert T. 
Sprouse; Principles of Accounting — Intermediate, written by 
Henry A. Finney (including one reference to a version co-authored 
by Herbert E. Miller); and Accounting Concepts of Profit, written 
by Stephen Gilman. 

It is interesting to examine the list, given in Table 9, of the 
most cited authors of both articles and books combined. Many of 
these authors are well known today. Note also that of the first 12 
authors listed, half of them are in the Accounting Hall of Fame 
[Burns, 1987; The Ohio State University, 1991], including the first 
three.21 A similar phenomenon was observed in the 1926-1945 pe-
riod where five of the first eight most cited authors were members 
of the Accounting Hall of Fame. Thus, citation analysis is consis-
tent to some degree with the assessments made by the Hall of 
Fame Board of Nominations in their evaluation of contributions 
to the accounting literature (other criteria are involved in selec-
tions to the Hall of Fame such as professional and public service 
[Burns, 1975]). This is in no way meant to imply that the Hall of 
Fame Board of Nominations does or should use citation analysis 
in their assessments. Rather, it supports the validity of citation 
analysis in identifying influential authors. It is already known that 
in other fields there is a relationship between citations and mea-
sures of quality such as Noble prizes [Garfield, 1979, pp. 62-70]). 

Several of the authors cited in Table 9 also appear on the 
comparable list for the 1926-1945 time period. These are Paton, 
Littleton, May, Hatfield, and Montgomery. Thus, these five influ-
enced the Leading Authors of The Accounting Review for 40 years. 
All of them have been inducted into the Accounting Hall of Fame. 
Paton's record is especially impressive. Not only does he appear on 
both lists, but he is first in the 1946-1965 period and second only 
to Irving Fisher in the 1926-1945 time period. 

21Despite the fact that the first four authors of the most cited books (Table 8) 
have been inducted into the Accounting Hall of Fame, overall there appears to be 
a slightly stronger association between the combined list of books and articles 
(Table 9) and the Accounting Hall of Fame. The same can be said from the lists 
for the 1926-1945 period. Interestingly, citation analysis studies sometimes focus 
on articles only. The results presented here suggest that it may be worthwhile to 
include books when compiling lists of influential authors, schools, doctoral pro-
grams, etc. 
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Table 9 
Most Cited Authors of Articles and Books 

47 

Name of Author Times Cited 

William A. Paton* 32 
A. C. Littleton* 19 
Maurice Moonitz* 12 
William J. Vatter 11 
Carl T. Devine 9 
Henry A. Finney* 9 
Richard Stone 7 
F. Sewell Bray 6 
George A. May* 6 
Herbert E. Miller* 6 
George H. Newlove 6 
Robert T. Sprouse 6 
Victor Z. Brink 5 
John B. Canning 5 
Raymond J. Chambers* 5 
J. M. Clark 5 
A. A. Fitzgerald 5 
Henry R. Hatfield* 5 
Eric L. Kohler* 5 
Robert H. Montgomery* 5 
George H. Sorter 5 
Edward B. Wilcox 5 

10 authors 4 
25 authors 3 
64 authors 2 

351 authors 1 

*Member of the Accounting Hall of Fame 

ARTICLE LENGTH 

Another aspect of the articles is their length. Overall, the aver-
age length for the Leading Authors during 1946-1965 was 6.5 
pages.22 Staubus tended to write the longest articles with an aver-
age length of 9.9 pages while Perry tended to write the shortest 
articles with an average length of 4.1 pages. Remarkably, all of the 
Leading Authors during this time period averaged less than ten 
pages per article. This is in contrast to the first twenty years of The 

22There was not an obvious change in the typeset of The Accounting Review 
during 1946-1965. The obvious change during the 1926-1945 period was taken 
into account. 
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Accounting Review when eight of the 19 Leading Authors averaged 
ten or more pages per article with an overall average of 8.6 pages. 

Much of the decline in the length of articles can be attributed 
to "The Teachers' Clinic" which began as a subsection of The Ac-
counting Review in the July, 1947 issue. The Leading Authors of 
1946-1965 published 35 articles in this subsection with an average 
length of only 3.6 pages. The average length of the Leading Au-
thors' articles appearing in the other sections of The Accounting 
Review was 7.2 pages. This is more similar to the work of the 
Leading Authors of 1926-1945 than to the work of current authors 
who averaged 18.3 pages in volume LXIV (1989) of The Account-
ing Review. 

SOME BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION 
To this point the more obvious elements of articles, topic, 

research method, references, and length, have been considered. 
However, there is another critical element — the authors them-
selves. Some background on the authors is considered with the 
purpose of gathering additional information on how The Account-
ing Review changed over time. 

The doctoral education and the primary affiliations of the 
Leading Authors are reported in Table 10. The Ph.D. information 
was obtained from the Comprehensive Dissertation Index, 1861-
1972 [Xerox University Microfilms, 1973] while the primary affili-
ation information was obtained from The Accounting Review.23 As 
such, the primary affiliation information, given in chronological 
order, spans the time that an author was actively publishing in The 
Accounting Review during the 1946-1965 period.24 

All but two of the Leading Authors earned a Ph.D. The only 
exceptions are Kohler (a Leading Author of 1926-1945) and 

23Mary Murphy was not listed in the Comprehensive Dissertation Index, 1861-
1973 [Xerox University Microfilms, 1973] since it covers only American schools. 
However, Professor Gary Jorden, at California State University at Los Angeles 
(her old school), graciously supplied the name of her doctoral granting institu-
tion. The Accounting Faculty Directory 1987 [Hasselback, 1987] shows her as 
having earned a Ph.D. in 1938. 

24Since the primary affiliations are in chronological order, the University of 
Chicago is listed twice for Charles Horngren. After earning his Ph.D. from Chi-
cago in 1955, Horngren taught at Marquette University, then at University of 
Wisconsin-Milwaukee, and returned to the University of Chicago in 1959 [Burns, 
1990]. Marquette University is not listed in Table 10 because Horngren did not 
publish an article in The Accounting Review while there (the primary affiliations 
in Table 10 are taken from articles published in The Accounting Review). 
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Table 10 
Doctoral Programs and Primary Affiliations 

Ph.D. Primary 
Author (School-Year) Affiliations 

Mary Murphy London School of Hunter College; 
Economics — 1938 Los Angeles State College 

Harold Avery Columbia U. — 1941 Bradley Polytechnic 
Institute; 

Union College 
Harold Bierman U. of Michigan — 1955 U. of Chicago; Cornell U. 
William Campfield U. of Illinois— 1951 U. of San Francisco; 

Army Audit Agency 
A. C. Littleton U. of Illinois— 1931 U. of Illinois 
Kenneth Perry U. of Illinois—1953 U. of Illinois 
Sidney Simon New York U. — 1950 Rutgers U. 
Charles Horngren U. of Chicago—1955 U. of Chicago; 

U. of Wisconsin-
Milwaukee; 

U. of Chicago 
Robert Mautz U. of Illinois —1942 Alexander Grant & Co.; 

U. of Illinois 
Frank Singer Indiana U. — 1955 U. of Massachusetts 
Robert Van Voorhis Duke U. — 1944 U. of Alabama; 

Louisiana State U. 
Lawrence Benninger U. of Missouri — 1949 Bowling Green State U.; 

U. of Missouri; 
U. of Alabama; 
U. of Florida 

Williard Stone U. of Pennsylvania — 1957 U. of Pennsylvania; 
U. of Florida 

Norton Bedford Ohio State U. — 1951 Washington U.; 
U. of Illinois 

Sidney Davidson U. of Michigan—1952 Johns Hopkins; 
U. of Chicago 

George Husband U. of Michigan — 1932 Wayne U. 
Robert Jaedicke U. of Minnesota — 1957 Harvard U.; Stanford U. 
E. H. Kohler None Consulting Accountant, 

Chicago 
Arthur Long U. of Chicago — 1936 U. of Washington 
John Myers Northwestern U. — 1943 Northwestern U. 
Ralph Snyder None Geo. S. Olive & Co. 
George Staubus U. of Chicago — 1954 U. of Chicago; 

U. of California, 
Berkeley 
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Snyder. This is a dramatic change from the first twenty years of 
The Accounting Review when only 11 of the 19 Leading Authors 
had earned a Ph.D.25 Similarly, there was a trend toward academe 
and away from practice with respect to the primary affiliations of 
the authors. Table 10 shows that only four of 22 authors (18%) 
held positions outside the academe while publishing in The Ac-
counting Review. During the 1926-1945 period five of 19 authors 
(26%) held positions outside of academe while publishing in The 
Accounting Review. In addition, based on "University Notes" and 
"Association Notes" published in The Accounting Review, four 
other early authors held significant nonacademic positions. Thus, 
nine of 19 authors (47%) during 1926-1945 had significant practi-
cal experience while publishing in The Accounting Review. A simi-
lar review for the 1946-1965 period did not disclose significant 
practical positions for any of the Leading Authors at the time that 
they were holding a university appointment.26 Thus, 1946-1965 
appears to be the period in which the authorship of The Account-
ing Review was changing toward the current, almost exclusive, 
Ph.D.-university affiliated authorship. 

Two of the Leading Authors during 1946-1965 served as Edi-
tor of The Accounting Review. Littleton was Editor from 1944-1947 
while Mautz was Editor from 1960-1962. What is notable about 
this is that Littleton was also a Leading Author of The Accounting 
Review during 1926-1945 when a practical orientation dominated 
the journal. Mautz, although not a Leading Author in the earlier 
time period, had practical experience with Alexander Grant & Co. 
Thus, one would expect that these individuals would tend to ac-

25Fleming, Graci and Thompson [1990] reported that ten of the Leading 
Authors from 1926-1945 had earned a Ph.D. However, in private correspondence 
Professor Gary Previts was kind enough to point out that DR Scott also earned a 
Ph.D. Although DR Scott is not listed in the Comprehensive Dissertation Index 
(the source used by Fleming, Graci and Thompson), with the help of Professor 
Emeritus Joseph Silvoso at the University of Missouri (DR Scott's old school) and 
an archives librarian at Harvard University, it was confirmed that DR Scott had, 
in fact, earned a Ph.D. from Harvard in 1930. 

26This does not imply that the Leading Authors of 1946-1965 were without 
any practical experience. For example, Davidson served as a consultant to the 
Maryland Commission on Revision of Public Service Commission Law, Staubus 
took a leave of absence as a faculty resident with Arthur Andersen & Co., and 
Van Voorhis was Chief Cost Accountant for the Woodlands Department of West 
Virginia Pulp and Paper Company prior to joining the faculty at the University of 
Alabama. (This biographical information, as well as that regarding other authors 
noted elsewhere, is based on "University Notes" and "Association Notes" pub-
lished in The Accounting Review unless stated otherwise). 
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cept practically oriented papers for publication. The same can be 
said of Frank Smith, a Leading Author during 1926-1945, who 
served as Editor from 1950-1959. Since these three individuals 
account for most of the editorial duties of The Accounting Review 
from 1946-1965,27 their views likely played a large role in the ori-
entation of The Accounting Review during the period. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUDING REMARKS 
There is no simple answer about the role that the period 1946-

1965 played in the evolution of accounting research as published 
in The Accounting Review. In some ways, it was an extension of 
the 1926-1945 period; in others, it was a transitional state leading 
up to the mid-1960s and beyond. In terms of the articles of the 
Leading Authors, it was an extension with regard to: (a) the con-
tinued, although somewhat diminished, interest in financial ac-
counting; (b) the lack of interest in auditing and tax articles; (c) 
the primary reliance upon deductive type research methods; (d) 
the continued, though somewhat diminished, interest in specific 
financial accounting subtopics; (e) the relatively small number of 
references, with books being cited more frequently than journal 
articles; and (f) the brevity of the articles. 

On the other hand, the articles changed in regard to: (a) 
greater diversity in topics, especially educational and managerial 
ones; (b) greater diversity in financial accounting subtopics; (c) the 
number of references to accounting journals rather than to jour-
nals from other disciplines; and (d) the large number of references 
to The Accounting Review. In addition, the authorship changed. 
The Leading Authors of 1946-1965 tended to have more formal 
education and less practical experience than their counterparts of 
1926-1945. 

Thus, The Accounting Review, while exhibiting many of the 
same characteristics of the 1926-1945 period, was changing during 
the 1946-1965 period. It was not simply an extension of the earlier 

27The three other Editors during the period were Robert Dixon (1948-1949), 
Lawrence Vance (1963-1964) and Wendell Trumbull (1965-1967). Each of them 
earned Ph.D.s and were affiliated with universities while they published in The 
Accounting Review and served as Editor. Yet, they may have had a practical 
orientation as well. For instance, Vance worked for Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & 
Co. for seven years prior to joining the faculty at the University of California at 
Berkeley. The three Editors during 1926-1945, Paton, Kohler and Littleton, were 
each Leading Authors during that period. 

60

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



52 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

period. In particular, as is currently the case with recent contribu-
tions to The Accounting Review, there was greater diversity of top-
ics during 1946-1965 than 1926-1945. Similarly, the changing au-
thorship of the Leading Authors toward those with Ph.D.s and 
university affiliations is indicative of recent contributors to The 
Accounting Review. In these ways the 1946-1965 period served to 
bridge the gap between the earlier period and today. However, 
with respect to research methods, number of citations and length 
of articles, the 1946-1965 period cannot account for the transition 
to the current quantitative/empirical orientation of The Accounting 
Review. 
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LITERATURE 

Abstract: Little or nothing is said of empiricism in U.S. accounting 
literature during the first half of the twentieth century in accounting 
history literature. The objectives of this study are threefold: (1) to 
determine if an empirical accounting literature existed prior to 1950; 
(2) to determine if pre-1950 empiricism was extensive enough and 
substantive enough to have influenced the development of accounting 
thought; and (3) to compare pre-1950 empirical work with contempo-
rary academic research. It is concluded that empirics were common 
prior to 1950 from examining a sample (approximately forty percent) 
of volumes (clusters) of The Accounting Review, The Journal of Ac-
countancy, Michigan Business Review, The American Accountant and 
the N.A.C.A. Bulletin. One hundred eighteen articles and eleven books 
and monographs are classified as "empirical" in this study. 

A sample was drawn from the books and monographs and classi-
fied using several recently developed taxonomies of accounting litera-
ture. This sample included works in several accounting specializations 
and also included works by both academic and non-academic authors 
from all of the journals. The empirics found in most of the studies 
were essential to the studies and not peripheral. However, inferential 
statistics were rarely used and the designs of the studies were very 
primitive. The sample yielded no evidence of a transition to a contem-
porary hypothetico-deductive paradigm. While not common, there 
were attempts at "positivism." However, the authors of most financial 
accounting studies were concerned with normative theory. Empiri-
cism was extensive enough and substantive enough to have had con-
siderable influence on normative theorists and the development of the 
accounting literature of the period. 
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Most students of accounting research have some familiarity 
with the normative, non-empirical work of American accounting 
authors of the first half of the twentieth century. Paton, Littleton, 
Sweeney, and others are well known. However, little is known 
about the empirical literature of the period. Consider, for example, 
when Ball [1971] reported the bibliography of empirical work in 
accounting prepared at the University of Chicago, the bibliography 
contained only twelve entries dated prior to 1950. Even though 
most accounting historians recognize that Ball's list is far from 
being complete, early empiricism has been ignored in accounting 
history literature. There seems to be no substantive discussion or 
investigation of the contribution of empiricism to the development 
of accounting thought in the United States. Thus, it is risky to 
make general statements as to the extent of early empiricism, the 
types of literature that utilized real data, or the relationship of the 
early literature to the contemporary empiricism that dominates 
modern academic accounting literature. This lack of knowledge 
about early empiricism provides unnecessary bounds on theories 
of the development of accounting thought. 

This paper partially fills this void in accounting history litera-
ture by providing an exploratory examination of the nature of pre-
1950 empiricism. This is accomplished by identifying and review-
ing a sample of the empirical accounting literature published in 
the United States prior to 1950. Also, some characteristics of pre -
1950 empiricism are compared with contemporary academic re-
search. The objectives of this exercise are to provide evidence of 
the role of empiricism in the early literature and of the relation-
ship of the early work to contemporary academic accounting lit-
erature. The relationship is examined by classifying the sample 
according to several taxonomies applied to accounting literature. 
The taxonomies are Brown and Vasarhelyi's [1985] Mode of Rea-
soning, Research Method, and School of Thought taxonomies; 
Vasarhelyi, et al. [1988] Foundation Discipline, Accounting Area, 
and Information Sources taxonomies; Watts and Zimmerman's 
[1986] four-class taxonomy of the transition of accounting re-
search; and Antil's [1989] two-class transition taxonomy. Brown, 
Gardner, and Vasarhelyi [1987] also use the Research Method and 
Foundation Discipline taxonomies. 

Several other taxonomies of the development of accounting 
thought are found in the literature. In this research project, the 
authors would have liked to compare the sample with classifica-
tions suggested in these taxonomies. Unfortunately, the classifica-
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tions are not compatible with the data obtained from the study. 
Furthermore the sample size of observations related to the taxons 
within a taxonomy is too small to be useful. For example, the 
sample of theory-based financial accounting studies used here is 
too small to support an evaluation of Flamholtz's [1977] pre-1950 
classifications and the data are not related to Previts and Merino's 
[1979] discussions of pre-1950 accounting literature. 

The sections describing the classifications of the sample are 
followed by an overview of the role of empiricism in pre-1950 
accounting literature. The paper then speculates on some of the 
determinants of the development of accounting literature in the 
section preceding the "Summary." 

A much more extensive and varied literature than anticipated 
was discovered in the process of selecting the sample upon which 
this paper is based. Work falling within this study's definition of 
empiricism was common and related to almost all areas of ac-
counting. Early empiricism performed an information function 
and was extensive and substantive enough to have provided a ba-
sis for induction for much of the normative theory of the time. 
However, no beginning of the contemporary hypothetico-deduc-
tive academic accounting literature was observed. 

Comparison of the sample used in this research with contem-
porary literature suggests several variables that might affect the 
development of accounting literature. Data processing technology, 
the academic environment, the state of the art of other academic 
disciplines, the background and training of accounting authors, 
and the institutional environment of accounting are thought to be 
determinants of the form and content of accounting literature that 
might explain, at least partially, the differences between the 
sampled research and contemporary academic accounting litera-
ture. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION OF "EMPIRICAL" 
In this paper, "empiricism" is examined in the context that the 

typical contemporary academic accountant might use the word. 
There is no intent here to consider or confront any formal philo-
sophical concepts of empiricism. Most of the pre-1950 works in-
cluded in Ball's index included some sort of tabulated real data or 
reported summary statistics extracted from studies; however, the 
Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines "empirical" more generally as 
"depending or based on experience or observation." Ball's defini-
tion, suggested by the absence of case studies and similar descrip-
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tive work, is unacceptably narrow. Yet the substantive definition 
provided by the dictionary is too broad to provide the bounds of 
what is normally considered empiricism by contemporary re-
searchers. Therefore, for purposes of this paper, empirical re-
search is operationally interpreted to include any work that uses, 
identifies, and reports observations of real events. Both descriptive 
studies and inferential studies properly fall within this definition. 

The primary variation of the work identified by this study as 
empirical from those works listed by Ball is the admission of case 
studies. The absence of case studies from Ball's list may be inten-
tional in that he does not consider case studies as empiricism or, 
given the incompleteness of his list, the absence of case studies 
may be coincidence. Both explanations are plausible. In this pa-
per, the authors take the position that case studies are properly 
classified as empirical. The authors of this paper refer to Brown, et 
al. [1987] and Vasarhelyi, et al. [1988] for support for this position. 
Both sets of these researchers include the taxon, "Empirical-Case," 
in their "Research Method." 

Judgment was necessary in classifying many articles as "em-
pirical" or "non-empirical" even with our operational definition. 
An example of this type of article that was excluded, but might be 
classified as "empirical" is Bowles' [1933] discussion of trends in 
statement presentation of "non-current gains and losses" and the 
proper treatment of these items. Another example is Danford's 
[1931] description of variance analysis at ARMCO. Bias in the 
identification of sampling units is towards omitting appropriate 
observations rather than the converse. 

THE SAMPLE 
The publications examined are the twelve listed by Ball plus 

twenty-seven randomly selected publications. The theoretical 
population of interest is work coming within the operational defi-
nition of empiricism that was published in the United States prior 
to 1950. The only available list of such published empirical work is 
Ball's "Index of Empirical Work in Accounting." Recognition that 
this list is incomplete provided the original stimulus for this study. 
The original intention of the authors was to complete the list and 
review the identified work. It quickly became obvious that the 
quantity of early empiricism is much more extensive than had 
been anticipated. Completing the list and reviewing all entries 
would be much too costly since the text of each candidate for the 
empirical classification had to be examined and, if the taxonomies 
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were to be utilized, perforai a content analysis of each of the 
works. Thus, sampling was used in order to maximize the descrip-
tive power of this study. 

The frame (operationally defined population) from which the 
sample is drawn is pre-1950 issues of The Accounting Review, 
Journal of Accountancy, The American Accountant, N.A.C.A. Bulle-
tin, and Michigan Business Studies. A two-stage sampling plan 
with cluster sampling comprising the first stage is the standard 
approach when there is no existing list of elements within the 
frame.1 Bound volumes of the journals making up the frame pro-
vide natural clusters, thus the articles and literature reviews were 
examined in randomly selected pre-1950 volumes of the journals 
making up the frame for accounting publications coming within 
the definition of empiricism. When a published work not pub-
lished in one of the five journals, but reviewed in one of the vol-
umes selected, appeared to be a likely empirical work the authors 
of this study obtained a copy of the work and examined it for 
possible classification as "empirical." 

The clusters (volumes) amounted to about forty percent of the 
total pre-1950 volumes of the series examined. One hundred eigh-
teen articles and eleven books or monographs have been identified 
from the clusters as being eligible for inclusion in the sample.2 The 
primary purpose in selecting clusters was to identify possible sam-
pling units at reasonable cost without disturbing probability rela-
tionships. Once the partial list was complete, twenty-seven works 
were randomly selected from the list of articles and books. Appen-
dix I is a chronological, annotated bibliography of the thirty-nine 
works (the twelve listed by Ball plus the twenty-seven randomly 
selected works) included in the study. A potential bias is intro-
duced into the sample with the inclusion of the twelve entries 
from Ball's bibliography. These twelve entries were included on 
the contingency that they might, somehow, be significantly differ-
ent from the randomly selected entries. Inspection of the two 
classes of works reveals no discernible differences except for the 
absence of case studies in Ball's bibliography; therefore, no formal 
analysis is performed or reported. Other than the potential sam-

1For a classical treatise on sampling theory and the design of sampling plans, 
see Cochran [1977]. For a less technical, but useful and practical guide for de-
signing sampling plans, see Schaeffer, Mendenhall and Ott [1986]. 

2The list of pre-1950 publications identified as "empirical" is available from 
the authors upon request. 

67

et al.: Accounting Historians Journal, 1991, Vol. 18, no. 2

Published by eGrove, 1991



60 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

pling bias just described, the authors are not aware of any risk or 
bias other than those normally associated with sampling. 

The sample selection process reveals a much more extensive 
and varied literature than anticipated. There is a much larger 
number of sources that report actual observations than is implied 
by accounting history literature. This early empirical literature 
provided inductive possibilities for the normative theorists of the 
period. The research design used here does not, however, provide 
any evidence of specific use of reported empirics in inducing nor-
mative positions. To gain such insight, the authors would have to 
review the early literature on the particular problem and place the 
empirical work in the temporal context of that literature to pro-
vide evidence of the contribution of the empirical work to the 
normative theory. This is beyond the scope of this study. However, 
this study does indicate some possibilities for such future re-
search. 

Another interesting question arises concerning trends in 
methodology and other taxons. Again, the research design does 
not permit any useful conjecture about trends. To do so would 
require stratifying the sample by period and drawing a much 
larger sample. Enough is learned in this study, however, to permit 
an interested researcher to design a study within reasonable cost 
constraints to search for trends in methodology or other charac-
teristics. 

THE VASARHELYI, BAO AND BECK TAXONOMIES 
Accounting Area 

Table 1 describes the sample by number of works in each 
accounting area in each journal. The classification by accounting 
area provides the first application of one of the literature taxono-
mies. Table 1 contains a modified version of Vasarhelyi, et al. 
Accounting Area taxonomy. The literature sample classified by 
Vasarhelyi, et al. was selected so that education and professional 
development articles were a null set, thus there was no need for 
that particular taxon. Yet the sample used here suggests that edu-
cation and professional development articles represented a sub-
stantial portion (20% of the sample) of early empiricism, so an 
Education and Professional Development taxon was added. 

Vasarhelyi, et al. do not provide any statistics describing their 
sample by accounting area so no comparisons are made with con-
temporary literature, but two interesting characteristics are sug-
gested by the classification of the sample. First, real data were 
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used by authors of articles in almost all accounting areas. Second, 
there was a large proportion of articles on non-accounting prob-
lems in the accounting literature. The subjects of four of the ar-
ticles in the "other" classification are management topics, one is 
on proper organization of natural monopolies, one was a call for 
regulation of public holding companies, and the only accounting 
article in the "other" classification deals with governmental ac-
counting. Thus six (15% of the total sample or 23% of the sample 
drawn from accounting journals) of the seven articles in the 
"other" classification have "non-accounting" subjects. 

Research Method 
Classification of the primary research method for the publica-

tions is reported in Table 2. Four of the eight "Archival-Primary" 
classifications used financial statements as the primary informa-
tion source and the other article derived descriptive statistics from 
university catalogues. The works in the "Archival-Secondary" 
taxon were either normative arguments that abstracted data from 
other publications to support a position or reviews of studies that 
were based on descriptive studies. 

Vasarhelyi, et al. [1988, p. 57] indicate that the three main 
Research Method taxons for contemporary academic research are 
Analytical-Internal Logic (51%), Archival-Primary (22%), and Em-
pirical-Laboratory (10%). The sample definition used here restricts 
the sample to works that report real observations and thus limits 
comparability with Vasarhelyi, et al..; particularly since the defini-
tion eliminates most studies where internal logic was the primary 
research method. Yet, if the differences in the sample definition is 
recognized, comparing the two samples provides evidence of the 
differences between contemporary and early empiricism. 

There are several striking differences in the two samples. 
"Analytical-Simulation," a taxon that accounted for sixty-four 
studies in the Vasarhelyi, et al. study is, of course, a research 
approach only feasible after the advent of computers, thus we 
would not expect our sample to contain any works using this ap-
proach even if such studies came within our definition of "empiri-
cal." There are no "Empirical-Laboratory" studies in this sample, 
yet this taxon contained ten percent of the Vasarhelyi, et al. 
sample. Other notable differences are the "Archival-Secondary," 
"Empirical-Case," and "Opinion-Survey" taxons. Several of the 
sampled works are classified as "Archival-Secondary" were review 
articles that abstracted data from other publications and three of 

70

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



Buckmaster and Theang: Exploratory Study of Early Empiricism 63 

Table 2 
Classification by Research Method 

Modern 
Academic 

Taxonomy Sample of Early Work 
Empiricism Reported 

by 
Vasarhelyi, 
et al. 

Number 
of Works 

% of 
Works % of Works 

Analytical-internal logic -0- -0-% 51% 
Archival-primary 8 21% 22% 
Archival-secondary 8 21% not reported 
Empirical-Case 6 15% not reported 
Empirical-field 2 5% not reported 
Empirical-laboratory -0- -0-% 10% 
Opinion-survey 9 23% not reported 
Mixed 6 15% 

39 100% 

Classification of Mixed Research Methods — Early Empiricism 

Number 
of Works 

Internal Logic and Archived-primary 3 
Interned Logic and Opinion-survey 2 
Archival-primary and Opinion-survey 1 

Total 6 

the articles were no more than abstracts of academic studies pub-
lished in non-academic journals. Review articles are still common 
in academic literature, but the abstract-type articles are not. Elimi-
nation of the abstract-type articles makes the early and contempo-
rary proportions of "Archival-Secondary" more comparable. The 
greater frequency of "Empirical-Case" and "Opinion-Survey" ar-
ticles in this sample may be accounted for by the greater participa-
tion of "non-academic" authors in the sample of early empiricism 
and by the contempt of contemporary editors of academic jour-
nals and dissertation chairmen for these research methods. 

Table 3 describes the professional affiliation of authors in 
each of the journals. The journals in the sample cannot be classi-
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fied as academic and non-academic if the criterion is the profes-
sional affiliation of the authors. The professional affiliation of au-
thors in The Accounting Review, The American Accountant, and the 
Journal of Accountancy is similar. Although we provide no com-
parative statistics, few will dispute that the appearance of a non-
academic author in a contemporary issue of The Accounting Re-
view is indeed a rarity. Those non-academic authors publishing in 
The Accounting Review and other accounting journals of the pre-
1950 period wrote about things they knew — the operations and 
methods of firms with which they were associated. 

The presence of non-academic authors in the journal articles 
sampled in this study, partially accounts for the greater proportion 
of case studies in the sample, but the question of most significance 
in explaining the development of academic literature is why non-
academic authors were present in academic journals then and not 
now. Of course, non-academics were as competent with the domi-
nant methodology as academics in the early period and probably 
had more access to data. On the other hand, few non-academics 
have the research capabilities required to put together a paper for 
a contemporary academic journal. However, the authors of this 
paper propose the hypothesis that increased competition for jour-
nal space by academics would create an effective barrier to would-
be non-academic authors even if they had the requisite research 
skills. In general, the divergence of the academic and practice cul-
tures over the years has resulted in the disappearance of common 
goals. Also, what is currently considered empirical accounting re-
search lies outside the domain of accounting practice. Nissley's 
[1929] article on the Bureau of Placements is interesting within 
the context of the recent Bricker and Previts [1990] article on the 
current practitioner/academic schism. Bricker and Previts identify 
an earlier schism partly precipitated by the Bureau of Placements' 
concentrating primarily on liberal arts colleges that did not have 
accounting curricula. Nissley's article is an obvious attempt to pla-
cate academics. 

School of Thought 
The classification of the sample using the "School of 

Thought" taxonomy produced twenty-three observations in the 
"Accounting Theory" taxon and one in the "Institutional." The 
"other" taxon contains fifteen observations despite very liberal in-
terpretation of the content of the "Accounting Theory" taxon. The 
authors of this paper interpreted the Accounting Theory taxon to 
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include works that had some connection with financial accounting 
theory, managerial accounting theory, and auditing theory. 

Taxon 

Table 4 
School of Thought 

Sample of 
Early Empiricism 

Modern 
Academic 

Reported by 
Vasarhelyi, 

et al. 

Number 
of Works Percentage Percentage 

Behavioral (All Taxons) -0- -0-% 18% 
Statistical Modeling 
(All Taxons) -0- -0-% 37% 
Accounting Theory 23 56% 27% 
Accounting History -0- -0-% 3% 
Institutional 1 3% 9% 
Other 15 41% 6% 

Total 39 100% 100% 

Composition of the "Other" Taxon — Sample of Early Empiricism 

Institutional (but not accounting or accounting 
regulatory institutions) 

Management 
Professional Development and Education 

Number 
of Works 

3 
6 
6 

Total 15 

Explanations for the differences for some of the taxons ap-
pear obvious. Most of the behavioral statistical modeling tech-
niques were not developed or were developed late in the period 
from which the "Early Empiricism" sample was drawn. 
Vasarhelyi, et al define the "Institutional" taxon narrowly in that it 
applies primarily to accounting regulatory agency literature and 
there were fewer accounting regulatory agencies and the primary 
accounting regulatory groups currently existing did not exist dur-
ing the first twenty-seven years of the forty-three year period from 
which the sample was drawn. Education articles are outside the 
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bounds of Vasarhelyi, et al. operational definition of their sample. 
The frame for their sample was articles in the main sections of The 
Accounting Review, The Journal of Accounting Research, Account-
ing, Organizations, and Society, Journal of Accounting and Eco-
nomics, and Auditing: A Journal of Theory and Practice for the 
period 1963 through 1984. The Accounting Review had moved edu-
cation articles to the "Education" section by 1963 and the other 
journals have specific missions that exclude education. 

All of the early accounting history articles which the research-
ers reviewed used a narrative style without use of statistical data. 
Thus, the absence of "history" from our sample is expected. Also, 
there could be a body of non-empirical accounting literature pub-
lished prior to 1950 that deals with the Committee on Accounting 
Procedure and the SEC, thus properly classifiable as "Institu-
tional" in the "School of Thought" taxonomy. 

There is no assurance that accounting researchers would 
have used the approaches indicated by the "Behavioral" and 
"Statistical Modeling" taxons even if the methods had existed 
prior to 1950. The basic methods of classical statistical infer-
ence had been or were developed in the early twentieth century. 
Yet none of the authors in the sample reported testing for statis-
tical significance even though it would have been appropriate in 
several of the studies. Two of the more obvious explanations for 
the absence of the use of inferential statistics for theoretical 
predictions are that accountants (academic and practicing) were 
not trained in classical statistics and editors avoided reporting 
statistical tests of predictions. Both explanations probably fre-
quently operated jointly. 

Mode of Reasoning 

Table 5 reports the application of the "Mode of Reasoning" 
taxonomy to our sample and the corresponding percentages for 
the Vasarhelyi, et al. sample where such percentages have been 
reported. The "Mixed" taxon was, of course, used when two 
"modes" were considered of approximately equal importance for 
the publication. 

The presentation of data in accounting literature prior to 1950 
was generally for one of two reasons. The most common reason 
was to describe the accounting treatment of some element of fi-
nancial statements. The next most common reason was to provide 
descriptive statistics to support a theoretical position. Yet even 
those works that were primarily presentations of descriptive statis-
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Taxon 

Table 5 
Mode of Reasoning 

Sample of 
Early Empiricism 

Modern 
Academic 

Reported by 
Vasarhelyi, 

et al. 

Number 
of Works Percentage Percentage 

Descriptive Statistics 15 38% 11% 
Correlation 1 3% Not reported 
Quantitative-Analytical -0- -0-% 28% 
Qualitative 13 33% 36% 
Mixed 10 26% Not reported 

Total 39 100% 

Mixed Modes of Reasoning 

Descriptive Statistics and Qualitative 
Descriptive Statistics and Correlation 

Number 
of Works 

9 
1 

Total 10 

tics contained a discussion of the theoretical merit of the various 
treatments or opinions. 

Table 6 describes the distribution of the data evaluation and 
presentation techniques. The New York State Society Committee 
on Inventory Verification [1930], Magor [1942], Williams [1947], 
and Child [1949] did not present any data or discuss any summary 
statistics. With the exception of Warshaw [1924], those that used 
graphs or basic statistical tools also provided tables and tabula-
tions of raw data. Warshaw only used graphs of inventory and 
price movements to illustrate his income smoothing argument for 
base stock inventory methods. Those that used basic statistical 
indicators were: (1) Burrell [1929] reported the correlation coeffi-
cients of his accounting aptitude test and standardized general 
aptitude tests with the final grades in the first accounting course 
of his test groups of college freshmen; (2) the review of the Ohio 
State study of the operating ratios of transient hotels in The Ameri-
can Accountant [1931] reported and discussed the meaning of the 
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standard error of the estimate as well as the means the ratios; (3) 
Wood, Traxler, and Nissley [1948] disclosed means and ranges as 
well as graphs; and (4) Jones [1949] used means, ranges, standard 
deviations, and graphs. None of the studies had a statistical test 
for the significance of variables. 

Table 6 
Data Evaluation and Presentation Techniques 

used in the Sample of Early Empiricism 
Techniques Used Number of Studies 

No data presented or discussed 4 
Verbal description and indication of selected 

summary indicators only 15 
Tables and/or tabulations of Raw Data 19 
Some basic statistical indicators 4 
Graphs 2 

Total 44* 

*Some studies used more than one technique. 

The use of data and its presentation (or lack thereof) was 
clearly adequate for the objectives of a number of the publications. 
For example, additional data would have contributed little to the 
case studies of company systems and procedures. Also, Mitchell's 
case studies of financial statements [November, 1906; December, 
1906; June, 1907] and Pierson's [1907] case study of the Philadel-
phia Gas Works were complete and would not have benefitted 
from more elaborate design. Stockwell's [1910] and Warshaw's 
[1924] data supplement their articles adequately. However, when 
one moves from case studies, many of the publications would 
have benefited from even the most primitive design considerations 
and/or data disclosures. For example, Williams [1947] provides 
examples of unusual financial statement treatments, but he pro-
vides no indication of the number of statements he examined or of 
the frequencies with which he observed specific treatments. The 
deficiencies of Williams' paper were typical of several of the publi-
cations that utilized more than a small number of observations. 

Foundation Discipline 
Table 7 contains the "Foundation Discipline" classification 

and the corresponding proportions reported by Vasarhelyi, et al. 
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The comparative numbers are surprising, not for the differences, 
rather for the similar proportions of economics/finance-based ar-
ticles. If we drop education articles which were excluded from the 
Vasarhelyi, et al. sample, then the "Economics/Finance" taxon con-
tains 23% of the Early Empiricism sample compared to 18% for 
the contemporary academic sample. 

Table 7 
Foundation Discipline 

Modern Academic 
Sample of Early Empiricism Vasarhelyi, et al. 

Number 
Taxon of Works Percentage Percentage 

Psychology -0- -0-% 12% 
Economics, Finance 6 15% 18% 
Engineering, 

Communications 1 3% Not Reported 
Mathematics/Decision/ 

Game Theory -0- -0-% 6% 
Accounting 23 59% 44% 
Management 6 15% Not Reported 
Education 3 8% Not Investigated 

Total 39 100% 

The early articles classified as "Economics/Finance" were 
those that were obviously relying on those foundation disciplines. 
The 15% sampled in this research may be an understatement. This 
can be and probably should be tested by drawing a sample of 
economics and finance literature and making a comparison. How-
ever, such a test is beyond the scope of the objectives of this paper 
and, in the authors' opinion, should be approached as a separate 
study with the accounting and economics sample being drawn 
from the body of literature existing in the first half of the twenti-
eth century and not limited to empirical based studies. 

The "Management" based articles dealt with management 
problems, not accounting problems. Thus accounting authors 
were not drawing on management methods to investigate account-
ing problems. When this is considered, "Accounting" based works 
are 71% of the portion of the sample compared to 44% in the 
Vasarhelyi, et al. sample. The accounting researchers of the early 
period were much less likely to draw upon the research method-
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ologies of other disciplines to solve accounting research problems 
than contemporary researchers. The greater likelihood of contem-
porary researchers drawing on methods from other disciplines 
must be attributed, at least in part, to the relatively recent develop-
ment of the borrowed methods. 

WATTS AND ZIMMERMAN'S TAXONOMY OF EVOLUTION 

Watts and Zimmerman [1986] provide the following periods 
of the evolution of financial accounting theory (pp. 4-7): 

Late nineteenth and early Researchers observed practices 
twentieth century and developed pedagogical clas-

sification rules. 
After the Securities Acts Normative theory development. 
until the later 1960s 
Late 1960s until mid-1970s Tests of existing normative 

theories and the relatinships of 
accunting numbers and eco-
nomic variables. 

Mid-970s until now Positive theory development. 
Watts and Zimmerman's first two classifications do not hold 

for works sampled for this study. For example, the three analyses 
by Mitchell [November, 1906; December, 1906; June, 1907] all 
compared financial statements with theoretically correct stan-
dards. Five of the nine entries prior to the passage of the Securi-
ties Acts that dealt with financial accounting gave substantive con-
sideration to theoretical aspects of the problem being considered. 
Conversely, six of the eleven papers published after the Securities 
Acts and concerned with financial accounting were descriptions of 
practices without substantive consideration of theory. Watts and 
Zimmerman's classification scheme would have been more precise 
if their first two eras had been combined and they had observed 
that both normative theory and observation of existing practices 
were common in the literature during the first half of the twenti-
eth century. Obviously their fourth "era" description is not valid 
either. Market studies continue to flourish and historical and non-
positivist studies may be increasing in importance in the evolution 
of financial accounting theory. Therefore the authors suggest that 
the fourth classification reflects either extreme naiveté or is a clear 
example of the "self-interest" assumption that is basic to Watts 
and Zimmerman's work. The authors suggest further that Watts 
and Zimmerman are not naive. 

79

et al.: Accounting Historians Journal, 1991, Vol. 18, no. 2

Published by eGrove, 1991



72 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

Two authors (Hornberger [1929] and Clendenin [1941]) did 
investigate why managers made certain accounting choices. 
Previts and Merino [1978] also recognize early positivism (or ex-
planatory theory) in the surveys conducted by the N.A.C.A. re-
search staff in the late 1930s and early 1940s. They note a 1940 
movement in which surveys of management accounting methods 
were "extended to find out not only what practice was being used 
but also why such practices were used" (p. 278). So there was 
some attempt to explain why accounting choices were made, but 
the sample used in this research suggests that such attempts at 
"positive" theory were infrequent and not a common attribute of 
early empiricism. 

ANTIL'S TAXONOMY OF EVOLUTION 
Antil [1989] provides a somewhat similar, but more compre-

hensive, classification with his assertion that accounting modeling 
has moved from implementation to explanation (p. 103). The 
"implementation" classification includes Watts and Zimmerman's 
periods through the late 1960s and "explanation" would include 
contemporary positive theories. With the exception of two articles, 
all works on accounting in the sample are either directed toward 
developing normative accounting methods or describing account-
ing practices without attempting to explain (predict) why the ob-
ject of study takes the particular form being observed. All of the 
studies that were directed towards identifying frequency of use of 
specific accounting methods or techniques provide the opportu-
nity for authors to speculate on motivational determinants of such 
usage. Such induction would reflect the infancy of contemporary 
explanatory (positive) research. Yet only two of the authors bother 
to speculate on why particular methods were used. Thus, the data 
in the sampled research supports the Antil contention that early 
literature was primarily concerned with implementation. 

THE ROLE OF EARLY EMPIRICISM 
It is concluded that, based on research results, early empiri-

cism contributed to accounting in two ways: (1) it fulfilled an 
information function that has been taken over by other sources 
now such as the AICPA's Current Trends and Techniques and (2) it 
provided a basis from which certain normative concepts were in-
duced. The information function is obvious from the research 
sampled in this study. For example, Stockwell [1910], Hornberger 
[1929], Clendenin [1941], and the Research and Technical Service 
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Department, N.A.C.A. [1941] provide surveys of accounting meth-
ods used to account for specific events. 

The sample of research studies also indicates that early em-
pirical works provided the data from which some positive, as well 
as normative, concepts could have been induced. All of the surveys 
mentioned above plus case studies, such as those of Mitchell ([No-
vember, 1906], [December, 1906], [1907]), provide such data even 
though the authors do not utilize the data to make inferences. In 
addition, there are works in the sample in which the authors have 
made inferences that may have influenced accounting and man-
agement thought. For example, Pierson [1906] concluded that pri-
vate operation of utilities with government regulation provides the 
best organizational arrangement for such enterprises. Fullington 
[1916] concluded that proper disclosure of government activities 
will result in public pressure that brings about efficient govern-
ment operation. Van Vlissinger [1929] identified benefits from 
centralization and decentralization of accounting functions and 
Cannon [1948] recognized the need for capitalizing financial 
leases. While the authors of this study cannot conclude that stud-
ies such as these directly led to specific changes in accounting and 
business thought, the authors believe that the studies were of such 
substance that it is likely that they influenced the work of norma-
tive theorists. 

SPECULATION ON SOME DETERMINANTS 
OF ACCOUNTING LITERATURE 

Watts and Zimmerman [1979] attracted a great deal of atten-
tion with their "Market for Excuses." Although the explanatory 
power of their theory has been effectively questioned in the litera-
ture, there has been no further attempt at explaining the develop-
ment of accounting theories or accounting literature. Lowe, Puxty, 
and Laughlin [1983] provide a strong argument against oversim-
plifying the complex process of the development of accounting 
theory and literature. The accounting literature of any period is 
certainly the result of a complex process, yet the final objective of 
any study of that literature must be to increase the understanding 
of the factors that operated to create that literature. It seems ap-
propriate to go beyond description and to suggest some determi-
nants of the content of accounting literature that are consistent 
with the descriptions in this paper. 

The most obvious determinant of changes in accounting lit-
erature is the advent and availability of the computer. The 
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Vasarhelyi, et al. taxon, "Analytical-Simulation," which generally is 
composed of non-empirical studies according to this paper's op-
erational definition was a null set prior to development of comput-
ers. Simulation was just not feasible for accounting studies with-
out the existence and availability of computers. Computer 
development and accessibility also contributed to the use of more 
sophisticated design and statistical analysis in accounting litera-
ture. Thus, these developments suggests that available technology 
is an important determinant of the form and content of account-
ing literature. 

If accounting research borrows theories and research meth-
ods from other academic disciplines, then accounting literature is 
surely influenced by the state of art in related disciplines. Some of 
the taxons identified by Brown, et al. and Vasarhelyi, et al. are 
dependent upon borrowed methods, particularly from agency 
theory and information economics, that did not exist during the 
period from which the research sampled in this study is drawn. 

There were, however, techniques available prior to 1950 that 
were not used, but would have been helpful in several of the stud-
ies. Therefore another variable, training and background of aca-
demic accountants, in addition to those already identified helps to 
explain the degree to which accounting researchers exploit meth-
ods and theories from other disciplines. Only a very small portion 
of the faculty in Briggs' [1930] sample were Ph.D.s. These early 
faculty surely had less training in (borrowed) research methodol-
ogy than most contemporary accounting faculty. Also, their train-
ing and background most likely resulted in their interests being 
more closely aligned with those of practitioners and more distant 
from other academic disciplines and the university as a whole 
than contemporary accounting faculty. 

One might reasonably hypothesize that senior accounting fac-
ulty that remain active in research are doing research primarily 
for psychic reward rather than direct financial reward. Because 
they are operating in an environment that values the methods of 
natural and social sciences and humanities more than methods 
(whatever they might be?) that would bring approval of the prac-
tice community, these senior faculty will emulate their more pres-
tigious university colleagues in other disciplines. The academic 
journals and Ph.D. programs are in the hands of this particular set 
of faculty; therefore, new accounting faculty must emulate them if 
they are to survive as academics. Both the awareness and interest 
required to stimulate borrowing from other disciplines to the ex-
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tent that it is done today appears to have been absent during the 
formative years of modern academic accounting literature. 

Another comparison suggesting an explanatory variable is the 
change in the "Institutional" taxon within the "School of Thought" 
taxonomy. Only one of the works in the sample fits the rather 
restrictive definition of "institutional" used by Vasarhelyi, et al., yet 
that empirical work on regulation constitutes an extensive and 
important body of work in contemporary accounting literature. 
Much of the increase in interest in research on institutions can be 
attributed to change in the institutional environment within which 
accounting operates. While we do not subscribe to the Watts and 
Zimmerman [1979] thesis that justification for regulatory pur-
poses accounts for the demand for accounting theory, the institu-
tional environment of accounting and business certainly affects 
the content of accounting literature. Therefore the authors are 
convinced that the "Market for Excuses" variable is operating as 
one of many variables that determine the body of accounting lit-
erature. 

The authors of this paper have proposed that some of the 
variables appropriate for an explanatory (predictive) model of ac-
counting literature are the development and availability of data 
accumulation and analysis technology (hardware), the body of 
knowledge of related disciplines, the background and training of 
accounting researchers, and the institutional environment of ac-
counting. It is easy to identify other candidates for inclusion in 
such a model, but the descriptions of early empiricism in this 
paper are consistent with these proposed variables. 

SUMMARY 
Shank's [1981, p. 100] observation that "Empirical research in 

accounting is essentially a phenomenon of the past twenty years" 
(now thirty years) is accurate only if descriptive empiricism is 
ignored. If one is willing to accept descriptive statistics and case 
studies as "empiricism," then empiricism was common in ac-
counting literature prior to 1950. A more precise statement by 
Shank is that the use of inferential statistical tests of theoretical 
predictions is essentially a phenomenon of the past thirty years. 

Early empiricism was the work of both academics and non-
academics. Academics published in non-academic journals and 
non-academics published in academic journals. While the data 
reported in some publications added little to the work in which it 
was included, empiricism was central to most of the items in the 
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sample. The studies were primitive by contemporary standards 
because little attention was paid to experimental design and statis-
tical tools in these early studies. 

Accounting specialties represented in the sample were diverse. 
Several of the studies were directed toward determining reporting 
techniques or methods. Studies related to management or govern-
ment were frequently case studies. Articles on accounting educa-
tion and professional development described curricula and profes-
sional opportunities. Three of the articles on professional 
development were "advocacy" type articles that were intended to 
promote and defend activities of the AIA or of an academic institu-
tion. 

The objectives of using and reporting real world observations 
were primarily to report the use of accounting methods, to de-
scribe the application and functioning of information systems, to 
publicize the activity of institutions, or to support a normative 
position. In a few cases the observations were used to make nor-
mative inferences and two authors attempted to discover the ratio-
nale for the variations in treatment of an accounting event. How-
ever, interest in explanatory theory appears minimal and no 
formal tests of theory were found. 

The design limitations of this paper prevent the identification 
of the specific contribution of empiricism to the induction of theo-
retical positions. However, the study does reveal that the work of 
early empiricists was of broad enough scope and detail to have 
permitted the induction of a wide range of theoretical concepts. 
Therefore, empiricism may have made a much greater contribu-
tion to accounting thought than is reflected in historical account-
ing literature. 

Further investigation of the role of early empiricism in the 
development of accounting thought will be interesting. A poten-
tially useful avenue for investigation is to evaluate the temporal 
relationship between the publication of certain empirical-based 
works and the appearance of normative positions. For example, 
did Cannon's [1948] article on the materiality of financial leases 
precede the call for recognition of these lease obligations as a 
liability in the normative literature? Potentially even more reward-
ing is an investigation of empiricism from 1950 through 1965. It is 
with the literature of this period that one will be able to observe 
the transition from sole use of descriptive statistics to early infer-
ential tests. 
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APPENDIX 

Annotated Bibliography of Works 
Included in the Sample 

1906 

Mitchell, Thomas W., "Reviews of Corporation Reports," Journal of Accountancy 
(November, 1906): 42-47. 

This is the first of a series of eleven sets of case studies that appeared in 
each issue of the Journal of Accountancy through September, 1907. The 
statements of American Locomotive Company (fiscal year ended June 30, 
1906) and Distillers Securities Corporation (1905 and 1906) were analyzed 
with the objective of determining if "the reports rendered to stockholders 
contain such information as will enable them to exercise intelligent judg-
ment with respect to the fidelity, efficiency and economy of corporate trust-
ees and agents." (p. 42) 

Mitchell, Thomas W., "Reviews of Corporate Reports," The Journal of Accoun-
tancy, i n , 2 (December, 1906): 146-153. 

The second of the series of case studies. This case study has the same 
objectives and procedures as the preceding analysis. The statements of the 
Chicago, Rock Island, and Pacific Railway Company from 1901 through 
1906 were the subject of this analysis. 

Pierson, Ward W., "Municipal Control of the Philadelphia Gas Works," The Jour-
nal of Accountancy, 2, 2 (June, 1906): 118-131. 

This is a case study of the private and public operation of Philadelphia 
Gas Works (1834-1906). He concludes that the best arrangement for operat-
ing a similar franchise is by private operation with government acting in a 
"watchdog" role. 

1907 

Mitchell, Thomas W., "Reviews of Corporate Reports," The Journal of Accoun-
tancy (June, 1907): 144-150. 

Mitchell discusses perceived material items specific to the particular 
statements being analyzed. This analysis was of the 1906 annual report of 
the Tennessee Coal, Iron and Railroad Company. 

1909 

Stockwell, Herbert G., "Depreciation, Renewal, and Replacement Accounts," 
Journal of Accountancy (December, 1909): 89-103, (January, 1910): 189-210. 

Stockwell discusses the theory, practices, and bookkeeping for acquisi-
tion and maintenance of long-lived operating assets. The empirical portion 
of the paper, the description of practices, is a relatively minor part of the 
paper. 

1916 

Fullington, E. M., "The Budget System in Ohio," The Journal of Accountancy, 
XII, 2 (February, 1916): 114-124. 

The thesis of this article is that proper disclosure will result in public 
pressure to control spending. This case study is a description of the transi-
tion in the Ohio budgetary system in 1914 and 1915. 
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1924 

Warshaw, H. T., "Inventory Valuation and the Business Cycle," Harvard Busi-
ness Review (October, 1924): 27-34. 

The objective of this paper was to argue the merit of the base stock 
inventory method. Warshaw compares the income performance of the Na-
tional Lead Company with that of ten other companies from 1915 through 
1922. 

1927 

Le Rossignot, J. E., "Demands of Business for Trained Men Met by Schools and 
Universities," The American Accountant, XII, 11 (December, 1927): 13-15. 

The objective was to describe business education at the University of 
Nebraska. The data on graduates was gathered by questionnaire. 

Taylor, J. B., "Some Phases of North Dakota's Experiment in Flour Mill Opera-
tion," Accounting Review, II, 2 (June, 1927): 129-130. 

Taylor's objective was to evaluate the state operation of a flour mill. He 
describes the legislative and financing history of the North Dakota venture 
in this case study. Also, he presents the 1926 balance sheet for the milling 
company and related numbers and discusses the cause of the unfavorable 
financial position. 

1928 

Nissley, W. W., "Progress of the Bureau for Placements," Accounting Review, III, 
1 (January, 1928): 36-37. 

Nissley's objective was to describe the work of the Bureau (AIA) and 
answer criticism of accounting professors. Data was obtained by question-
naire sent to AIA members admitted during 1917 through 1928 and from 
the records of placements by the Bureau. 

1929 

Atkins, Paul M., "University Instruction in Industrial Cost Accounting," Account-
ing Review, IV, 1 (January, 1929): 23-32. 

Atkin's objective was to describe a course in cost accounting that met 
the needs of both advanced undergraduate and graduate students. Empirics 
were used to describe existing courses. He reviewed 295 college catalogues, 
88 of which listed cost accounting courses. Questionnaires were sent to the 
eighty-eight colleges listing cost accounting courses and thirty-four re-
sponses were received. Catalog descriptions were used for non-respondents. 

Burrell, O. K., "An Experiment in Student and Teacher Ratings," Accounting 
Review, IV, 3 (September, 1929): 194-197. 

This project had the joint objectives of the development of an instru-
ment to evaluate student aptitude for accounting and to evaluate faculty. 
The sample consisted of 225 freshmen taking the first accounting course in 
1927 and 350 in 1928. 

Hornberger, D. J., "Accounting for No-Par Stock Issues,'" The Accounting Re-
view, TV, 4 (December, 1929): 213-217. 

Hornberger's objective was to describe how corporations account for 
no-par stock and to determine the rational for the treatments. He examined 
financial statements for the treatment of 1,213 stock issues of 614 utilities 
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and 599 industrials. An undisclosed number of managers were then inter-
viewed to determine why they used a particular method. 

Van Vlissinger, Arthur, Jr., "A Survey on the Effect of Departmental Consolida-
tion on Cost-Office and Factory," N.A.C.A. Bulletin (August 15, 1929): 1451-
1465. 

Van Vlissinger s objective was to discuss the effect of organizational 
structure change and office systems redesign on costs. The data upon which 
the article was based was one thousand questionnaire responses from of-
fices large enough to have a management problem and an unspecified num-
ber of interviews with accounting and budget officers. The survey results 
and anecdotes are reported in the paper. 

Yoakum, Clarence S., "Business and the Young Accountant," Michigan Business 
Studies, 11, 3 (May, 1929): 1-42. 

Yoakum's objective was to provide information on career opportunities 
and difficulties in accounting. Data were obtained from a questionnaire 
sent to 250 persons taking three or more accounting courses at the Univer-
sity of Michigan from 1916 through 1926. 

1930 

Briggs, L. L., "Accounting in Collegiate Schools of Business," Accounting Re-
view, V, 2 (June, 1930): 175-181. 

Briggs' objective was to describe accounting taught in AACSB account-
ing programs. He obviously used program and course catalogues from 
member schools as his data source. 

"Cost of Handling Merchandise Returns is Subject of Study," The American 
Accountant (March, 1930): 110-111. 

The objective of this brief article was to review an Ohio State report of 
case studies of department store treatment of sales returns and to present 
significant statistics from the report. 

New York State Society of Certified Public Accountants, Special Committee on 
Accountants Responsibility for Verification of Inventories, "Results of Sur-
vey of Accountants Responsibility for Inventory," The American Accountant, 
XV, 4 (April, 1930): 162-165. 

This was the report of the Committee which surveyed some unspecified 
number of accountants. The report, a discussion of the data collected with 
no position taken, contains no indication of procedures or methodology. 

1931 

"Operating Ratios of Transient Hotels at Varying Rates of Occupancy," The 
American Accountant (April, 1931): 125. 

This review of a report prepared by the Department of Hotel Adminis-
tration, Cornell was probably prepared by one of the professional editors of 
The American Accountant. Average ratios and standard error of estimates 
are presented and the meaning of the standard error is discussed. 

Wasserman, Max J., "Accounting Practice in France During the Period of Mon-
etary Inflation (1919-1927)," The Accounting Review, VI, 1 (March, 1931): 1-
32. 

Wasserman's objective was to describe the French proposals (theories) 
for inflation adjusted accounting following World War I. The bulk of the 
article is a description of these theories. The empirical portion identifies the 
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French price changes during this period and is used to demonstrate the 
sustained nature of inflation in France from 1918 through 1927. 

1932 

*FitzPatrick, Paul J., "A Comparison of Ratios of Successful Industrial Enter-
prises with Those of Failed Firms," Certified Public Accountant (October, 
1932): 598-605; (November, 1932): 656-662; (December, 1932): 727-731. 

FitzPatrick's objective was to compare ratios of successful firms with 
unsuccessful firms. He obtained financial data from Moody's and Poor's 
Industrial Manuals for three years. Neither firms nor periods were speci-
fied. 

Kohler, Eric., "Editorial: The Public Utility Holding Company," The Accounting 
Review, VII, 4 (December, 1932): 301-305. 

The purpose of this editorial is to identify some of the unacceptable 
business and accounting practices of large public holding companies and to 
recommend action for the correction of the abuses. Kohler reviews the 
history of unacceptable practices of a large public utility investment-holding 
company to illustrate his points. 

1934 

Atwood, Paul W., "The Manufacturer Looks at His Cost of Distribution," The 
Accounting Review, IX, 1 (March, 1934): 23-28. 

The objective of this article was to discuss a survey of distribution costs 
of manufacturers (312) firms conducted by the Association of National Ad-
vertisers. 

1941 

*Clendenin, J. C., "How 118 Major Corporations Account for Bond Discount," 
The Journal of Accountancy (July, 1941): 37-44. 

Clendenin's objective was to identify the accounting methods used for 
discounts on retired bonds and the motives for the selection of the methods. 
Data was obtained from 180 questionnaires for which 118 responses were 
received. 

Research and Technical Service Department, N.A.C.A., "Accounting for Excess 
Labor Costs and Overhead Under Conditions of Increased Production," 
N.A.C.A. Bulletin, XXII, 24 (August 15, 1941): 1551-1570. 

The objective was to determine how companies were accounting for 
increased labor costs (overtime, training, etc.) and overhead in non-defense 
activities that resulted from war induced demand for all goods. Data for 263 
companies was obtained from questionnaires distributed at N.A.C.A. meet-
ings to chapter members "best qualified to supply the information desired." 

1942 

Devine, Carl T., Inventory Valuation and Periodic Income, New York: The Ronald 
Press Company (1942). 

Devine's objective was to investigate the "effects of various inventory 
valuation methods on the reported income stream." (p. 111) His real data 
were the inventory numbers and related information 1933 through 1938 
reported by Wilson [1939] for an unidentified firm that processed cotton. 
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Magor, Donald M., "Job Evaluation for Salaried Positions," N.A.C.A. Bulletin, 23 
(June 15, 1942): 1354-1365. 

This case study describes the development and implementation of a 
salary plan for positions within the York Ice Machinery Corporation. 

1947 

*Borth, Daniel, Jr., "Published Financial Statements of Banks," The Accounting 
Review, XXII, 3 (January, 1947): 282-294. 

Borth examined the 1946 statements of twenty-five Chicago banks and 
made qualitative judgments based on reporting standards current at the 
time. 

*King, Robert W., "Effect of Inventory Valuation Methods on Profit," The Ac-
counting Review, XXII, 1 (January, 1947): 45-53. 

King's objective was to illustrate the effect of FIFO and LIFO. Most of 
the paper is directed towards specifying IRS requirements for inventory 
valuations. The empirics appear as if they were an afterthought and contrib-
ute nothing to the paper. 

*Lemke, B. C., "The Treatment of Unamortized Discount and Expense Appli-
cable to Bonds Refunded Before Maturity," The Accounting Review, XXII, 4 
(October, 1947): 375-384. 

This is a normative discussion of the treatment of bond discount and 
expense upon refunding with a survey of the methods used and the 
amounts involved. Data (treatment of discount and expense, assets, liabili-
ties, and the amount of discount and expense) for thirty-four refundings by 
thirty industrial firms and thirty-one refundings of thirty utilities were dis-
played. 

*Littleton, A. C., "What Auditors Do," The Accounting Review, XXII, 1 (January, 
1947): 80-81. 

Littleton's objective was to determine what auditors do by determining 
the frequency of verb usage in audit literature. A content analysis of the 
work of five unidentified authors (1,720 pages of auditing literature) was 
performed and the frequency and distribution by author of commonly used 
verbs was reported. 

*Staff of the Journal of Accountancy, "What the Public Thinks of Financial 
Statements," Journal of Accountancy (June, 1947): 487-489. 

This is a brief summary of Roper's [1948] survey with the theme that 
the public does not understand financial statements. 

Williams, Aubry, "Trends in Accounting Terminology and Form Revealed by 
1946 Corporate Reports," The Journal of Accountancy (October, 1947); 310-
317. 

Williams' objective was to describe changes in terminology and state-
ment format used in published financial statements. No data was presented 
other than examples of departures from standard terminology and format. 

1948 

*Borth, Daniel, Jr., "Adjustment of Prior Year's Income per Depreciation and 
Disposal of Fixed Assets," The Journal of Accountancy (June, 1948): 470-474. 

The objective was to discuss the problem of price changes and its reso-
lution within the historical cost model. The data source and methodology 
were author examination of "about 150 representative published corporate 

89

et al.: Accounting Historians Journal, 1991, Vol. 18, no. 2

Published by eGrove, 1991



82 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

financial statements [for fiscal years ending in 1946 and early 1947] . . . to 
ascertain the elements in the determination of net income for the period." 
(p. 470) 

*Canon, Arthur M., "Danger Signals to Accountants in 'Net-Lease' Financing," 
The Journal of Accountancy (April, 1948): 312-320. 

Cannon's objective was to describe the materiality of sale-lease back 
activity and to discuss appropriate accounting. He presents data on the off-
balance sheet financial lease financing of four corporations (Allied Stores 
Corporation, J. C. Penney Company, Safeway Stores, Inc., and Montgomery 
Ward & Co., Inc.) for 1946. Lease data on other firms is presented in anec-
dotal style. Cannon calls for statement recognition of financial lease activ-
ity. 

*Roper, Elmo, A Report on What Information People Want About Policies and 
Financial Conditions of Corporations, Vols. I and II, New York: Controllers' 
Institute Foundation (1948). 

The Controllership Foundation commissioned Roper to determine what 
the public was interested in about financial statements and corporate af-
fairs. Questionnaires and interviews were used and the report provides 
tabulation of the questionnaires and excerpts from in-depth interviews. Af-
ter a preliminary pilot study (754 interviews) to determine the economic 
distribution of stock ownership, a national cross-section of the population 
stratified into three economic levels was sent questionnaires and 4,259 re-
sponses were obtained. Also, 1,242 corporate employees completed ques-
tionnaires and a portion were interviewed, 59 large investors were inter-
viewed, 61 financial analysts and bankers were interviewed, and 88 labor 
union officials were interviewed between January 26 and April 23, 1948. 

Wood, Ben D., Arthur E. Traxler, and Warren W. Nissley, "College Accounting 
Testing Program," The Accounting Review (January, 1948): 63-83. 

The objective of the article was to describe the development of the AIA 
testing program and all aspects of the program are discussed. The sample 
size varied with the portion of the program, but results were available for 
over 25,000 exams. 

1949 

Child, A. J. E., "Case Studies in Internal Auditing," Accounting Review (April, 
1949): 149, 149-159. 

Child describes the internal audit function within a large Canadian 
meat packer. The article includes sample audit programs for accounts re-
ceivable and inventories and anecdotes of the internal auditors performing 
special assignments and detecting defalcations. 

* Jones, Ralph C., "Effect of Inflation of Capital and Profits: The Record of Nine 
Steel Companies," The Journal of Accountancy (January, 1949): 9-27. 

Jones' objective was to demonstrate the impact of price change ac-
counting on reported income of nine unidentified steel companies from 
1941 through 1947. 

*Included in Ball's Index. 
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SUBSTANCE AND SEMANTICS IN 
THE AUDITOR'S STANDARD REPORT 
Abstract: The most recent effort at restating the auditor's standard 
report, SAS 58, is the most comprehensive statement of the auditor's 
role that has ever been adopted. It is an acknowledgment that the 
previous report had become an ineffective communication of the audit 
function and was perhaps too cautious in circumscribing the auditor's 
public responsibilities. This paper compares and analyzes the termi-
nology of the standard report throughout the professions's history 
with particular emphasis on the recent years leading up to SAS 58. An 
exhibit compares the parallel terminology and the social, economic 
and political issues that resulted in each revision. Additionally, some 
assessment of the potential future changes to the report are presented. 

"In a simple matter such as an auditor's certificate we fail 
to see why any legal interference is called for. What the 
public and shareholders want is a readable assurance 
from the accountants, stating in plain English what they 
really have done" [The Accountant, 1883]. 
This statement is as fitting today for the public accounting 

profession in the United States as it was more than 100 years ago 
in the United Kingdom. The public accounting profession then, as 
now, was searching for an effective statement to the public and 
the shareholder that would tell "what they really have done" when 
an audit had been performed. The profession has responded many 
times to this same request by modifying the auditor's standard 
report to be a more effective communication. However, the gap 
between the reality of what the auditor has done and the public 
and shareholder's perception of what has been done has persisted, 
or is at least repeatedly reopened. 

The "gap" that has been the focus of discussion for more than 
a decade has two dimensions, a semantic dimension and a sub-
stance dimension. The semantic dimension is concerned with the 
common understanding of the terms and concepts used in the 
auditor s standard report. Terms and concepts used may have dif-
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ferent meanings for the professional accountant and the public. 
The substance dimension of the "gap" concerns the beliefs and 
expectations of the public and shareholders regarding the work of 
the auditor and the assurance that should be provided versus the 
work and assurances that the auditor is willing or able to provide. 

The historical development of auditing and the audit report 
has been the result of several influences that may be characterized 
as political, social, economic, legal, and professional [Choi, 1984; 
Kaplan, 1987]. These influences often have had an interdependent 
and collective effect on auditing developments, yet a particular 
influence may appear to have been the predominant influence. For 
example, auditing developments of the preregulation period were 
predominantly influenced by economic factors. Without legislated 
directives, audits were primarily based on management's cost-ben-
efit assessment. During this period, other influences, such as the 
Federal Reserve Board, the accounting profession, and later, the 
New York Stock Exchange, were working to establish uniformity 
for auditing, audit reports and financial reports. In the 1930s, leg-
islation established that the social welfare must be protected by 
auditing and financial reporting standards. Since that time, the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, accounting profession, 
business interests, and individuals seeking legal restitution have 
influenced the development of auditing and audit reporting stan-
dards. 

The interaction of these various interests is illustrated well by 
the McKesson-Robbins case. Plaintiffs seeking financial restitution 
were successful because a major weakness was exposed in audit-
ing procedure. The accounting profession responded by changing 
audit procedure and changing the audit report accordingly. The 
SEC also responded to the audit deficiencies identified in the 
McKesson-Robbins case and prescribed certain auditing and re-
porting procedures. The accounting profession quickly responded 
a second time and incorporated the directives of the SEC. While 
the details of these events are presented later in this paper, the 
discussion here is sufficient to illustrate the interactive and collec-
tive affect of several influences in the development of auditing 
procedures and the audit report. 

An effective illustration of semantic and substantive changes 
to the audit report can also be found in the changes made to the 
report following the McKesson-Robbins case. Prior to the case, the 
report referred to the auditor's interview of management as an 
audit procedure. The deception perpetrated by management in the 
case was embarrassing because it suggested naivete, vulnerability, 
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and perhaps, lack of independence. Reference to this procedure 
was dropped from the audit report, even though the interview 
procedure continued and is still a useful procedure. It was a se-
mantic change rather than a substantive change. A semantic 
change that has remained somewhat enigmatic was the change 
from "fairly present" to "present fairly." Substantive changes also 
resulted from the McKesson-Robbins case. As noted above, audit-
ing procedures were expanded to verify certain assets and the au-
dit report generally described these changes of auditing procedure. 
This paper describes the semantic and substantive changes to the 
standard audit report in the past century, and suggests possible 
future semantic and substantive changes. 

The public accounting profession's most recent effort at re-
stating the auditor's standard report, Statement on Auditing Stan-
dards No. 58 — "Reports on Audited Financial Statements" 
[AICPA, 1988], is the most comprehensive statement of the 
auditor's role that has ever been adopted. As in previous versions 
of the auditor's standard report, the words and concepts were 
carefully selected. In SAS No. 58, however, the Auditing Standards 
Board appears to have taken special care in selecting terminology 
that would be appropriate professionally and that would convey 
an accurate understanding for public users. This observation is 
given perspective, when the new standard is compared to the ver-
sions that have existed in the past, and when the dynamics of 
social, economic and political forces that have shaped each suc-
cessive version are evaluated. 

This discussion will focus on the historical development of the 
auditor's standard report, from the early versions to the form pre-
scribed in SAS No. 58. Particular emphasis is placed on the terms 
and concepts that were added, deleted and modified in successive 
versions. Some of these changes were based on substantive 
changes in the work of the auditor. A summary and comparison 
exhibit is presented, to enhance understanding of the historical 
development and the changing terminology. Finally, observations 
are made about possible future semantic and substantive changes. 

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE AUDIT REPORTS 
The development of the standard audit report in the United 

States will be analyzed, with particular attention given to the 
terms and phrases that were used in audit reports and the influ-
ences that led to the changes in the report. As noted above, SAS 
No. 58 requires the most comprehensive report form in history. It 
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requires that the report explicitly address the responsibilities of 
the auditor, the work which the auditor performs, and the assur-
ance which the auditor provides [Roussey, 1988]. Exhibit I pre-
sents an analysis of the terms and phrases prescribed in SAS No. 
58 on the basis of three categories (responsibilities, work, and 
assurance). The terms and phrases of each of the preceding ver-
sions of the report are also analyzed on the basis of these three 
categories. For the purpose of comparison, a parallel concept or 
meaning that has appeared in one or more versions is presented 
on the same line in each column. For example, the degree of accu-
racy for the auditor's assurance has been expressed by three differ-
ent phrases since 1917 and several before 1917. Since they were all 
expressions of the degree of accuracy, they were presented on the 
same line of the exhibit. A term or phrase that does not have a 
parallel expression in another version of the report is presented on 
a line by itself, such as the term "independent" as expressed in the 
report title required by SAS No. 58. The events or circumstances 
(economic, political, social, legal, or professional) that precipitated 
the change are noted in a summary form at the top of each col-
umn. 

Perhaps the most common public impression of accountants 
is that they are quantitative experts, able to express business 
events numerically. A study of the development of the standard 
audit report, as shown in the summary and comparison and as 
discussed in the following sections, makes it clear that standard 
setting for the auditing profession also requires the skill of a se-
manticist. 

BRITISH INFLUENCE 
The auditing profession in the United States evolved from 

British origins in the nineteenth century. Two major aspects of 
British history contributed to the development of the professional 
accountant and the accountant's work product, the audit. First, 
the history of financial crisis, bankruptcies and governmental con-
trol over bankrupt entities increased the demand for expert ac-
countants to serve the interest of the public. Second, the re-estab-
lishment of the joint-stock company created a demand for the 
professional auditor. 

The history of business in nineteenth century England is a 
succession of prosperity, crisis and depression [Littleton, 1933]. 
The inevitable consequences of these recurring periods of depres-
sion were heavy financial losses and business failures. Under-
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standably, bankruptcy occupied the public mind a great deal. Par-
liament, unable to control the swings of reckless speculation and 
convulsive panic, attempted to develop constructive legislation in 
the years following each crisis, to secure better protection for 
creditors. Each statute placed responsibility on an individual or 
individuals for administering the bankrupt's estate to the best in-
terest of all concerned. Naturally, a substantial amount of ac-
counting work was involved, to maintain accurate accounts and to 
insure that the statements were correct. Knowledgeable accoun-
tants experienced increasing demand. The legislated necessity of 
expert and trustworthy accountants to provide an accurate and 
equitable report to the public on the affairs of bankrupt entities 
was a significant development for professional accountancy and 
for the audit function [Littleton, 1933]. 

A second major development was the restoration of the joint-
stock company. The abuses of the eighteenth century stock com-
panies had culminated in the Bubble Act of 1719, which prohib-
ited joint stock companies. After more than 100 years, a new act 
again permitted joint stock companies to be formed. The act was 
careful to provide some safeguards against the actions of promot-
ers and directors. Certain sections required auditing of the ac-
counts by someone independent of management, and either an 
auditor's special report on the accounts or a confirmation of 
management's report. Every auditor was to be supplied with a 
copy of the company balance sheet to examine. He was then re-
quired to report to the shareholders "whether in (his) opinion the 
balance sheet is a full and fair balance sheet containing particulars 
required by these regulations and properly drawn up so as to ex-
hibit a true and correct view of the state of the company's affairs" 
(Sec. 94) [Littleton, 1933]. This report, in effect, constituted a cer-
tificate. Until 1900, it appears to have been general practice for 
auditors merely to sign balance sheets or to add some phrase such 
as "audited and found correct" [Hopkins, 1984]. 

The British experience in the development of the auditing 
profession, in particular the development of the auditor's report, is 
relevant and instructive because the accounting system, auditing 
process, and audit reports in the United States were derived from 
the British experience. It is particularly important to note that the 
social, economic, and political events in England led to the legis-
lated establishment of the auditor and the content of the auditor s 
report long before legislation addressed the auditor s role in the 
United States. The British experience, therefore, provided a useful 
reference for practice in the United States, particularly up to the 
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Exhibit 1 
Evolution of the Standard Short-Form Audit Report 

Year of Report 
Change 

1988 1948 1941 1939 

Motivation for 
Report Change 
(Economic, 
Social, Legal, 
Political, Pro-
fessional 

Governmental 
investigation 
Profession's 
investigation 
Litigation 
Legislation 

AICPA's response 
to the SEC s 
1941 report 

SEC's report fol-
lowing the 
McKesson and 
other audit 
failure cases 

AIA's response 
to the McKesson 
and other audit 
failure cases 

Content of the 
Auditor's Stand-
ard Short-Form 
Report 
1. Responsibilities 

a. Relationship 
of the 
Auditor and 
Management 

b. Work of 
Auditor 

2. Work 
a. General 

Procedures 
b. Specific 

Procedures 

Content of the 
Auditor's Stand-
ard Short-Form 
Report 
1. Responsibilities 

a. Relationship 
of the 
Auditor and 
Management 

b. Work of 
Auditor 

2. Work 
a. General 

Procedures 
b. Specific 

Procedures 

"Independent" 
stated in the report 
title 

Express an Opinion 
on management's 
financial statement 

Audit the BS, IS 
RE, SCF 
Conducted in ac-
cordance with GAAS 

Examined the BS, 
IS & Surplus 
Examined in ac-
cordance with GAAS 
& other auditing pro-
cedures considered 
necessary 
Tests of the account-
ing records 

Examined the BS, 
IS & Surplus 
Examined in ac-
cordance with GAAS 
& procedures con-
sidered necessary 

Examined the BS, 
IS & Surplus 

Examining on a test 
basis amounts and 
disclosures 

Examined the BS, 
IS & Surplus 
Examined in ac-
cordance with GAAS 
& other auditing pro-
cedures considered 
necessary 
Tests of the account-
ing records 

Examined or Tested 
the accounting re-
cords & other sup-
porting evidence by 
methods & to the 
extent appropriate 
Without a Detailed 
Audit of transactions 
Reviewed the system 
of internal control 

Examined or Tested 
the accounting re-
cords & other sup-
porting evidence by 
methods & to the 
extent appropriate 
Without a Detailed 
Audit of transactions 
Reviewed the system 
of internal control 

c. Minimum 
Objectives 

3. Assurance 
a. Basis 

Assessing account-
ing principles & sig-
nificant estimates 
Evaluating overall 
financial statement 
presentation 
Reasonable Assur-
ance that financial 
statements are free 
from material mis-
statement 
Reasonable Basis 
for our opinion 

in our opinion in our opinion in our opinion in our opinion 
b. Degree of 

Accuracy 
present fairly in all 
material respects 

present fairly present fairly present fairly 

c. Comparability 
& Authorita-
tive Guidance 

GAAP GAAP applied on a 
basis consistent with 
the preceding year 

GAAP applied on a 
basis consistent with 
the preceding year 

GAAP applied on a 
basis consistent with 
the preceding year 
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1934 1931 1929 1917 Before 1917 

Securities Act of 
1933,1934, market 
crash, depression. 
New Deal politics 
& economics, se-
nate investigations 

Ultramares case-
third party liabi-
lity standard 
established 

Income statement 
added: AIA/FRB 
"Verification of 
Financial state-
ments 

"Uniform Ac-
counting". AIA/ 
FRB, to promote 
more uniform 
accounting 

Extension of the 
British system 
of accounting & 
reporting 

Examined the BS, 
IS & Surplus 

Examined the 
accounts 

Examined the 
accounts 

Audited the 
accounts 

Examined or 
audited the book 
& accounts 

Examined or Tested 
the accounting re-
cords & other sup-
porting evidence 

Without a Detailed 
Audit of transactions 

Obtained information 
& explanations from 
officers & employees 

General Review of 
the accounting 
mehods & the 
operating & income 
account 

in our opinion 

present fairly 

accepted principles of 
accounting consistent-
ly maintained during 
the year under review 

in our opinion 

set forth 

...certify that*... 
in our opinion 
set forth 

...certify that*... 
in our opinion 
set forth 

Federal Reserve 
Board 

... certify that... 
in our opinion 
"property drawn," 
true, "correctly 
present" 

*"Certify" is more clearly related to the "plan" than the "opinion" 
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point where legislation and case law began to define the auditor s 
role [Cochrane, 1950]. 

EARLY VERSIONS OF THE AMERICAN AUDITOR'S REPORT 
(1890 TO 1916) 

While the Companies Act of 1900 and subsequent acts pre-
scribed the contents of the auditor's report for British audits, the 
lack of statutory requirements for audits in the United States 
meant that the client likely perceived that the benefits of a detailed 
audit would exceed the costs. It is not surprising then that in most 
cases the detailed audit procedure of the British accountants was 
viewed as too costly. Without the uniformity of audit objective and 
procedure, it is not surprising that the audit report was also not 
uniform. The auditors variously described their work as an audit 
or examination of the books, the accounts, or both the books and 
accounts. Assurance was expressed by stating that "we (the audi-
tors) certify that, in our opinion, the balance sheet" either "cor-
rectly sets forth;" "exhibits a true and correct view;" "accurately 
accords conditions;" "represents the true financial position;" or "is 
a true and correct transcript of the assets and liabilities appearing 
on the books." The separate responsibilities of the auditor and 
management were not explicitly addressed [Edwards, 1960], 
[Flesher, 1980], [Montgomery, 1916]. 

AN ATTEMPT AT STANDARDIZATION (1917) 
The varied expressions found in the auditor's report led to 

confusion and misunderstanding. Many shareholders believed that 
the auditor's report represented a guarantee [Flesher, 1980]. The 
Federal Trade Commission requested that the American Institute 
of Accountants (AIA) prepare a booklet entitled A Memorandum 
on Balance Sheet Audits. The Federal Reserve Board (FRB) pub-
lished it in the Federal Reserve Bulletin of April 1917 and subse-
quently reprinted it under the titles Uniform Accounting: A Tenta-
tive Proposal by the Federal Reserve Board and Approved Methods 
for the Preparation of the Balance Sheet Statements. The booklet 
suggested that the auditor's report have the following wording: 

I have audited the books and accounts of Blank and Co. 
for the period from . . . to . . . and I certify that the above 
balance sheet and statement of profit and loss have been 
made in accordance with the plan suggested and advised 
by the Federal Reserve Board and in my opinion set forth 
the financial condition of the firm at . . . [Carey, 1969]. 
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The work of the auditor is described by the brief phrase "au-
dited the books and accounts." The basis of the auditor's assur-
ance is opinion. The accuracy characteristic may be viewed as 
having two dimensions. First, the report certifies that the balance 
sheet and the statement of profit and loss (shown without support 
as one figure on the balance sheet) are in accordance with the 
suggested plan of the FRB, the first reference to an authoritative 
source for guidance in determining appropriate accounting num-
bers and disclosure. The second aspect of accuracy is that the 
statements "set forth" the financial condition of the firm, which is 
less specific than the terms "true and correct" previously used. 

Because the FRB lacked legislative authority to prescribe ac-
counting practice, diversity persisted in accounting practice and 
reporting. Later, in the 1920s, accountants began to object to 
certain deceptive accounting practices by making qualifications to 
their reports with the phrase "subject to" [Flesher, 1984]. 

THE INCOME STATEMENT GAINS PROMINENCE (1929) 
In 1929, a committee of the ALA revised and retitled the book-

let, Verification of Financial Statements, and it was published by 
the FRB. The suggested auditor's report form was as follows: 

I have examined the accounts of . . . Company for the 
period from . . . to . . . I certify that the accompanying 
balance sheet and statement of profit and loss, in my 
opinion, set forth the financial condition of the company 
a t . . . and the results of operations for the period [Carey, 
1969]. 

The terminology describing the general work of the auditor 
was changed from "audited the accounts" to "examined the ac-
counts." Regarding the basis of assurance, the auditor certified 
that an opinion was being expressed. Regarding assurance of ac-
curacy of the statements, the term "set forth" was retained from 
the previous version. Prior to 1929, the results of operations had 
been presented as a single profit or loss number. This practice was 
changed; a detailed profit or loss statement was to accompany the 
balance sheet. (The British Companies Act of 1929 also initiated 
the requirement that a detailed profit and loss statement accom-
pany the balance sheet.) [Hopkins, 1984] Although information 
from prior years was to be included with the statements, compara-
bility was not mentioned in the report. Reference to the FRB was 
dropped. 

100

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



94 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

ULTRAMARES AND THIRD PARTY LIABILITY (1931) 
The Ultramares case in 1931 increased the awareness of the 

importance of the words used in the report. The Ultramares case 
was a third party lawsuit against an accounting firm. The charge 
was negligence in the performance of an audit. The court ruled 
that, in the case of negligence, the auditor was only liable to his 
client. If the auditor's performance was proven to be gross negli-
gence or fraud, however, the auditor was responsible to third par-
ties. Following Ultramares, the Journal of Accountancy (July 1931) 
reported that "the word 'certify' which had been used for many 
years was inappropriate and should be abandoned." Its use con-
veyed that accounting data was subject to precise measurement 
and that the auditor was capable of guaranteeing exactness 
[Brasseaux, 1972]. The word "certify" was dropped from the re-
port. Clearly the omission of this term did not alter the nature of 
the assurance, which was "opinion." Additionally, the accounting 
profession hoped that the report would no longer be referred to as 
a "certificate" [Murphy, 1952]. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY — THE FIRST 
STANDARD REPORT (1934) 

In the years immediately following the 1929 stock market 
crash, the public understandably viewed the business community 
with fear and mistrust [Flesher, 1980]. Business leaders and the 
accounting profession recognized the desirability of restoring the 
public trust. With that purpose in mind, conferences began be-
tween a committee of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and 
a special committee of the AIA. In January 1933, the NYSE began 
to require annual audits by independent auditors before a corpo-
ration could be listed. In this same period of time, the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) was formed to articulate ac-
counting standards for companies that publicly traded their secu-
rities. The SEC was given the power to prescribe the form and 
content of the auditor's certificate: 

The certificate of the accountant or accountants shall be 
dated, shall be reasonably comprehensive as to the scope 
of the audit made, and shall state clearly the opinion of 
the accountant or accountants in respect to the financial 
statements of, and the accounting principles and proce-
dures followed by, the person or persons whose state-
ments are furnished . . . Nothing in this rule shall be 
construed to imply authority for the omission of any pro-
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cedure which independent public accountants would or-
dinarily employ in the course of a regular annual audit 
[Greidinger, 1939]. 

Supported by the authority of the NYSE and the SEC, the 
suggested report form of the AIA became the first standard audi-
tor's report. The SEC's rule requiring a comprehensive scope and 
clear opinion was addressed by dividing the report into two para-
graphs, one paragraph to discuss the scope or work of the audit, 
the other to discuss the opinion or assurance given by the auditor. 
The report was as follows: 

We have made an examination of the balance sheet of the 
XYZ Company as of December 31,1933, and of the state-
ment of income and surplus for the year 1933. In connec-
tion therewith, we examined or tested accounting records 
of the company and other supporting evidence and ob-
tained information and explanations from officers and 
employees of the company: we also made a general re-
view of the accounting methods and of the operating and 
income accounts for the year, but we did not make a 
detailed audit of the transactions. 

In our opinion based upon such examination, the accom-
panying balance sheet and related statement of income 
and surplus fairly present, in accordance with accepted 
principles of accounting consistently maintained by the 
company during the year under review, its position at 
December 31, 1933, and the results of its operations for 
the year [Murphy, 1952]. 

The relatively detailed description of the auditor's work was 
a significant change from previous recommendations. The 
auditor's work was described as "an examination of the balance 
sheet and the statement of income and surplus" rather than "an 
examination of the accounts." Following this general statement, 
the specific audit work was described: "examined or tested ac-
counting records and other supporting evidence," "obtained in-
formation and explanations from officers and employees", 
"made a general review of the accounting methods and of the 
operating and income accounts." The last phrase emphasized 
the limited nature of the audit work, "we did not make a de-
tailed audit of the transactions." 

The second paragraph described the basis of the auditor's as-
surance as, "In our opinion." Regarding assurance of the accuracy 
of the statements, the phrase "fairly present" replaced the phrase 
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"set forth." The term "fairly present" suggested that judgment was 
involved in the measurement and disclosure of economic events. 
The phrase "present fairly" was a much discussed alternative. 

The frame of reference for determining a fair presentation 
was noted as "accepted principles of accounting." This is the first 
reference to the profession's body of knowledge as an authoritative 
source for guidance in determining appropriate accounting num-
bers and disclosure. 

A concluding feature of the auditor's assurance was that the 
accounting principles used by the company were "consistently 
maintained," thereby asserting the comparability of the numbers 
presented in the current period with the numbers of preceding 
periods. It is logical and understandable that accounting principles 
would have to be consistently maintained to produce statements 
that were a fair presentation, but an explicit statement on this 
point added emphasis. Any material changes in accounting prin-
ciples or their application were to be disclosed. 

The AIA did not recommend a title for the report, but did 
instruct that the report be addressed to the directors of the com-
pany or the stockholders if the appointment was made by them. 

At the time of this major revision in the auditor's report, the 
business and political climate was characterized by change in the 
New Deal era. Of concern to the accounting profession was the 
creation of the SEC in 1934, with authority to prescribe account-
ing practice. In the next four years, the SEC was fully occupied 
with the development of its own organization and with the prob-
lems of the capital markets. Consequently, the Commission did 
not begin to evaluate and prescribe accounting and auditing stan-
dards. At the same time, many leaders in the accounting profes-
sion were concerned about the ramifications of having the profes-
sion directed by a government agency. Through the offices of the 
AIA, leaders of the profession approached the SEC to offer to 
assume the authority for establishing accounting standards. In 
1938, in a close vote, that proposal was approved. The Commis-
sion retained an oversight responsibility and the right to intervene 
should the AIA develop an inappropriate standard or fail to deed 
with an issue that the Commission felt needed attention [Wyatt, 
1987]. 

It is important to recognize that the Commission's action to 
transfer the responsibility for developing accounting standards 
and auditing practice to a private sector entity was not approved 
by Congress in 1938 or at any subsequent date. The arrangement 
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is therefore sustained on the basis of convenience, convention and 
acceptable performance. 

McKESSON & ROBBINS — 
THE PROFESSION'S RESPONSE (1939) 

The McKesson & Robbins Company fraudulently overstated 
assets in its audited 1937 financial statements. Despite traditional 
audit steps being followed, the fraud went undetected by the audi-
tors. This deception was created by fictitious entities and fictitious 
documentation and the deception succeeded because accounts re-
ceivable were not confirmed, inventory was not physically verified, 
bank balances were verified by company documents only, and 
intercompany sales were not examined [Greidinger, 1939]. The 
SEC and the AIA studied this case to evaluate the adequacy of 
audit procedures. 

Before the SEC's evaluation was made known, the AIA 
adopted the report, Extensions of Auditing Procedure. The purpose 
of the report was to correct the failures of past audit procedures as 
evidenced in the McKesson & Robbins case [Journal of Accoun-
tancy, 1941]. This report was formally approved in September 
1939, and was the first Statement on Auditing Procedure. The state-
ment presented a broad view of an auditor's duties and outlined 
new procedures for auditing inventories and confirming receiv-
ables. A new audit report form introduced an emphasis on inter-
nal control. 

We have examined the balance sheet of the XYZ Com-
pany as of April 30, 1939, and the statements of income 
and surplus for the fiscal year then ended, have reviewed 
the system of internal control and the accounting proce-
dures of the company and, without making a detailed 
audit of the transactions, have examined or tested ac-
counting records of the company and other supporting 
evidence, by methods and to the extent we deemed ap-
propriate. 
In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and re-
lated statements of income and surplus present fairly the 
position of the XYZ Company at April 30, 1939, in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles ap-
plied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding 
year. 
There were several changes to the work and assurance para-

graphs of the 1933 version of the report. The general work was 
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still described as an examination of the balance sheet and state-
ments of income and surplus. However, the description of the 
specific work of the audit was significantly changed. The report 
retained the phrase "examined or tested accounting records and 
other supporting evidence," but added the qualification "by meth-
ods and to the extent we deemed appropriate." This qualifying 
phrase clearly highlighted the judgment aspect of audit procedure. 
The phrase "without a detailed audit of the transactions," was 
retained from the 1933 version. 

Perhaps the most significant amendment in response to past 
audit deficiencies was the statement that the auditor has "re-
viewed the system of internal control and the accounting proce-
dures." Related to that adjustment was the deletion of the phrase 
"obtained information and explanations from officers and employ-
ees." Although auditors continued to obtain information from of-
ficers and employees in conducting an audit, the McKesson case 
had made this statement a source of embarrassment and sug-
gested a lack of independence. 

Also deleted was the phrase "general review of the accounting 
methods and of the operating and income accounts." In view of 
the other expressions, this phrase appeared redundant. 

The assurance section of the auditor's report still began "In 
our opinion," to describe the nature of the assurance. The phrase 
to describe the accuracy of the statements was changed to 
"present fairly" from "fairly present." Although this change was 
extensively debated, the significance of this change was not dis-
closed [Flesher, 1980]. The authoritative source of guidance in 
selecting accounting principles was changed to "generally ac-
cepted accounting principles" from simply "accepted accounting 
principles" suggesting that wide acceptance among accounting 
professionals was required. 

To enhance the assurance of comparability and clarify the 
application of this concept, the new version stated that the prin-
ciples were "applied on a basis consistent with that of the preced-
ing year" rather than simply "consistently maintained during the 
year under review." 

McKESSON & ROBBINS — 
THE SEC'S RESPONSE (1941) 

After the McKesson & Robbins hearings, the SEC issued a 
report that was critical of the audit conducted by Price 
Waterhouse and Co. Even though the auditor had followed gener-
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ally accepted auditing procedures, the Commission stated that the 
firm had not followed a policy of wisdom and reasonableness to 
assess the true financial condition. 

The Commission recommended that the auditor's report be 
amended to include a "clear certification" that the audit was ad-
equate for the expression of an independent opinion [Journal of 
Accountancy, 1941]. This recommendation was implemented in 
the SEC's amended regulation S-X, Rule 2.02(b), which required a 
statement of the scope of the audit and a specific disclosure of any 
generally accepted auditing procedures that had been omitted. 

The revised auditor's report altered the 1939 version by add-
ing one sentence to the scope of the paragraph. 

Our examination was made in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards applicable in the circum-
stances and included all procedures which we considered 
necessary. 
In effect, this requirement represented a minimum level of 

care in conducting an audit. An omitted auditing procedure would 
be, by definition, a substandard performance. Ironically, at this 
time there were no generally accepted auditing standards. The 
report terminology, "generally accepted auditing standards," was 
used because it was specified in Regulation S-X. It therefore be-
came a directive to the AIA to establish auditing standards. 

GENERALLY ACCEPTED AUDITING STANDARDS (1948) 
In response to the SEC's directive to establish auditing stan-

dards, a special committee of the AIA prepared a report on audit-
ing procedure, "Tentative Statement of Auditing Standards — 
Their Generally Accepted Significance and Scope." In this state-
ment, the committee defined auditing procedures as actions, au-
diting standards were defined as the quality of those actions. Ac-
cordingly, a standard would not vary according to the circum-
stance, whereas, a procedure could vary according to the circum-
stance [Stettler, 1961]. 

The "Tentative Statement" was approved at the Institute's 
1948 annual meeting and led to a revised auditor's report as speci-
fied in SAP No. 24, "Revision in Short-Form Auditor's Report or 
Certificate." The revised report was: 

We have examined the balance sheet of X Company as of 
December 31, 1948, and the related statements of income 
and surplus for the year then ended. Our examination 
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was made in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards, and accordingly included such tests of the ac-
counting records and such other auditing procedures as 
we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and 
statements of income and surplus present fairly the posi-
tion of X Company at December 31, 1948, and the results 
of operations for the year then ended, in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles applied on a ba-
sis consistent with that of the preceding year [AICPA, 
1948]. 
The general work of the auditor was still described as an ex-

amination of the balance sheet, income statement, and statement 
of surplus. The description of the specific work of the audit, "a 
review of the system of internal control," was deleted in recogni-
tion that generally accepted auditing standards included this pro-
cedure. Note that in this version, as compared to the immediately 
preceding version, the standards are always applicable, whereas, 
the procedures are those considered necessary in the circum-
stances. The recognition of generally accepted auditing standards 
defined the minimum level of auditor performance. The added 
clarification that the audit was done "without making a detailed 
audit of the transactions" was deleted. The assurance portion of 
the 1948 revised auditor's report was not changed from the word-
ing used in the preceding version. 

MINOR WORD CHANGES 
In the next 40 years, minor changes were made to the 

auditor's standard short-form report. A change occurred in 1963 
when the term "retained earnings" replaced the term "surplus" to 
convey the idea that earnings were reinvested in the firm. Recog-
nizing the importance of the source and use of funds to a firm and 
the usefulness of this information to investors, a "statement of 
changes in financial position" was required as a part of 
management's financial report. In 1971, Statement on Auditing 
Procedure No. 50 required that the auditor's examination and 
opinion include the statement of changes in financial position. In 
1987, the statement was changed to a "statement of cash flows." 

CLOSING THE EXPECTATION GAP (1988) 
The latest version of the auditor's short-form report is out-

lined in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 58, "Reports on 
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Audited Financial Statements," adopted in 1988 and effective 
January 1, 1989. Based on the 40-year longevity of the previous 
report form, one would assume that it had been very satisfac-
tory in expressing the work and assurances of the auditor. In 
fact, pressure to change the report form had existed for more 
than a decade, but "any new move to change it would, like so 
many earlier efforts, become ensnarled in an endless debate 
over words, phrases, interpretations and implications" 
[Mednick, 1986]. 

The pressures to change began in the late 1960s and early 
1970s when the litigious environment began to change the operat-
ing assumptions of the auditing profession. A rash of notorious 
bankruptcies and frauds, such as Penn Central, National Student 
Marketing, Equity Funding, and Sterling Homex, shook the 
public s confidence in the public accounting profession. The ac-
counting and auditing standards failed to deal with the deceptive 
practices that had led to these business failures. The profession, 
the SEC, and Congressional committees led by Proxmire, Moss 
and Metcalf questioned the adequacy of the auditor s report and 
the adequacy of the audit function in meeting public demands and 
expectations [Campbell, 1987]. 

In 1974, during a time of intense Congressional scrutiny, the 
AICPA appointed the Commission on Auditor s Responsibilities to: 

" . . . develop conclusions and recommendations regard-
ing the appropriate responsibilities of independent audi-
tors. It should consider whether a gap may exist between 
what the public expects or needs and what auditors can 
and should reasonably expect to accomplish. If such a 
gap does exist, it needs to be explored to determine how 
the disparity can be resolved." 

The Commission concluded in its 1978 report that a gap did 
exist, caused in part, by the auditors standard report. The Com-
mission reported that: 

"evidence abounds that communication between the 
auditor and users of his work — especially through the 
auditor's standard report — is unsatisfactory . . . Re-
cent research suggests that many users misunderstand 
the auditor's role and responsibility, and the present 
auditor's report only adds to the confusion. Users are 
unaware of the limitations of the audit function and are 
confused about the distinction between the responsi-
bilities of management and those of the auditor" 
[AICPA, 1978]. 
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A further dimension to the gap was the expectation that an 
audit would detect any fraud or error and that the auditor s re-
sponsibility also included an interpretative role, assessing the vi-
ability and profitability of the firm audited. 

The Committee noted that the standard report intended to 
convey several separate messages, some explicitly and others in-
ferred. It observed that: 

"an auditor s report should state its messages explicitly 
and not rely on users' inferences . . . the auditor's report 
should be clear that technical elements are involved in 
the audit function and should also clearly describe the 
work of the auditor and his findings and avoid unclear 
technical terminology concerning details." 
A new report form was suggested by the Committee. It was an 

expansion beyond the traditional two paragraph form, to a series 
of paragraphs each describing a major element of the audit func-
tion as applicable in the specific circumstances of the particular 
client. The descriptions were to clarify the respective responsibili-
ties of the auditor and management and the limitations of an 
audit. Furthermore, the Committee suggested that the auditor 
should evaluate the cumulative effect of the management-selected 
accounting principles and determine that the financial statements 
taken as a whole are not biased or misleading. Also, the Commit-
tee believed that the word "consistency" could be eliminated, since 
disclosure rules made reporting on consistency management's re-
sponsibility. And it proposed that the "subject to" qualification for 
material uncertainties should be eliminated. The uncertainty 
should instead be disclosed in a note which provided users with 
enough information to make their own evaluation of the 
uncertainty's potential effect. Finally, the Committee recom-
mended that the word "independent" be used in the title to the 
report and that the word "audit" replace the word "examined" as 
the description of the general work of the auditor. 

The report of the Committee on Auditor's Responsibilities 
came at a critical time, because Congress, the SEC, and the profes-
sion were debating many of the issues addressed in the report. The 
Committee's proposals provided significant direction for the pro-
fession. Indeed, the general directive regarding how the report 
should be worded, and most of the recommendations noted above, 
became the basis for the next proposal and ultimately SAS No. 58. 

Based on the report of the Committee on Auditor's Responsi-
bilities, the Auditing Standards Board issued an exposure draft 
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proposing a new standard auditors report in 1980. The proposal 
would have: (1) added the word "independent" to the title; (2) 
stated that the financial statements were the representations of 
management; (3) replaced the word "examined" with the word 
"audited"; and (4) deleted the word "fairly" from the opinion. Fol-
lowing the comment period, the proposal was withdrawn. One 
explanation for the withdrawal was that many perceived that the 
proposed changes were designed to reduce auditor responsibility; 
the total effect was "not seen as an improvement" for financial 
statement users. 

In the several years that followed, further Congressional inves-
tigations, investigations by the profession, litigation reflecting a 
greater willingness to hold professionals accountable, regulatory 
agency pressures, and a growing awareness of the widening expec-
tation gap led to the adoption of SAS No. 58, "Reports on Audited 
Financial Statements." This new auditor's standard report is in-
tended to make a contribution to bridging the expectation gap by 
being more comprehensive in describing the responsibilities, 
work, and assurance of the auditor. Accordingly, the statement 
was expanded to three paragraphs to address each of these issues. 
The recommended report form is: 

Independent Auditors Report 
We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of X 
Company as of December 31, 19XX, and the related state-
ments of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for 
the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our re-
sponsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable as-
surance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. An audit also in-
cludes assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We be-
lieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
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tion of X Company as of [at] December 31, 19XX, and 
the results of operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in conformity with generally accepted ac-
counting principles. 
The changes in this new report form reflect the development 

of ideas and concerns for the public's understanding of the work 
of the auditor. The title expresses the cornerstone concept of the 
profession — independence. The beginning paragraph defining the 
responsibilities of the auditor and of the management also has no 
precedent in previous versions. In the past, it has been assumed 
that the public has understood the respective roles of management 
and the independent auditor. Now that concept is explicitly stated 

In the second paragraph, which describes the work of the 
auditor, several historically established concepts are reworded and 
several concepts that have never been expressed in the auditor's 
report are introduced. The general procedures are termed an "au-
dit" of the financial statements rather than an "examination" as it 
was termed for the past 50 years. The distinction may be too 
subtle for many readers, yet the balance of the paragraph makes it 
apparent that an audit is a broader evaluation process than an 
examination. Regarding the specific procedures, the new report 
states that the audit was conducted according to GAAS, but "au-
diting procedures" are not mentioned as in the 1948 version. Since 
the standards require procedures deemed necessary, reference to 
the procedures would be redundant. 

The new report establishes a minimum objective for the audit, 
"reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement." This expression explicitly recognizes the 
statement user's concern regarding misstatement of information 
(intentional and unintentional), and implies that immaterial errors 
may possibly not be identified in the audit process. 

The report's statement that "An audit includes examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
. . .," parallels the expression used since 1934 describing the "tests 
of the accounting records." The obvious difference is that the new 
version uses the terms "amounts and disclosures," which is per-
haps more explicit than the term "records," and which includes 
disclosures that are a part of external reports. 

The specific work of the audit is also described as "assessing 
the accounting principles and significant estimates." The phrase, 
"assessing the accounting principles," parallels an expression last 
used in the 1934 version of the report in which a "general review 
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of the accounting methods" was described. A reference to "signifi-
cant estimates" is new to the auditor's report. It discloses that a 
review of estimates is a part of the audit process, and it also high-
lights the often forgotten premise that accounting numbers in-
volve subjectivity and judgment. 

Another new expression in the second paragraph concerns 
"evaluating the overall financial statement presentation." This is a 
procedure that auditors already were doing. Furthermore, one 
could interpret the phrase "present fairly" in the opinion or assur-
ance paragraph to mean that an overall evaluation of the financial 
statements has been made. The new report, however, makes this 
point more explicit. 

A concluding statement, also new to the second paragraph, 
states the implicit assumption of the past report versions that the 
audit work has been sufficient to provide a "reasonable basis for 
an opinion." 

Significant changes were also made in the third paragraph in 
the description of the auditor's assurance. The basis for the 
auditor's report is still "opinion," perhaps the most enduring ex-
pression in the report. The degree of accuracy represented for the 
financial statements is modified from "present fairly" to "present 
fairly in all material respects." This qualification reemphasizes the 
expression in the second paragraph that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatements. 

A second change in the assurance paragraph of the report is 
the elimination of the reference to the consistent application of 
accounting principles. Such reference is required only when there 
is a lack of consistency. The reference to consistency when ac-
counting principles have been applied consistently was unneces-
sary after the adoption of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 
20, Accounting Changes [Spires, 1990]. Further, SAS No. 58, re-
quires that when there is a departure from consistent application 
of GAAP, an additional explanatory paragraph be appended to the 
three paragraph audit report. 

A few overall impressions can be developed from the new 
report form. First, the report expresses some concepts that had 
been only implicit assumptions of past versions, or that needed 
revitalized wording. Second, the report is worded to communicate 
the nature of an audit by using a variety of terms and repetition. 
Thus, rather than relying only on the terms "examination and 
tests" to convey the nature of the auditor's work, the terms "audit, 
planning, examination, testing, assessing, and evaluating" are 
used. These terms have some overlap of meaning, and individually 
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there are subtle differences of meaning; collectively, they empha-
size that audit work is technical and subjective. The terms "rea-
sonable" and "opinion" are each used twice to emphasize the judg-
ment element of the audit and the basis of the auditor's assurance. 
Also, the concept that the audit may not reveal immaterial mis-
statements is noted twice in the report. A third point concerns 
fraud detection. It is understood that misstatement can result 
from intentional (fraud) or unintentional actions. Although the 
accounting profession may have assumed that the public interest 
had shifted as early as the 1930s from prevention or detection of 
error or fraud to the "fair presentation" of financial statements 
[Carey, 1973], the public has continued to view fraud detection as 
an important audit function. It is clear that the profession is rec-
ognizing the public concern that fraud detection should be a part 
of the auditor's role. 

FUTURE CHANGES TO THE AUDITOR'S REPORT 
The same environment that precipitated the new, "expectation 

gap" SASs has continued into the 1990s, and will probably be 
sustained for much of this decade. The savings and loan bailout 
and bank failures will take years to manage and may alone sustain 
public skepticism of the system of auditing, oversight and regula-
tion that allowed this condition to develop. Business failures are 
also unabated, such as the failures of many insurance companies, 
Executive Life Insurance being perhaps the most spectacular ex-
ample. These failures and others have resulted in injured parties 
and lawsuits, some of which continue to challenge the adequacy of 
the auditing and reporting function. 

In this environment, future changes to the auditor's report are 
likely. The new report has made some significant wording changes 
as noted above, however, there may be additional opportunities to 
explain the work and assurances of the auditor. For example, 
words or phrases that may require more detailed explanation are 
(1) "audit" (distinguishing an audit from an examination or re-
view), (2) "test basis," (3) "reasonable assurance," (4) "free of ma-
terial misstatement," (5) "assessing accounting principles" (Is this 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting principle or just 
that the principle used is a generally accepted accounting prin-
ciple?), (6) "significant estimates," (7) "overall financial state-
ments," (8) "present fairly," and (9) "all material respects." These 
terms are candidates for restatement or elaboration because they 
either (1) have specific professional meaning that needs to be un-
derstood by the constituency, (2) have been debated and changed 
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before, and therefore, may be debated and changed again, or (3) 
suggest the subjective nature of the process which may require 
explanation. 

Substantive changes to the auditor s report may result from 
expanding management's reporting requirements to a more com-
prehensive reporting structure. Fifteen years ago, the Accounting 
Objectives Study Group (Trueblood Commission) broadly defined 
management accountability to include providing information for 
stewardship and decision making that would not fit into the his-
torical financial statement and footnote structure. Examples of 
management reports that would fit into a more comprehensive 
reporting structure are: (1) a report on the internal control struc-
ture, (2) a report on compliance with contracts and applicable 
laws and regulations, (3) a report on the efficient and economical 
use of resources, (4) a report on the progress made in achieving 
goals and objectives, (5) a report summarizing activities designed 
to deter fraud [Pavlock, 1990], and (6) a report on forecasts and 
projections. 

Management reports that are not a part of the traditional 
financial statement disclosures will not become a standard audit 
disclosure due to market factors. A regulatory authority, princi-
pally the SEC, must require that management provide reports of a 
nontraditional nature. The next step would be the development of 
accountability standards and the extension of the attest function. 

An example of this process is management's report on inter-
nal control. For more than a decade auditors, regulators, and leg-
islators have advocated a report on internal control as a vital man-
agement accountability. Managers of corporations have not re-
sponded by voluntarily reporting on internal controls, and the ac-
counting profession has not had authority to require such a re-
port. Adoption of the SEC's 1988 rule proposal, "Report of 
Management's Responsibilities," will be necessary before it be-
comes a standard report. If the attest function is extended to add 
credibility to this management report, the standard audit report 
will include this change in auditor performance [Solomon, 1990]. 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
The accounting profession has historically communicated the 

nature of its audit work to the public in a relatively brief state-
ment. The auditor's standard short form report developed its form 
originally from the practice in the British system. One critical ele-
ment, authority, was missing. The audit in the United States was 
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not required by the capital markets or by law. The events of the 
1929 stock market crash and the depression years of the 1930s 
significantly altered the economic, social, and political environ-
ment of the accounting profession and auditing practice. Legisla-
tion and stock exchanges began to require audits, and accounting 
practice began to establish standards. The standard short form 
report was developed and subsequently expanded to describe the 
work and assurance of the auditor. Since the last version of the 
report in 1948, attention has focused on the adequacy of the audit-
ing function as it is practiced and described in the auditor's report. 
This attention has been manifested in Congressional investiga-
tions, investigations directed by the profession, the SEC's over-
sight activities, legislation, and litigation. These events have re-
vealed the significant disparity between what the public seems to 
expect from an audit, on the one hand, and what auditors have 
believed could reasonably be accomplished in an audit and were 
willing to represent in the audit report, on the other hand. The 
users of audit reports have remained steadfast in the expectation 
that the auditors work provided greater assurance than auditors 
believed that they were representing. If this disparity, commonly 
referred to as "the expectations gap," were to be closed or at least 
reduced, the accounting profession needed to take the initiative. 

In addressing the challenge of closing the gap, the accounting 
profession has rewritten the standard short form audit report. Al-
though the icon of brevity was not abandoned, the report is the 
most significant modification and expansion of terms to describe 
the responsibilities, work, and assurances of the auditor since 
1934. Concepts that had been assumed or were implied in the old 
version of the report were explicitly stated, and concepts that had 
always been expressed were given renewed expression and empha-
sis. 

The new audit report is not simply reflective of semantic 
changes, but a new effort to describe the auditor's work. The new 
report also describes substantive changes that clearly indicate that 
the accounting profession is not waiting for the expectations of the 
public to change. In particular, the report recognizes the impor-
tance that the public places on fraud detection. Other "expectation 
gap" SAS's (No. 53, No. 54, No. 55) also reflect acknowledgment of 
the auditor's responsibility to detect material misstatement in the 
financial statements of management. 

Further evidence that public expectations are gaining recogni-
tion may be found in the requirements of SAS No. 59, an expecta-
tion gap statement, which extends the auditor's work beyond the 

115

et al.: Accounting Historians Journal, 1991, Vol. 18, no. 2

Published by eGrove, 1991



Olson and Wootton: Substance and Semantics in Auditor's Standard Report 109 

traditional scope of responsibility by requiring a report on any 
uncertainties about an entity s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. This new standard is, in effect, acquiescing to the criticism 
that auditors have been too concerned about the numbers re-
ported and not about what they mean. The public would like more 
interpretation of the financial data [Olson, 1977]. 

If the public's needs and expectations continue to be accom-
modated, additional management accountabilities will be re-
ported. Because of the unique qualities of independence and cred-
ibility, the auditor will have an opportunity to expand the audit 
function and reporting, even to management accountabilities that 
do not fit into the traditional historical financial statement and 
footnote structure. Dicksee [1915], perhaps the most influential 
nineteenth century accountant, expressed a principle for the devel-
opment of the profession that is as relevant today as it was 75 
years ago. 

If it should be thought that the standard that I have 
throughout advocated is somewhat Utopian in character, 
and unattainable in practice, I can only reply t h a t . . . an 
incomplete investigation seems worse than useless, and I 
am convinced that it is only by voluntarily accepting, and 
even increasing, the responsibilities of our position that 
we can hope to maintain and to increase the large mea-
sure of public confidence we at present enjoy. 
The profession must maintain and increase public confidence 

by eliminating the expectations gap. The new auditor's report is a 
significant initiative that will be carefully observed to see if it will 
begin to close the gap. 
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Abstract: The first known example of a consolidated balance sheet 
published by a British company was made available to shareholders of 
the Pearson and Knowles Coal and Iron Company Ltd. in 1910. This 
paper examines the reasons for this accounting change and investi-
gates the source of the necessary expertise. The conclusion reached is 
that, in common with many other accounting innovations, evolution-
ary change occurred as the result of modifications to an existing busi-
ness practice. 

The process of change in accounting is a topic of both interest 
and importance; however, as a number of writers have pointed 
out, it remains a neglected area requiring further research 
[Hopwood, 1987; Previts, Parker and Coffman, 1990]. Change may 
come about as the result of an invention (revolutionary change) or 
the gradual development of a new technique as the result of nu-
merous minor modifications to an existing practice (evolutionary 
change). The more widespread use of the new method may occur, 
in turn, either voluntarily or as the result of regulation. Parker 
[1977] has identified the following as important 'change agents': 
textbooks, teachers, companies, government agencies, accounting 
organizations, accountants and businessmen.1 

The purpose of this paper is to explore the process of account-
ing change by focusing on the decision made by the directors of 
the Pearson and Knowles Coal and Iron Co. Ltd. (PK Ltd.), in 
1910, to publish a consolidated balance sheet. To achieve this ob-
jective, the paper: 

1Parker was focusing principally on the international diffusion of accounting 
thought and practice, and his nomenclature has been amended and extended to 
cover intranational dissemination. 
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1. outlines relevant developments in Britain and parallel 
events in the United States as a background to the study; 

2. examines the circumstances at PK Ltd. leading to the deci-
sion to publish a consolidated balance sheet; 

3. analyzes the consolidation procedures employed and com-
pares them with subsequent British practice; and 

4. investigates the sources of the idea to publish a consoli-
dated balance sheet and the associated technical expertise. 

The study is based on the material contained in the 
company's archive2 evaluated by reference to available literature 
on the development of consolidated accounting practice. 

BACKGROUND DEVELOPMENTS 
The publication of a consolidated balance sheet by PK Ltd., 

starting in 1910, is noted by Edwards and Webb [1984, p. 38]. The 
years that followed saw experimentation in Britain with a range of 
different consolidation techniques and also other methods of 
group accounting. Following the passage of the Companies Act of 
1948, the acquisition (purchase) method of consolidation became 
widely used by British holding companies, and was widely 
thought to be the only method permitted under the provisions of 
the Act. The detailed procedures to be followed were spelled out, 
much later, by Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 14 
(1978), while the decision in Shearer v. Bercain (1980) confirmed 
suspicions that the use of the merger (pooling of interests) 
method3 by a small minority of companies contravened the Com-
panies Act 1948. The Companies Act 1981 legitimized use of the 
merger method' of consolidation in Britain, and the procedures to 
be followed are now detailed in Statement of Standard Accounting 
Practice 23 (1985) and the Companies Act 1989. These permit, but 
do not oblige, holding companies to adopt merger accounting 
where certain conditions are met. These are designed to ensure 
that the merger represents a genuine "pooling of interests" — the 
shareholders of the merging companies continuing as joint share-
holders in the combined enterprise — with a strictly limited 
amount of resources leaving the group. 

2The internal accounting records and correspondence of the Pearson and 
Knowles Coal and Iron Co. Ltd. are located in the British Steel Corporation 
North-western Regional Records Centre, Shotton Works, Deeside, Clwyd, loca-
tion Nos. 3248 and 9536. 

T h e differences between the acquisition and merger methods are discussed 
in the section headed 'Distributable Profits'. 
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Corresponding developments occurred earlier in the United 
States and progressed at a faster pace.4 The first set of consoli-
dated accounts is thought to have been prepared for the American 
Cotton Oil Trust in 1866 [Previts and Merino, 1979, p. 85], but it is 
the published accounts of the U.S. Steel Corporation for 1902 [re-
produced in Previts and Merino, 1979, pp. 178-9]5 that have re-
ceived close attention from accounting historians. The British ac-
countant Arthur Lowes Dickinson was put in charge of Price, 
Waterhouse's American operations in 1901 (their first office had 
been opened in New York in 1890) and "working with W. J. Fil-
bert, controller of United States Steel, developed consolidated 
theory based on the entity premise" [Previts and Merino, 1979, p. 
177]. Together with other British and American accountants, 
Dickinson worked hard to disseminate knowledge concerning the 
theory and practice of consolidated accounts in a series of lectures 
delivered and through books and articles published between 1904-
12 [Walker, 1978, pp. 148-52; Edwards and Webb, 1984, p. 35].6 

Historians' preoccupations with early events at U.S. Steel ap-
pears entirely justified, judging from Dickinson's own comparison, 
made in 1924, of contemporary financial reporting practices 
among British and American companies. In his view, there were 
two major differences among the accounting practices of steel 
companies. First the comprehensive financial reporting practices 
introduced by the U.S. Steel Corporation had been followed by 
"other steel companies and to some extent by other large 
manufacturing companies" [1924, p. 475]. Second, the publication 
of consolidated accounts where "American companies are much 
in advance" of their British counterparts [1924, p. 477]. 

Further light is thrown on early developments in the United 
States by Sir Gilbert Garnsey, who is likely to have benefited from 
discussions with Dickinson at Price, Waterhouse where they were 

4 T h e development of consolidated accounts in the United States and the 
reason for their adoption by the United States Steel Corporation have been exam-
ined by Walker [1978, pp. 139-54] while Edwards and Webb [1984] have explored 
reasons for the slower adoption of this procedure in the United Kingdom. 

5Younkins et al. [1984, pp. 252-3] have drawn attention to the fact that the 
advanced form and content of the financial statement adopted enabled the corpo-
ration to continue publishing accounts in substantially the same manner until 
1938. 

6For further details of Dickinson's contribution to accounting developments 
see, for examples, Edwards [1985] Previts [1975] and Walker [1978, particularly 
pp. 141-52]. 
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partners from 1913, when Garnsey was admitted to partnership, 
through to 1923 when Dickinson retired. Garnsey [1923, p. 54] 
drew attention to institutional support for the preparation of con-
solidated statements provided by the New York Stock Exchange, 
which "laid special stress on the necessity of filing consolidated 
balance sheets," and the Federal Reserve Board, which took the 
view that applications for credit should be supported by a consoli-
dated statement. Legal recognition of the consolidation principle 
was first contained in the federal tax legislation, which required 
consolidated returns of net income and invested capital beginning 
in 1917. Garnsey [1923, p. 54] and Dickinson [1924, p. 477] agreed 
that the preparation of consolidated accounts was "almost univer-
sal" practice, while Dickinson further stated that this had been the 
situation "for more than fifteen years past." 

It is interesting to note that, in the decades that followed, 
British consolidated accounting practices continued to follow de-
velopments in the United States. According to Lee, by the 1940s 
American companies generally used the acquisition (purchase) 
method, i.e. the method then given implicit approval by the Com-
panies Act of 1948, and described in detail in the "1949 Notes" 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales. By the time the British profession began to give serious 
consideration to use of the merger (pooling) method, in the early 
1970s, American companies had already largely made this change 
[Lee, 1986, p. 394]. 

THE DISCLOSURE DECISION 
PK Ltd. was incorporated to take over the assets and business 

activities of three existing enterprises from July 1, 1873. The 
company's shares were first quoted on the London Stock Ex-
change in 1900 and, during the first two decades of the present 
century, PK Ltd. acquired the entire share capital of Rylands 
Brothers Ltd. (RB Ltd.) and the Wigan Junction Colliery Co. Ltd.; 
also £210,000 of the £218,600 share capital of the Moss Hall Coal 
Co. Ltd., while the Partington Steel & Iron Co. Ltd., was incorpo-
rated as a wholly owned subsidiary in 1910. PK Ltd. became a 
subsidiary of Sir W.G. Armstrong Whitworth & Co. Ltd. in 1920. 
Ten years later — at a time when the British steel industry was at 
a particularly low ebb — the steel making activities of PK Ltd. 
were merged with those of its principal competitor in South 
Lancashire, the Wigan Coal and Iron Co. Ltd., to form the 
Lancashire Steel Corporation Ltd. 
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Peter and John Rylands were directors of one of the three 
companies that came together to form PK Ltd. in 1873. They then 
became founder members of PK Ltd.'s board of directors and, 
together with Thomas Glazebrook Rylands, held 2,172 shares, rep-
resenting 13.3% of the company's initial share capital. The three 
brothers were, at this time, also in partnership under the name 
Rylands Brothers (subsequently incorporated with limited liability 
in 1874) as manufacturers of steel wire. This firm was PK Ltd.'s 
"largest and most important customer" [Bleckly, p. 31] taking 20% 
of the entire production of the iron works. 

The brothers naturally had a personal interest in the smooth 
running of PK Ltd., but problems arose following the death of 
John Rylands in 1898 and Thomas Glazebrook Rylands soon after. 
Their property was transferred into trust, but with two of PK 
Ltd.'s directors — John J. Bleckly and the remaining Rylands 
brother — acting as trustees, a possible conflict of interest arose. 
The directors of PK Ltd. therefore decided that the only sensible 
solution was to acquire the shares from the trustees or else "run 
the risk of losing that part of the company's trade that depended 
upon RB Ltd.'s orders" [Bleckly, p. 32]. Bleckly states that "after 
very difficult, intricate and protracted negotiations — to which, as 
there were so many interests involved, the Court of Chancery had 
to be made a party and had to consent — the transaction was 
finally completed in 1902." 

The acquisition was made at par value with payment spread 
over the period 1902-06. Following completion of this transaction, 
the directors gave consideration to the possibility of including the 
assets and liabilities of RB Ltd. in the published balance sheet of 
PK Ltd. at June 30, 1907. A "joint" balance sheet for the two 
undertakings and the directors' report thereon were printed, ready 
for circulation to shareholders, and the scheme was explained in 
the draft directors' report as follows: "In order to make clear to the 
Shareholders the exact position of the Company at the present 
time, the Directors have decided to include the assets, liabilities 
and reserves of Rylands Brothers in this year's Balance Sheet." 

The directors were in some doubt, however, about whether 
the publication of a joint statement fully satisfied their contractual 
obligation to shareholders under article 152 of the company's con-
stitution, which stipulated that "A balance sheet shall be made out 
in every year and laid before the company in general meeting and 
such balance sheet shall contain a summary of the property and 
liabilities of the company." The problem, as they saw it, was that 
the "joint" balance sheet was not confined to the properly and 
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liabilities of the company. Accordingly, the directors decided that 
"for the purpose of meeting any possible objection that this course 
does not strictly conform to the Articles of Association, a Resolu-
tion will be moved at the General Metting to confirm the Direc-
tors' action." The auditors Blease & Sons, chartered accountants, 
took no apparent exception to the proposed course of action. Their 
draft report merely explained that "The above balance sheet incor-
porates the assets and liabilities of Rylands Brothers Limited as 
certified by their auditors, Messrs. Stead, Taylor & Stead, Char-
tered Accountants, of Liverpool." The directors abandoned their 
plan and, instead, continued for a while to print and circulate only 
a legal entity-based balance sheet (referred to below as "the legal 
balance sheet"). 

Three years later the company included a consolidated bal-
ance sheet in a circular announcing to members an extraordinary 
general meeting called to sanction amendments to the company's 
constitution and approve a £140,000 share issue. The circular, 
which contained a "General Balance Sheet Incorporating the As-
sets and Liabilities of Rylands Bros. Ltd.," drew attention to an 
important limitation on the usefulness of the legal balance sheet, 
namely that it failed to give a proper indication of the value of the 
company's investments. In the Board's view, "the surplus value of 
its assets over and above the price paid by the PK Co. for its shares 
now represents an internal reserve of at least £140,000 [the 
amount Rylands Brothers, Ltd.'s undistributed profit], no part of 
which is shown by the PK annual Balance Sheet." 

The initial draft of the 1910 circular did not include a consoli-
dated balance sheet, and one was inserted on the insistence of the 
company's chairman, J.S. Harmood Banner,7 who argued that a 
'joint balance sheet' might help clarify the position. The chairman 
was senior partner of Harmood Banner & Son, chartered accoun-
tants, but the proposal was not his brainchild. In a letter to a 
fellow director, John J. Bleckly, Harmood Banner admits that "It 
[the joint balance sheet] was your suggestion at one time [1907], 
and I threw cold water upon it, but I think for the purpose of this 
circular a combined account might be useful." 

7J. S. Harmood Banner was a highly successful professional accountant who 
was president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 
1904-5. He was the son-in-law of Thomas Knowles, one of the two founders of 
Pearson and Knowles and on Knowles's death in 1884, he joined the board, as 
executor, to look after the family interest. He became chairman in 1899 [Daven-
port-Hines, 1985]. 
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Encouraged by this change of heart, Bleckly next explored the 
possibility of framing the annual balance sheet along similar lines. 
The plan is outlined in a letter, to A. Norman Hill of Hill, 
Dickinson & Co., solicitors, dated June 22, 1910, which acknowl-
edged a perceived obstacle to the publication of a consolidated 
balance sheet. 

Objection has been raised that the two Companies are 
legally distinct, and that the creditors of one in fact have 
no claim on the assets of the other, and circumstances 
may arise in case of winding up which would make this 
distinction of importance. 
Having raised this objection, Bleckly answers it in the follow-

ing terms. 
Of course, it is conceivable that the Assets of the subsid-
iary Company might be inadequate to discharge its li-
abilities, and in that case there would be no claim on the 
Assets of the Parent Company to make good any such 
deficiency. The converse could hardly happen, as in any 
liquidation of the PK Company, the whole of the surplus 
Assets of Rylands Brothers Limited, would belong to the 
PK Co's Estate, and be available for their creditors. The 
PK Balance sheet after all is only addressed to its own 
Shareholders and Creditors, and not to those of Rylands 
Brothers Limited, at all, who trust that Company on its 
own merits alone, and not because of its connection with 
PK Co. 

Bleckly therefore inquired of Hill whether there was "any legal 
force in this objection under present conditions, and if so, how 
can it be got over." According to Hill (letter dated June 23), "for 
the reasons to which you refer, your Official Balance Sheet . . . 
called for under Articles 152 and 153 and returned to Somerset 
House" (where it was made available for public scrutiny) should 
include only the assets and liabilities of PK Ltd. However, Hill 
acknowledged the fact that there would be no objection to pub-
lishing a consolidated balance sheet in addition to the legal bal-
ance sheet, and made the following suggestion: 

If you adopt this course then the Official Balance Sheet 
could be published in a very condensed form and the 
supplementary Balance Sheet could I think, by the use of 
appropriate type, be made for all business purposes the 
Balance Sheet of the joint undertaking. 
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The directors rejected Hill's advice and instead presented to share-
holders a single statement, headed "Consolidated Balance Sheet, 
30th June 1910. Incorporating Assets and Liabilities of Rylands 
Brothers Limited." 

It is reasonable to assume that the directors concluded that 
no one was likely to object to what might have been construed as a 
technical infringement of the company's articles and prevailing 
company law. The directors of some companies adopted a simi-
larly cavalier approach concerning the format of balance sheets 
filed under the Companies Act 1908, s.26(3), and such consoli-
dated statements were accepted by the Registrar of Companies 
[Garnsey, 1923, p. 17].8 

The directors' decision to publish a consolidated balance 
sheet is explained in their report, to the 1910 annual general meet-
ing, as follows: 

A circular accompanies this Report, explaining a proposal 
of the Directors, to which great importance is attached, 
that will require the issue of the remainder of the Share 
Capital of the Company. With a view of giving informa-
tion regarding the effect on the value of the Company's 
property and its resources, of its investment in Rylands 
Brothers Limited — which now forms an important part 
of the whole undertaking — it is considered desirable to 
present a combined balance sheet incorporating the as-
sets and liabilities of Rylands Brothers' business so as to 
show the position of the company as a whole. The bal-
ance sheet, therefore, is now submitted with the concur-
rence of the auditors on this basis. 

The proposal' involved the incorporation of the Partington 
Steel & Iron Co. Ltd. to supply RB Ltd. with semi-finished steel for 
its products. Based on the assumption that investors take note of 
published financial information when making investment deci-
sions, it is reasonable to conclude that the relatively stronger fi-
nancial position displayed in the consolidated balance sheet was 
designed to improve the attractiveness of the planned share issue. 
The share issue was, indeed, a success, and the chairman an-
nounced to the 1911 AGM that the new development had helped 
create a 'completely self-contained' vertically integrated group of 

8It may well be that the accounts filed by PK Ltd. were the first example of 
this treatment, though this cannot be confirmed as it has proved impossible to 
trace the Registrar of Companies file on PK Ltd. amongst the records of defunct 
companies deposited at the Public Records Office in London. 
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companies. Creation of the new company comprised the 'largest 
single investment project in the Edwardian steel industry," with 
production soon running at "300 tons weekly of billets, rails, joists 
and sections" [Davenport-Hines, 1985, p. 45]. 

The company continued to publish a balance sheet incorpo-
rating the activities of RB Ltd. but not PK Ltd.'s other subsidiaries, 
until 1927. For that year and for 1926, the directors made the 
additional voluntary decision to present to PK Ltd.'s shareholders 
the balance sheet of the Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd., which 
by this time was a far larger concern than even RB Ltd. The re-
sults of the Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. were never consoli-
dated, however, and following implementation of a Scheme of 
Arrangement dated July 12, 1928, the directors of PK Ltd. reverted 
to the practice of publishing only the legal balance sheet.9 

CONSOLIDATION PROCEDURES 
The mechanics of the consolidation exercise will be described 

using the consolidated balance sheet published at June 30, 1910 
(Table 1), although the procedures used when preparing the un-
published balance sheet in 1907 were little different. The proce-
dures will be compared with current British practice, not for the 
purpose of criticism, which would be unfair, but to provide a 
yardstick for discussion and analysis. 

To help understand the significance of these adjustments, it is 
necessary to say a few words about the nature of PK Ltd.'s two 
published documents — the director's report and balance sheet — 
and the relationship between them. The balance sheet disclosed an 
interim position, giving financial effect to transactions undertaken 
during the year, but not the appropriations of profit recommended 
by the directors for approval at the annual general meeting. The 
narrative contained in the director's report typically started with a 
statement of the profit brought forward, the profit reported for the 
year and the interim dividend already paid out. (This merely re-
peated items shown on the face of the balance sheet.) The direc-
tors report then moved on to outline the recommended appropria-
tions of profit and to identify the net balance of retained profit to 

"The fact is that there was little purpose in PK Ltd. publishing a consolidated 
balance sheet after 1920 when it became a wholly owned subsidiary of Sir W. G. 
Armstrong Whitworth and Co. Ltd. Armstrong Whitworth Security Company 
Ltd., the parent of Sir W. G. Armstrong Whitworth & Co. Ltd., commenced the 
practice of publishing a consolidated balance sheet in 1929. 
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be carried forward. Following approval at the annual general 
meeting, the appropriations were recorded in the books and the 
net figure carried forward was shown as the opening balance in 
the following year's balance sheet. 

Distributable Profits: As noted earlier, two alternative methods 
of consolidation which have been the subject of discussion and 
practical application, in Britain and elsewhere, are the "acquisi-
tion method" and the "merger method." The crucial difference 
between them concerns the treatment of profits earned by the 
subsidiary prior to the date of takeover. Under the acquisition 
method, pre-acquisition profits of the subsidiary are capitalized on 
the grounds that they "belong" to the former shareholders of the 
subsidiary who have received their value as part of the purchase 
price. Under the merger method, pre-acquisition profits remain 
available for distribution on the grounds that the subsidiary's 
former shareholders continue as joint investors in the enlarged 
group. 

The shares in RB Ltd. were purchased for cash and, applying 
the above rationale, the acquisition method would today be con-
sidered appropriate. The company never, in fact, made any dis-
tinction between pre and post acquisition profits, i.e., the entire 
profits and reserves of RB Ltd. were aggregated with those of PK 
Ltd. when preparing the consolidated balance sheet (see Table 1). 
The remote possibility that RB Ltd. had no profits at the acquisi-
tion date has been explored; there were indeed profits which were 
subsequently transferred to PK Ltd. in the form of dividends and 
credited to the latter company's profits and loss account. 

Cost of Control: In Britain, the difference, if any, between the 
price paid for shares and their fair value or book value, is today 
dealt with by entries in the consolidated balance sheet as goodwill/ 
capital reserve on consolidation (acquisition accounting) or as a 
capitalization of profits/merger reserve (merger accounting). 

The directors minute book shows that, following the pro-
tracted negotiations, shares in RB Ltd. were purchased at their 
nominal value of £25 per share, payable in the following install-
ments: for the 3,200 ordinary shares, £12.10.0 (£40,000) initially 
and five further annual installments of £2.10.0 (£8,000) commenc-
ing June 30, 1902; and for the 1,600 preference shares, five equal 
annual installments of £5 (£8,000) commencing June 30, 1902. 
Interest was payable at 4% per annum on the ordinary shares and 
5% per annum on the preference shares to be paid from June 30, 
1901 on any amounts remaining outstanding. The directors' report 
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for 1907 reports that "the purchase of the shares of Rylands Bros. 
Ltd. mentioned in the directors' report in 1902, has now been 
completed, and the whole of the business transferred to this com-
pany." 

Table 1 shows the capital of RB Ltd. at £120,000, made up of 
preference shares £40,000 and ordinary shares £80,000. The price 
paid by PK Ltd. is included in the reserve fund investment account 
at £120,000. These two amounts cancelled out neatly on consolida-
tion (Journal entry A), giving rise to neither a debit nor credit 
balance requiring separate statement in the consolidated balance 
sheet. 

Uniformity: The considerable up-turn in PK Ltd.'s profitabil-
ity, associated with the general improvement in trading conditions 
throughout the industry, enabled the directors to introduce, in 
1905, the policy of writing-off all expenditure on plant and ma-
chinery against profit for the year, "so the plant and machinery 
account was practically closed from 1905 onwards" [Bleckly, p. 
45]. Each year additions were capitalized and recorded in the bal-
ance sheet, while the directors' report contained a recommenda-
tion for the amounts involved to be written-off against reported 
profit.10 The directors of RB Ltd., by way of contrast, wrote off 
capital expenditure before striking the balances for profit and 
fixed assets reported on the face of the draft balance sheet. The 
function of journal entry B is, therefore, to write-back the capital 
expenditure of RB Ltd. for the purpose of preparing the consoli-
dated balance sheet. In line with the previous practice of PK Ltd. 
the combined capital expenditure for the year of each company, 
amounting to £18,125.17.0, appeared as a recommended appro-
priation of profit in the directors report for 1910. 

Inter-company Balances: Journal entries (c)-(g) have as their 
purpose to eliminate inter-company balances. This treatment is 
based on the notion that the consolidated balance sheet regards a 
group of companies as a single entity that cannot owe money to 
itself. The twin purposes of the adjustment are to avoid overstating 
reported balances and remove potential scope for window-dress-

10It was during this period that the understatement of reported profits, by 
British companies, became common practice, with an element of judicial ap-
proval implicit in the decision in Newton v. Birmingham Small Arms Co. Ltd. 
(1906). The directors of PK Ltd. seem to have accepted the idea that the under-
statement of a company's financial position was a desirable business policy, but 
not the view that the process by which this objective was achieved should be 
concealed from shareholders. 
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ing. Two adjustments were needed in order to prevent double 
counting in relation to profits and dividends: Journal entry (c) 
removes the interim dividend paid by RB Ltd., that is already 
included in PK Ltd.'s reported profit for the year; Journal entry (d) 
removes, from PK Ltd.'s figures for profit and sundry debtors, the 
final dividend expected from RB Ltd., but unprovided, in the sub-
sidiary company's accounts. Journal entries (e)-(g) eliminate inter-
company indebtedness arising from trading transactions between 
the two companies. 

Bank Balance: The bank overdraft of RB Ltd. at the Manches-
ter and Liverpool District Banking Co. Ltd. is offset against the 
larger bank balance of PK Ltd. (journal entry H), leaving a net 
balance to be reported to shareholders. Current best practice per-
mits this adjustment only to the extent that debit and credit bal-
ances are maintained at the same bank. It is not known whether 
both companies used the same bank. 

Inter-company Unrealized Profits: The existence of vertical in-
tegration gave rise to a debt outstanding, at the year end, of 
£23,621.10.3 for goods supplied by PK Ltd. to RB Ltd. As RB Ltd. 
traded as an independent concern, we can assume that goods were 
invoiced to that company at selling price. It is unlikely that all the 
goods supplied to RB Ltd. had been resold at the year end, but no 
adjustment was made to eliminate unrealized inventory (stock) 
profits. 

PROCEDURES' APPRAISAL 
The main differences between the consolidation procedures 

employed by PK Ltd. and those in use today, in Britain, are that 
only one of its four subsidiary companies was consolidated, that 
intra group profits were not eliminated on consolidation and that 
the combination was accounted for as a merger (pooling) despite 
the fact that it was an acquisition. 

No reasons were given by the directors for their failure to 
consolidate the activities of the Wigan Junction Coal Co. Ltd, a 
relatively minor investment, the Moss Hall Coal Co. Ltd. and the 
Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. However, some of the known 
facts may help explain the director's decision. During the period 
1905-1914, no profits whatsoever were derived from any of these 
three investments [Bleckly, p. 47]. In 1908, the directors reported a 
devastating explosion at the main colliery of the Moss Hall Coal 
Co. Ltd., which destroyed the entire colliery and resulted in a 
serious loss of life. The cost of this disaster, to PK Ltd., had been 

133

et al.: Accounting Historians Journal, 1991, Vol. 18, no. 2

Published by eGrove, 1991



128 The Accounting Historians Journal, December 1991 

put at £200,000 and, according to Bleckly, this subsidiary "contin-
ued to be a constant drain on the parent company's resources" 
[Bleckly, p. 40]. The Partington Steel and Iron Co. Ltd. was fully 
operational by 1912, but it was not until the war years that much 
benefit accrued from this investment. Moreover, during the early 
years of its existence, the company incurred large amounts of 
capital expenditure, so that it might well have been considered 
undesirable to consolidate and extend to that company the group 
policy of writing off capital expenditure against revenue. 

The failure to remove unrealized stock (inventory) profits 
would today be a matter for criticism, but these were early days, 
and it was clearly not the invariable practice even among leading 
American companies — such as the United States Steel Company 
(1902) — where the application of consolidation procedures was 
far more advanced than in Britain. Furthermore, the directors 
were preparing PK Ltd.'s first set of consolidated accounts some 
time before Dickinson's authoritative Accounting Practice and Pro-
cedure acknowledged the fact that "the elimination of profits on 
sales or transfers between companies is a somewhat difficult and 
complicated matter" [Dickinson, 1913, p. 180]. 

The decision of the directors to "pool" the entire accumulated 
profits of PK Ltd. and RB Ltd. is more difficult to justify, even by 
reference to contemporary practice. The author has found no ref-
erence to the pooling of interests basis of accounting in the early 
literature — mostly American — on consolidated accounts, but the 
views expressed concerning the appropriate treatment of a subsid-
iary company's pre-acquisition profits were unambiguous. Accord-
ing to Dickinson, "there is a clear rule of common-sense, and 
probably also of law, that a corporation cannot earn profits before 
it exists" [Dickinson, 1904, p. 452]. Any profits earned by a subsid-
iary prior to acquisition are assumed to be included among the 
assets purchased and any realization of those assets is "merely a 
return to the purchasing company of a portion of the purchase 
money — i.e., of the capital of the corporation" [Dickinson, 1904, 
p. 453]. 

SOURCE OF IDEAS AND EXPERTISE 
From where did the directors get the idea to prepare a con-

solidated balance sheet? There is certainly no evidence that profes-
sional accountants either internally — Harmood Banner, the 
chairman — or externally, Blease and Co., the auditors — were in 
any way responsible for the change. Instead, apparently it was 
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John Bleckly's idea. Was there something in his personal experi-
ence that encouraged him to make the proposal? There is no evi-
dence that he was in any way associated with iron and steel com-
panies in the United States, where the preparation of consolidated 
accounts was already well established, or even that he visited the 
country, although he may well have. Also, there is no evidence that 
the expertise was transferred from local authorities, where the 
preparation of an "aggregated balance sheet" from separate bal-
ance sheets prepared for individual funds and trading activities, 
was common practice by the end of the nineteenth century. The 
more likely explanation is that it was in common with many other 
accounting innovations: a natural development out of an existing 
practice. 

It was mentioned earlier that PK Ltd. was formed by the 
amalgamation of three existing businesses. The purpose of the 
amalgamation was to achieve a degree of vertical integration by 
combining the activities of a colliery, a forge and a wire manufac-
turer. Valuations were obtained for each of these organizations as 
the basis for fixing the number of shares to be issued to their 
shareholders. Revised balance sheets were prepared for the 
Pearson and Knowles partnership, which owned the colliery, 
based on valuations prepared by Elias Dorning, a Manchester 
mining engineer; for the Dallam Forge Co. Ltd. based on valua-
tions by Walter May, a Birmingham consulting engineer; while for 
the Warrington Wire Iron Co. Ltd., a company 'of recent construc-
tion [1863] and modern design' [Bleckly, p.6], the use of book 
values was considered appropriate. The share capital figures were 
as follows: Pearson and Knowles, £480,000; Dallam Forge, 
£170,000; Warrington Wire, £170,000; and £10,000 for what is 
described as "certain outstanding iron companies' debentures" 
[Bleckly, p. 7]. The former activities of Pearson and Knowles were 
subsequently recorded separately, in the books of PK Ltd., as the 
collieries branch and those of the other two companies combined 
as the ironworks branch. 

Bleckly's history of PK Ltd. shows that a careful record was 
made of the profits earned by each branch and he expresses an-
nual profits earned as a percentage of the original capital for each 
year between 1874-1920. He also tells us that the "two depart-
ments,11 though controlled in regard to finance and general policy 
by the same board of directors, bought and sold one to the other 

11Bleckly sometimes describes the geographically separate branches as de-
partments. 
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at market prices with little or no regard to anything but each one's 
individual interest, so that the departmental results were quite 
simple and could be separately followed in detail and as a whole" 
[Bleckly, p. 35]. There are no early balance sheets for either of the 
two branches, but records have survived for each of the years 
1908-17. Transactions between the two branches were recorded in 
an "adjustment account"12 that cancelled out on consolidation to 
produce the legal entity based balance sheet for PK Ltd. We know 
that PK Ltd. had worked closely with RB Ltd. for many years, and 
the preparation of a consolidated balance may be seen simply as 
the application of well established branch accounting procedures 
to incorporate the activities of what Bleckly described as "this new 
department" [Bleckly, p. 33]. 

REVIEW 
The publication of consolidated accounts is, arguably, the ma-

jor twentieth century innovation concerning external financial re-
porting procedures. The directors of PK Ltd. were pioneers in the 
application of consolidated accounting procedures to the financial 
results achieved by a British group of companies. They published 
a consolidated balance sheet a full decade before any other ex-
ample that has so far come to light. The events at PK Ltd. at-
tracted no press attention; The Accountant in a few brief refer-
ences to the company's affairs between 1910-27, makes no men-
tion of its innovative financial reporting practice. Had one of the 
leading public companies, such as Lever Brothers Ltd., published 
a consolidated statement, in 1910, it would have been more likely 
to capture the attention of the business community and the invest-
ing public. Instead, it was necessary to await the publication by 
Nobel Industries of a far less sophisticated set of consolidated 
accounts, in 1922, and the lecture presented by Garnsey to the 
London members of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in En-
gland and Wales, later in the same year, before the group account-
ing debate took center stage in Britain.13 

The purpose of this paper has been to improve the under-
standing of the process of accounting change, and it has been 

12The term 'adjustment account' seems to have been in widespread use at the 
beginning of the century and the way that it could be used to make individual 
ledgers, dealing with a particular aspect of total business activity, self balancing, 
is described, for example, in Dicksee [1903, pp. 14-15 and p. 221]. 

13The significance of Garnsey's lecture is examined in Kitchen [1972]. See 
also Edwards and Webb [1984]. 
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argued that the adoption of consolidated accounts at PK Ltd. was 
a natural development out of existing practice (the evolutionary 
approach). There is no evidence that the directors' actions had any 
significant influence on the general adoption of the technique of 
consolidated accounts by British companies. True, it was adopted 
by its successor company, in 1930, eighteen years before its use 
became a British statutory requirement, but no reference was 
made to previous usage by the chairman of Nobel Industries, who 
claimed his company's action was "practically an innovation for 
large concerns so far as this country is concerned" [quoted in 
Kitchen, 1972, p. 127]. Indeed, the form of Nobel's published 
statement — correctly described by the auditors as an "aggregated 
document"14 — suggests a quite different origin, namely the ac-
counting procedures of local authorities. The change agent, on this 
occasion, may well have been that stern critic of secretive account-
ing practices during the 1920s, Sir Josiah Stamp, who was at this 
time the Secretary of Nobel Industries. As a distinguished econo-
mist, and former civil servant, he would no doubt have been fully 
familiar with accounting practices in the public sector. 
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Abstract: The village of West Falmouth, Massachusetts was settled in 
the 1660s by William Gifford and other Quakers who came there to 
avoid persecution. They lived relatively isolated from other settlers in 
the region. The accounting records of Prince Gifford, Jr. (1771-1853) 
and Prince Gifford Moore (1812-1885), descendants of William 
Gifford, are still in existence. This paper provides an analysis of these 
records, which reflect the simplicity, frugality, honesty, and equality of 
early West Falmouth Quakers. Littleton's antecedents of double-entry 
bookkeeping are applied to explain the use of the single-entry system 
of accounting by West Falmouth Quakers during the same period that 
Philadelphia Quakers were using the double-entry system. 

This study examines accounting records of early American 
Quakers in West Falmouth, Massachusetts and analyzes the 
records within the context of the environmental conditions pre-
vailing at the time the records were prepared. West Falmouth 
Quakers were semi-isolated compared to the Pennsylvania Quak-
ers;1 and, accordingly, the records of the West Falmouth Quakers 
are considered likely to reflect the religious customs of Quakers in 
Colonial America. Additionally, West Falmouth Quaker account-

The authors are grateful for the assistance of Cecelia Lucinda Bowerman, 
and Harriet Quimby and Hannah Fitts of the Falmouth Historical Society for 
providing the records analyzed in this paper. Additionally, the authors thank two 
anonymous referees and Joe McKeon and Marilynn Collins for comments on this 
paper. 

1Evidence that West Falmouth was settled mostly by Quakers, who were thus 
semi-isolated, is provided in Deyo [1890]: 

"In 1678 lands were laid out at Oyster pond; also at Hog Island and great 
Sipperwisset where the early settlers were William Gifford, Senior; Wil-
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Table 1 
Gifford Family Line 

William Gifford [ -1687] 

John Gifford [1642-1708] 
William Gifford [1673-1733] 

Benjamin Gifford [1703-1788] 
Prince Gifford [1746-1803] 

Prince Gifford, Jr. [1771-1853] 

Charity Gifford Moore [1794-1813] 

Prince Gifford Moore [1812-1885] 

First Quaker in West Falmouth, 
known as William Gifford 'of Sand-
wich.' 

Head of Prince Gifford line. 

Grandson of first Quaker in West 
Falmouth. 

Father of Prince, Jr. and Maltiah 
Gifford. 
Brother of Maltiah Gifford 

Died at age eighteen with complica-
tions from giving birth to Prince 
Gifford Moore. 

Only child of Charity Gifford Moore 
and grandson of Prince Gifford, Jr. 

ing records are contrasted with those of nearby non-Quaker set-
tlers. 

The paper focuses on the diverse and primitive accounting 
records of descendants of William Gifford during the late 18th 
century and early 19th century. (The Gifford family line is de-
picted in Table 1.) Early West Falmouth Quaker accounting prac-
tices are examined by studying the minute books and account 
books of Prince Gifford, Jr. (1771-1853) and Prince Gifford Moore 
(1812-1885)2 and comparing them with accounting records of 
non-Quakers in nearby locations at approximately the same time. 
Littleton's antecedents of double-entry bookkeeping [1981] are ap-
plied to explain the use of the single-entry system by residents of 
West Falmouth. 

liam Gifford, Jr.; John Weeks, and William Weeks." This is the first 
recorded beginning of the settlement of West Falmouth, and Quaker 
names head the list — William Gifford, Sr., having become an inhabit-
ant of Sacconesset ten years before. He was evidently a prominent char-
acter and employed in useful services in town as well as in Society 
affairs. [Deyo, p. 186] 
2Records of Lemuel Gifford of Sandwich [1849] and another unknown 

Quaker of West Falmouth [Unknown Recorder, 1826] were also examined. 
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HISTORICAL OVERVIEW 

The first Quakers in America were Mary Fisher and Ann Aus-
tin, who arrived in Boston, Massachusetts from England in 1656. 
They were immediately expelled from the city because of their 
religion.3 Others arrived shortly thereafter, and were persecuted 
with whippings, mutilation, and imprisonment. Four of them, in-
cluding one woman, were hanged [Mangelsdorf, 1986]. However, 
the Quakers persisted, and two of them, Christopher Holder and 
John Copeland, reached Sandwich, Massachusetts in 1658. Holder 
and Copeland were later arrested and taken to Barnstable where 
the magistrates ordered that each of them receive thirty-three 
lashes from "a new tormenting whip with three cords and knots at 
the end" [Geoffrey, 1930, p. 25]. 

In view of the persecution in Boston and Sandwich, many 
Quakers moved to West Falmouth, a village in the town of 
Falmouth. William Gifford was among those early settlers, and the 
first Quaker to settle in West Falmouth [Geoffrey, 1930, p. 38]. So 
many Quakers settled near William Gifford's home that in 1720 
the first West Falmouth Meeting House, which is the place of 
worship similar in importance to the Christian Church or Jewish 
Temple, was built. Although from the beginning Quakers of West 
Falmouth were active in local government [Mangelsdorf, 1986], 
many Quakers avoided contact with others, even to the extent of 
partially isolating themselves from other English settlers in 
Falmouth. Consequently, the accounting practices of West 
Falmouth Quakers in the 1800s evolved differently from those of 
Falmouth residents. Also, since West Falmouth Quakers engaged 
mostly in small cottage industries, their accounting practices dif-
fered from those of the more urban Philadelphia Quaker mer-

3Many of the early Quaker missionaries were women because Quakers be-
lieved in equality of the sexes: 

Though persecution of Quakers was widespread in the American colo-
nies, it reached its most savage heights in New England. The Puritan 
reverence for order and the disorder they perceived in Quakerism con-
tributed to their hostility. So did the Puritan emphasis on male authority 
as contrasted with the Quaker practice of equality between men and 
women . . . [T]he fear that Quakerism would introduce gender equality 
must certainly have frightened the Puritans. Since Puritan values, in-
cluding the idea of the male as the sole authority figure in each house-
hold, came to dominate the American culture, this early encounter be-
tween Quakerism and Puritanism is particularly relevant [Bacon, 1986, 
p. 28]. 
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chants, who became well known for their shrewdness in business.4 

West Falmouth Quakers, or "Friends" as they referred to 
themselves, were known for strict adherence to their religious be-
liefs and for their simple lifestyle. To them, religion came first. 
Business and other worldly occupations were secondary. Perhaps 
they were best known for their simplicity, frugality, honesty, and 
equality — qualities that are reflected in their accounting records.5 

Also, since it was a religious imperative that Quakers pay their 
debts,6 failure to honor debts constituted grounds for expulsion 
from Friends Meeting:7 

One member was put out of the Society for allowing him-
self to become extended beyond his ability and resources 
so as to be unable to pay his debts [Quakers in West 
Falmouth: 1685-1885, p. 8]. 
Other characteristics of Quakers were that they had no au-

thority figures, and thus no salaried preachers;8 they answered 
only to God. Although they had been persecuted and heavily fined 
because of their religious beliefs, they were supposed to be toler-
ant of the beliefs of others.9 Contrasted with the Shakers, who also 
came from England, the Quakers were more independent as indi-
viduals. In Quakerism, the family, not the community, was the 
smallest social unit. Also, West Falmouth Quakers maintained a 
scanty subsistence and were not known for their business acumen 

4Although the accounting records of more affluent Philadelphia Quakers, 
such as William Penn, have been analyzed extensively [Dunn, et. al., 1981], little 
attention has been paid to the records of Quakers of West Falmouth. 

5These qualities are recommended on religious grounds as being essential to 
the austere simplicity of life that truth demanded. Although Quakers do not have 
a formal written creed, their thinking has been recorded in a book referred to as 
Christian Faith and Practice [London Yearly Meeting, 1973]. The secondary im-
portance of business is cited in paragraph 423 of this book; simplicity is dis-
cussed in paragraph 433; frugality in paragraph 418; honesty in paragraph 424; 
and equality in paragraphs 648, 649, 650. 

6Paragraph 420, Christian Faith and Practice [London Yearly Meeting, 1973]. 
7Expulsion from Meeting was analogous to excommunication for Catholics 

or shunning for Amish. At Meeting, Quakers sat quietly together to hear God's 
continuing revelations. Quakers had no ordained ministers, sacrament or official 
creeds. Meeting was the center for worship. 

8Paragraph 423, Christian Faith and Practice [London Yearly Meeting, 1973]. 
Mangelsdorf [1986] notes that the Quakers' refusal to pay taxes to support the 
Congregational church and minister in Falmouth was a significant town issue in 
the early 1700s. 

9Christian Faith and Practice, paragraph 223. 
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as were the Shakers at Pleasant Hill, Kentucky [Kreiser and Dare, 
1986, p. 20], and other more affluent Quakers in Philadelphia 
[Dunne et al., 1981]. 

ANALYSIS OF ACCOUNTING RECORDS 
OF WEST FALMOUTH QUAKERS 

The records examined are 18th and 19th century minute 
books and account books from the private collections of the 
Gifford and Bowerman families, early West Falmouth Quakers. 
The well-preserved records appear on old, brown wrapping paper. 
Thus, the early Quakers are among America's first recyclers, a 
reflection of their frugality.10 To assist the authors in interpreting 
these records, frequent interviews were held with Cecelia Lucinda 
Bowerman [1989] and David Douglas [1990], both of West 
Falmouth Friends Meeting. 

Books of Prince Gifford, Jr., (1771-1853) 
In many Quaker families, each family member engaged in a 

different industrious activity, and transactions for separate activi-
ties were recorded in separate books. Although whaling was the 
major industry in nearby Falmouth, most West Falmouth Quakers 
engaged in small cottage industries such as carpentry and farm-
ing. For example, there is a book for all transactions in furniture 
making. Exhibit 1 shows two pages from this "minute" book, 
which covers three years and three months, from September 1796 
to January 1800 [Gifford, 1796]. During that period Prince 
Gifford, Jr. prepared records reflecting the construction and sale 
of fourteen mahogany desks, eight birch desks, three cherry tree 
desks, three mahogany clock cases, two flytable chairs, six table 
tops, eight mahogany tables, ten birch tables, six cherry tree 
tables, two knife trays, and one birch stand. 

The first entry on the left-hand page in Exhibit 1 pertains to 
the "9th of the 10 m 1796;" i.e., October 9, 1796. The month of the 
year is numbered, reflecting Quaker simplicity, which precluded 
them from using what they considered to be pagan names for the 
days of the week and months of the year [Frost, 1973, p. 193]. 

10Frugality, it should be noted, has not been an attribute exclusive to Quak-
ers. Puritans were also known for their frugality. For both groups, frugality is a 
religious tenet. Also, paper was scarce and expensive. 
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The entry is: 
Benjamin Sanford Dr, for the makeing of a Mehogany 
Desk At 10.0; To Another mehogany Desk at 10.0; Dito A 
mehogany Clockcase At 10.0.11 

The amount earned was first entered, and then an "X" was marked 
below the date of the original entry when the debt was settled. 
Although the date of cash receipt or other method of payment was 
not recorded, it is clear that the "X" indicated payment was settled 
either immediately upon completion of the work or later. This is a 
single-entry bookkeeping system in form. 

The second entry is: 
Credet for cash . . . 15.0 
Dito for three pounds of glue at 
thirty four cents Pr lb 1.0. 
This entry is puzzling because it is for the 9th month, even 

though it is the second entry on the page, after an entry for the 
10th month. Apparently, the recordkeeper, though he may have 
been honest, was somewhat disorganized. Additionally, there is no 
explanation given for the $15.00 cash payment. This is consistent 
with other early American records which did not reflect revenue 
and expense accounts, there being no need to keep records for 
income tax and external reporting purposes [Kreiser and Dare, 
1986, p. 23]. 

The third entry is: 
To two Casteel fiels at twenty two cts 0.22. 
"To" generally represents a charge to an account [Kreiser and 

Dare, 1986, p. 21; Dunn et al., 1981]. However, "to" was not used 
consistently. For example, in Exhibit 1, "to" and "Dr" (debit) are 
used in different transactions to reflect charges to the same ac-
count, mahogany desks. The "X"s indicate that the transactions 
were eventually settled, but the precise dates and method of settle-
ment are not determinable. 

Prince Gifford, Jr. also kept a minute book to record non-
furniture-related transactions [Gifford, 1825]. An example of two 
pages from this book appears in Exhibit 2. This book also reflects 
the single-entry system: 

11The random capitalization is indicative of the lack of standardization of 
grammar at the time. 
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4th mo. 10th 1825 . . . this Day Prince Gifford Jr. Paid 
Cptn Henry Weeks $10-00 to freight the Sloop Magnet 
. . . Maltiah Gifford paid half of the above. 

Maltiah was Prince, Jr.'s brother. The two were known as "the 
brothers with one pocketbook" [Bowerman, 1989], and apparently 
shared ownership of the Magnet, a small sailing vessel. In the 
second entry, the third month of 1825, cash was charged when 
Ephraim Sanford either borrowed from, or lent to, Prince Gifford, 
Jr. sixty cents for a school bill.12 In the fourth month on the twen-
tieth day, Ephraim Sanford transacted with Prince Gifford and 
Maltiah Gifford for $1.86 for a half cord of wood. Again the "X"s 
over the entries mean that the obligations were satisfied. However, 
consistent with transactions recorded in the minute book for fur-
niture-making, the date and method of payment were not re-
corded. 

Exhibit 3 presents a page from a book entitled Prince Gifford 
Jr. His Book of Accounts [Gifford, 1811]. This book resembles a 
ledger because each page shows a running total; i.e., Exhibit 3 
shows the itemization of the status of livestock inventory. The 
entries reflect the use of a common pasture by the West Falmouth 
Quakers: 

We turned 55 old sheep in to the Wood and 27 Lambs . . . 
kept at home 12 old sheep and . . . 7 lambs . . . turned to 
Shopquit 11 weathers . . . the hole number . . . 112 sheep 
. . . turned rems among sheep.13 

In 1812, the next year, they turned 61 old sheep and 20 lambs 
into the wood; they kept 10 and 2; turned to shopquit 22 weathers 
and 1 ram. This totals 116. They also sold some lambs to Joseph 
Hatch. 

Summary of Records of Prince Gifford. Jr. A single-entry 
bookkeeping system, recording the date of transaction but not the 
date or method of payment was used by Prince Gifford Jr., An "X" 
was used to reflect that the account was settled. Since the re-
corded transactions of Prince Gifford, Jr. were solely with other 
Quakers, acceptable settlement was quite certain, and thus the 
date of payment was of little interest or importance. These obser-
vations are consistent with single-entry systems found in the 

12Inconsistent use of "To" and "By," and "Dr" and "Cr" renders interpreta-
tions difficult. 

13"Weather" is another common spelling of "whether," a castrated lamb. 
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Exhibit 3 
Record of Prince Gifford, Jr. 

His Book of Accounts 
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record books of Lemuel Gifford [1849] and another, but unknown 
recorder [Unknown Recorder, 1826]. 

Littleton sets forth the following "antecedents" or "ingredi-
ents" of double-entry bookkeeping [1981, p. 12]: 

The Art of Writing, since bookkeeping is first of all a 
record; Arithmetic, since the mechanical aspect of book-
keeping consists of a sequence of simple computations; 
Private Property, since bookkeeping is concerned only 
with recording the facts about property and property 
rights; Money (i.e., a money economy), since bookkeeping 
is unnecessary except as it reduces all transactions in 
properties or property rights to this common denomina-
tor; Credit (i.e., incompleted transactions), since there 
would be little impulse to make any record whatever if all 
exchanges were completed on the spot; Commerce, since 
a merely local trade would never have created enough 
pressure (volume of business) to stimulate men to coordi-
nate diverse ideas into a system; Capital, since without 
capital commerce would be trivial and credit would be 
inconceivable [emphasis in original]. 

There was no need for double-entry bookkeeping since these early 
Quakers: (1) did not consider credit risk or interest, viewing trans-
actions as essentially complete whether settled for cash, bartered, 
or promise; (2) generally engaged in small cottage industries and 
traded locally; and (3) had little capital. 

The authors found no financial statements summarizing busi-
ness operating activities or financial position. According to 
Littleton [1981, p. 27], a lack of statements is consistent with a 
single-entry system, which requires no duality because there are 
no gains or losses from ventured capital, i.e., there are no propri-
etary calculations in these books. The accounting records were 
used solely for internal stewardship purposes to keep track of who 
had what and who owed whom how much. This is markedly dif-
ferent from Shaker records, which did include financial state-
ments [Kreiser and Dare, 1986, p. 24]. 

Barter was a common mode of exchange, and many obliga-
tions were settled at a time subsequent to the transaction. Hence, 
stewardship was the principal purpose of the records. No evidence 
is available to indicate how soon debts had to be settled because 
no specific mention is made of how timely the payment should 
have been; nor were dates of payment provided. The only record 
of payment is the "X." It is not clear from these records whether 
Quakers would have deemed the date of payment unimportant in 
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dealings with non-Quakers because no such dealings were re-
corded in the minute books. 

Books of Accounts of Maltiah Gifford 
Exhibit 4 shows Maltiah's transactions with his brother 

Prince, Jr. [Gifford, 1805]. This exhibit resembles a typical 18th 
century general ledger accounts receivable account, apart from the 
"X"s. The left page contains the debits and the right page the 
"Contray Credit." Also Maltiah recorded the date the account was 
settled: 

29th day 12 mo Prince Gifford Jr. 
Cr. 31.10... $31.10 
Entries are still marked with an X indicating payment, as in 

the single-entry system used by Prince, Jr. The numbers at the top 
of the page imply that Maltiah used a numerical indexing system 
in his ledger. Generally, it appears that Maltiah was more me-
thodical than his brother, Prince, Jr. An analysis of other entries 
shows that Maltiah transacted with other Quakers in West 
Falmouth as well as non-Quakers in nearby Falmouth. His non-
Quaker associations may have caused him to view business and 
business accounts as more important than Prince, Jr. viewed 
them. 

Books of Prince G. Moore (1812-1885) 
Exhibit 5 shows an example from the account book of Prince 

Gifford's grandson, Prince G. Moore [1845]. The transactions rep-
resent fees earned for visiting and evaluating schools in various 
school districts in the Town of Falmouth. The payment is "By cash 
from Treasurer" of the Town of Falmouth. The record shows that 
Prince G. Moore transacted more than his grandfather with 
Falmouth residents. Nevertheless, consistent with the Quakers, 
Prince G. Moore recorded only the transaction date, not the date 
the account was settled. In contrast to Quakers who traded with 
each other, this record of transactions with non-Quakers does not 
use the "X" to mark settlement of the account. 

In his "Record Book," Prince G. Moore recorded the names of 
individuals with whom he transacted [Moore, 1860], such records 
representing the analog of modern accounts receivable subsidiary 
ledgers. In Exhibit 6, the account of John Weeks, a fellow Quaker, 
is shown. Prince rented oxen and horses and sold wood, potatoes, 
and other items to John Weeks, totaling $14.86. The transactions 
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Exhibit 6 
Record of Prince Gifford Moore 

Record Book 
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are dated only by year (1860), not day and month. The settlement 
date is not recorded, which is consistent throughout the book and 
with the practice of most earlier West Falmouth Quakers. The 
lines through the entry verify that the account was settled.14 The 
credit or payment highlights the importance of the barter system: 
"Credit by 14 1/2 hours work . . . 9.64." John Weeks thus earned 
about 67 cents per hour. 

Summary of West Falmouth Quaker Records 
The accounting records of Prince Gifford, Jr. reflect relative 

social and business isolation. He used a single-entry system, only 
recorded the transaction date and not the date of settlement, and 
drew "X"s through transactions to indicate that settlement was 
made. In contrast to his brother, Prince Gifford, Jr., Maltiah 
Gifford transacted and associated more with non-Quakers. 
Maltiah recorded both the date of transaction and date of payment 
or settlement, but also drew "X"s through settled transactions. 
Thus Maltiah combined Quaker and non-Quaker customs. Prince 
G. Moore, Prince Gifford's grandson, also traded with both Quak-
ers and non-Quakers. In his transactions with West Falmouth 
Quakers, Prince G. Moore drew lines through each entry to verify 
that the account was settled. He did not draw lines through trans-
actions with non-Quakers. True to his Quaker tradition, Prince G. 
Moore did not record the date of payment. 

ACCOUNTING RECORDS OF NEARBY NON-QUAKERS 
In contrast to West Falmouth Quaker records, non-Quaker 

records are neatly bound, non-recycled ledgers and journals. 

David Crowel, Jr., a Non-Quaker Living in West Falmouth 
Exhibit 7 shows recorded transactions between David Crowel, 

Jr. and Prince Gifford, Jr. during 1799 [Crowel, 1797]. Notice that 
the English pound is the currency used; whereas entries from the 
same period, i.e., entries from Prince Gifford, Jr.'s book for furni-
ture-making from 1796-1800 were recorded only in U.S. dollars.15 

14This comment is attributed to C. L. Bowerman (1989). Throughout this 
record book there were lines drawn through entries, but no "X"s. 

15At the time, at least three currencies were used: American, English, and 
Spanish [The World Book Encyclopedia, 1966, p. 594]. 
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Another contrast between Prince, Jr.'s and David, Jr.'s books is 
that David used months by name, instead of by number as was the 
Quaker custom. In Crowel's books of account, "X"s are not 
marked through entries; instead the date of the cash payment is 
clearly recorded. 

1797 August 9th By Cash 10/6 .. 
However, it is puzzling to note that the date of the original trans-
action is not recorded. It appears that, in contrast to West 
Falmouth Quakers who recorded the transaction date, non-Quak-
ers during the 18th century recorded only the settlement date. The 
non-Quakers may have viewed the uncertainty of cash collection 
to be resolved only when the cash was actually collected because 
they were not bound by religion to pay their debts. Neither West 
Falmouth Quakers nor non-Quakers recognized the significance of 
the interval between the transaction date and settlement date dur-
ing the eighteenth century; i.e., both dates are not recorded. 

Watson Shiverick, a Non-Quaker Living in Falmouth 
Watson Shiverick kept a "Store Book" for his general store in 

Falmouth [Shiverick, 1828], a page from which appears in Exhibit 
8. The record is typical of other Falmouth small business records 
of the time. The recorded transaction is with Josiah Jackson, and 
the date is December 23, 1828. The entry shows that this account 
was partially settled with a note and contrasts to the eighteenth-
century records of West Falmouth Quakers, who generally did not 
accept notes in payment of receivables in the normal course of 
trade; nor did they charge interest on receivables. 

An additional contrast is evidenced by another entry in the 
Store Book of Watson Shiverick. An entry to the account of Wil-
liam D. Smith recorded both the transaction and settlement dates. 
The credit was: 

credit by cash and Negro hired for 3 weeks in full . . . 
23.81 1/4. 

The Negro was an indentured servant. In Quaker records of the 
same period, there is no evidence that indentured servants were 
used because Quakers were proponents of racial and sexual equal-
ity, and did not believe in owning servants. Quakers had hired 
help, but not indentured servants. 
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Exhibit 8 
Record of Watson Shiverick 

Store Book 
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Summary of West Falmouth and Falmouth Records 
Table 2 summarizes the observations on each of the eight 

Exhibits. All Quakers used the "X" to record settlement of transac-
tions with other Quakers. Prince Gifford, Jr., used a single-entry 
accounting system marking an "X" to indicate that obligations 
were settled. Prince Gifford, Jr.'s brother, Maltiah also marked 
payment with Quakers with an "X." Prince Gifford, Jr.'s, grandson, 
Prince G. Moore used the "X" to indicate settlement on his trans-
actions with other Quakers but not in his transactions with non-
Quakers. The "X"s show the importance Quakers placed on paying 
their debts. Non-Quakers did not use the "X" to indicate settle-
ment. 

When only one date, i.e., either the transaction date or the 
payment date, was recorded, West Falmouth Quakers recorded 
the transaction date, and Falmouth residents recorded the pay-
ment date. This may reflect the difference in religion. Quakers 
strictly adhered to the requirement that they pay their debts in a 

Table 2 
Summary of Exhibits 

Trans-
First X Was action Payment 

Exhibit Year Books of: Used Date Date 

WEST FALMOUTH QUAKERS: 

1 1796 Prince Gifford, Jr. X X 
2 1825 Ditto X X 
3 1812 Ditto (ledger) N/A N/A 
4 1805 Maltiah Gifford X X X 
5 1845 Prince G. Moore 

(transactions with 
non-Quakers) X 

6 1860 Prince G. Moore 
(transactions with 
Quakers) X** X* 

FALMOUTH RESIDENTS: 

7 1799 David Crowel X 
8 1826 Shiverick X X 

**Prince G. Moore drew lines through settled transactions, instead of crossing 
them with X. 

*Transactions were dated by year only. 
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timely fashion and thus there was little uncertainty of collec-
tion. 

When Falmouth residents began accepting notes to settle 
trade accounts, they recorded the transaction date as well as the 
payment date. This reflects their appreciation of interest. In con-
trast, Quakers of the period did not charge interest. 

The accounting records of the West Falmouth, Massachusetts 
Quakers reflect a simple lifestyle in which frugality, equality, sim-
plicity, and honesty prevailed. Frugality is reflected by the recycled 
paper on which Quakers kept their accounting records. Failure to 
accept the labor of indentured servants as barter, at a time when 
non-Quakers in nearby Falmouth did so, is consistent with equal-
ity. Simplicity and honesty are reflected because, in their dealings 
with each other, they recorded only the date of the transaction and 
marked settlement with an "X." These records of Quakers in West 
Falmouth are simple and more primitive in comparison to the 
records of contemporary Quakers in Philadelphia. Contrasted to 
West Falmouth Quakers, Philadelphia Quakers used double-entry 
accounting as early as the 1670s, which reflects the fact that Phila-
delphia Quakers were generally more worldly and successful in 
business. 

Finally, the records of West Falmouth Quakers support 
Littleton's hypothesis that a single-entry accounting system will 
exist (1) when there is no credit or interest because transactions 
are viewed as complete whether settled for cash, barter, or prom-
ise; (2) when the trade is local; and (3) when there is little capital-
based industry. 
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Abstract: This paper traces the development of pooling of interests 
accounting for business combinations from 1945 to 1991. The history 
of the pooling concept is reviewed chronologically with particular em-
phasis on the events of 1969-1970 that were related to the most recent 
pronouncement on the subject, Accounting Principles Board (APB) 
Opinion No. 16. Early in its life (1974), the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) placed a project on its agenda to reconsider pool-
ing of interests accounting. That project was removed from the FASB's 
agenda in 1981. APB Opinion No. 16 has gone essentially unchanged 
as it relates to the accounting for a business combination as a pooling 
of interests. Resolution of implementation issues has been left largely 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission and the accounting pro-
fession. The FASB has a project on its agenda on Consolidations and 
Related Matters that may impact pooling of interests accounting. 
There also is some pressure for the FASB to revisit accounting for 
business combinations. 

Current authoritative literature, Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) Opinion No. 16, "concludes that the purchase method and 
the pooling of interests method are both acceptable in accounting 
for business combinations, although not as alternatives in ac-
counting for the same business combination" [par. 8]. If a busi-
ness combination meets all twelve specified conditions [see APB 
Opinion No. 16, Pars. 46-48], it must be accounted for as a pooling 
of interests. All other business combinations must be accounted 
for as purchases. 

The pooling of interests method of accounting for business 
combinations has generated debate since its inception. In a pool-
ing of interests, a new basis of accounting is not permitted. 
Rather, the assets and liabilities of the combining companies are 
carried forward at their recorded amounts and retained earnings 
of the companies are combined [APB Opinion No. 16, Par. 12]. 
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Wyatt [1963, p. 19] suggests a starting point for the theoretical 
foundations of the concept: 

While the term "pooling of interests" probably did not 
evolve until later, the two principal accounting character-
istics of the "pooling" accounting treatment were recog-
nized as early as the 1920s. These two characteristics in-
volve (1) the carrying forward of the retained earnings 
(earned surplus) of the constituents as retained earnings 
of the resultant entity, and (2) the carrying forward of the 
book values of the assets of the constituents as the book 
value of the assets of the resultant entity. 
A survey of the literature suggests that the major issue in 

these early years was earned surplus. The accounting concept that 
a corporation may not begin business with a surplus was well 
established [see Dickinson, 1914, p. 185]. 

Wildman and Powell [1928, p. 224] challenged not only this 
concept regarding earned surplus, but also the revaluation of as-
sets in a business combination. Their comments sound very much 
like a modern argument in support of pooling of interests. 

A highly controversial point related to consolidations con-
cerns the idea that corporate units lose their surplus 
when legal consolidation is effected by means of a newly 
organized successor corporation. Those who contend for 
this view argue that it is impossible for a new corporation 
to acquire surplus without having operated a sufficient 
length of time to have derived surplus from earnings. In 
other words, a corporation may not begin business with a 
surplus. Further, they hold that the surplus of a constitu-
ent company becomes capitalized when that company 
becomes consolidated. 
The argument just advanced appears to be founded on a 
view that looks to the form rather than to the substance 
of the matter. Recognition should be given, it seems, to 
the fact that a new corporation is organized merely as a 
legal convenience. The value of assets prior to consolida-
tion is not changed necessarily by the legal formality of 
transferring them to a new owner. The liabilities of con-
stituents are neither increased nor decreased by the pro-
cess of combination. Under such circumstances, it would 
appear that any excess of assets over liabilities remains 
the same both before and after consolidation. Finally, if 
the excess represented surplus available for dividends be-
fore consolidation, it must necessarily represent the same 
thing after consolidation. 
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In the 1932 edition of Accountants' Handbook, the subject of 
the effect of reorganizations on surplus was discussed: 

. . . Where there has been no change of beneficial interest, 
as where stock in the holding company is exchanged for a 
controlling interest in the stock of the subsidiary or 
where two companies are merged and a new unit has 
grown out of the two previously existing identities, there 
is no absorption of surplus unless an intention exists to 
do so, in which event the equivalent of a stock dividend 
has been paid [Paton, ed., 1932, p. 950]. 
Further evidence that the concept of carrying forward the 

earned surplus of merging companies had been accepted by the 
early 1930s is provided by Montgomery [1934, pp. 416-17]: 

When two or more corporations merge or consolidate, 
the owners may assume that the old entities are continu-
ing in a slightly different form and that the combined 
earned surplus of all will form the aggregate earned sur-
plus of the new entity... 
When no new capital is contributed, it can hardly be said 
that capital is being paid out in dividends, and this sup-
ports the argument that in a merger the earned surplus 
accounts of the predecessor companies may be contin-
ued. 
There is general agreement that the first time the term "pool-

ing of interests" was used to describe an accounting treatment was 
in connection with the February 1946 merger of Celanese Corpo-
ration of America and Tubize Rayon Corporation [Black, 1947, pp. 
214-20]. A classic case of pooling of interests (although not re-
ferred to as such) took place, however, on September 30, 1936, 
when Universal Steel Company and Cyclops Steel Company 
merged into Universal-Cyclops Steel Corporation [Listing Applica-
tion to New York Stock Exchange, April 14, 1937]. The merger 
was consummated through an exchange of equity shares whereby 
both the preferred and common stockholders of the constituent 
corporations became stockholders of the combined entity. One of 
the earliest uses of the term "pooling of interests" was in a Federal 
Power Commission case in 1943. The case involved two groups of 
properties held by different persons who desired to merge into one 
company in which both groups would be shareholders. Wyatt 
[1963, p. 22] states that the Commission ruled as follows: 

. . . While it may be tolerable to allow a buyer to capitalize 
the purchase price he may have paid . . . there is surely 
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nothing to be said in favor of allowing two companies 
mutually to pool their interests, and from that time for-
ward to treat as vested the values they happened then to 
have. 
Wyatt [1963, p. 23] clarified the use of the term at this period 

in time: 
The term "pooling of interests" was used at this early date 
to describe a combination transaction between various 
interests in which these interests fused their divergent 
parts into one enterprise. The term was not used to de-
scribe the accounting treatment proposed; instead, the ac-
counting treatment flowed from the manner in which the 
Commission viewed the transaction and its responsibility 
to maintain reasonable utility rates. 
The concept of pooling of interests accounting apparently was 

an outgrowth of the discussions and transactions that took place 
during the 1920s, 1930s, and the early 1940s. "The earliest use of 
the term by an arm of the American Institute was in the report of 
the committee on public utility accounting which was presented to 
Council on May 1, 1945" [Wyatt, 1963, p. 23]. In discussing several 
accounting questions that had been proposed by the Federal 
Power Commission, the committee stated that one hypothesis 
which needed careful consideration was "that no new cost can 
result from a transaction tha t . . . may be regarded as effecting a 
pooling of interest" [American Institute of Accountants, 1946, p. 
152]. From this first public recognition of the expression, the 
theory of pooling has evolved to that which is enunciated in APB 
Opinion No. 16. 

The purpose of this paper is to trace the development of pool-
ing of interests accounting for business combinations from 1945 
to 1991. The history of the pooling concept is reviewed chronologi-
cally with particular emphasis on the events of 1969-1970 that 
were related to the most recent pronouncement on the subject, 
APB Opinion No. 16. 

A CHRONOLOGY OF THE DEVELOPMENT OF POOLING 
1945-1950 

The period from 1945 to 1950 represented a transitional pe-
riod, both in the methods used to accomplish business combina-
tions and in the techniques used to account for them. A shift from 
combinations involving exchanges of assets to ones effected 
through exchanges of equity securities was evident. As this shift 
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was taking place, a formal distinction began to emerge between 
two types of combinations: (1) combinations where a strong de-
gree of affiliation existed prior to the combinations, and (2) com-
binations where the constituents had no prior family type relation-
ships and in which any existing affiliation was merely incident to 
normal business activities. It was during this period that the term 
"pooling of interests" became more closely related to an account-
ing treatment rather than a description of a type of business trans-
action [Wyatt, 1963, pp. 21-24]. 

During this time span, there were seven dates that are mile-
stones in the development of pooling of interests accounting: (1) 
December 1944, (2) January 20, 1945, (3) June 7, 1945, (4) Octo-
ber 20, 1945, (5) February 1946, (6) February 1950, and (7) Sep-
tember 1950. 

December 1944 
The significance of this date is related to the publication of 

Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 24 [Committee on Ac-
counting Procedure, 1944]. ARB No. 24 dealt with some of the 
problems involved in accounting for intangible assets. No refer-
ence was made to pooling of interests, but in retrospect it may 
have marked the beginning of the need for a new method of ac-
counting for business combinations. 

ARB No. 24 was an initial step in the development of an offi-
cial position on goodwill. It incorporated current practice into 
theory and classified intangible assets into type (a) and (b) as 
follows: 

(a) Those (intangible assets) having a term of existence 
limited by law, regulation, or agreement, or by their na-
ture (such as patents, copyrights, leases, licenses, fran-
chises for a fixed term, and goodwill as to which there is 
evidence of limited duration). 
(b) Those (intangible assets) having no such limited term 
of existence and as to which there is, at the time of acqui-
sition, no indication of limited life (such as goodwill gen-
erally, going value, trade names, secret processes, sub-
scription lists, perpetual franchises, and organization 
costs) [p. 1]. 
The cost of type (a) intangible assets was to be "amortized by 

systematic charges in the income statement over the period ben-
efited." Three alternatives were made available for recording the 
cost of a type (b) intangible: (1) write it off immediately against 
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either paid-in capital or earned surplus, (2) systematically amor-
tize it against revenues over its estimated remaining useful life, or 
(3) retain it on the corporate records for an indefinite period. 
Although a direct write-off of goodwill to capital or earned surplus 
was an acceptable treatment, the committee tried to discourage its 
use [ARB No. 24, p. 3]. 

In retrospect, this action probably gave impetus to the devel-
opment of the pooling concept since pooling avoids the need to 
record goodwill. Up to this time, business combinations accom-
plished by any means could be accounted for as purchases with 
immediate write-off of the goodwill to capital or earned surplus. 
The effect was to eliminate goodwill from the records without 
affecting current or future reported earnings. The language used 
in ARB No. 24 implied that the winds of change were blowing and 
that the direct write-off procedure, although currently acceptable, 
would be given more attention in the future. 

January 20, 1945 
On this date, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 

issued Accounting Series Release (ASR) No. 50 [1945]. This docu-
ment concerned the propriety of writing down goodwill by charg-
ing it to capital surplus. The SEC, through its Chief Accountant, 
William W. Werntz, took the position that henceforth no goodwill 
could be written off to capital surplus [ASR No. 50, p. 1]. 

Prior to this release, mergers could be arranged so that either 
no goodwill was created, or the goodwill could be charged directly 
to surplus, earned or capital. Spacek [1970, p. 40] stated that, 
faced with the declaration that goodwill could no longer be 
charged to capital surplus, corporate managements invented the 
term "economic merger" or "pooling of interests." The pooling of 
interests method avoids the need to record goodwill because it is 
assumes that no new basis of accountability arises. 

June 7, 1945 
William W. Werntz, Chief Accountant of the SEC from May 

1938 to April 1947, presented a paper on "Corporate Consolida-
tions, Reorganizations, and Mergers" [1945, pp. 379-87]. Although 
the term "pooling of interests" was not used by Werntz, he did 
discuss methods of differentiating between two different types of 
business combinations. 

Arguing against the thought that "specific accounting results 
follow automatically from the selection of a particular method of 
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combination," Werntz stated that more weight should be given to 
four factors as criteria or tests of the accounting to be followed: 

(1) The relative size of the predecessors; that is, is one 
company so much larger than the other that it is 
obviously buying up a business rather than truly 
merging? 

(2) The degree of affiliation among the predecessors. 
(3) The extent to which there is a change in ownership in 

the course of the combination. 
(4) The nature and extent of prior business relations be-

tween the two companies. 
It was hypothesized that the application of these four criteria 

would be very useful to differentiate between mergers, consolida-
tions or other forms of combinations that resulted in a new eco-
nomic enterprise, and those that were in reality the continuance of 
an old business under a new corporate structure. 

Two of Werntz's four criteria were subsequently incorporated 
in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 40 as the basis to differentiate 
a purchase and a pooling of interests [Committee on Accounting 
Procedure, 1950]. 

October 20, 1945 
As stated previously, the earliest use of the term "pooling of 

interests" by a committee of the American Institute of Accountants 
(AIA) was in the report of the Committee on Public Utility Ac-
counting on May 1, 1945. More important, however, is the fact 
that after considering the report of the Committee on Public Util-
ity Accounting, the Committee on Accounting Procedure wrote a 
letter to the executive committee stating "the committee assumes 
that the term 'pooling' as here used refers to a situation in which 
two or more interests of comparable size are combined and would 
not include a transaction by which the interests of a small com-
pany are combined with those of a company that is substantially 
larger" [Committee on Accounting Procedure, footnote 3, October 
20, 1945]. Andrew Barr, Chief Accountant of the SEC from No-
vember 1956 to January 1972, later said "this is the size test ap-
plied by the SEC staff until the rug was pulled out from under us 
in Celanese" [Barr, May 17, 1979]. 

February 1946 
This date marks the merger of Celanese Corporation of 

America and Tubize Rayon Corporation into Celanese Corpora-
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tion of America [see Black, 1947, pp. 214-20]. Regardless of the 
fact that Tubize was only one-fifth the size of Celanese on the 
basis of total assets, and one-third as large on the basis of com-
mon stock equity, the combination was accounted for as a pooling 
of interests. At this early stage, four years before a committee of 
the AIA would formally recognize the pooling concept, the compa-
rable size criterion was beginning to erode. Barr [1959, p. 178] 
reported later that "from this point on, relative size was consid-
ered to be less important than other factors in considering 
whether a business combination met the test for pooling of inter-
ests accounting." 

In Black's [1947, p. 215] discussion of the Celanese/Tubize 
merger, he attempted to distinguish (as Werntz had earlier done) 
between two types of business combination transactions. Refer-
ring to the two types as "acquisitions" and "mergers" (later to be 
referred to as purchases and poolings of interests), he differenti-
ated them by stating that in an acquisition, no ownership interests 
continue; whereas, "in a merger there is a pooling or commingling 
of the rights of the various security holders, the assets, liabilities, 
and operations of the merging corporations being combined, like 
with like, to the end that future operations of the continuing cor-
poration can be carried on a combined basis with the attendant 
economies and other advantages." 

Black [1947, p. 215] suggested the following procedure for 
recording a true merger: 

It seems clear that the application of sound accounting 
methods to a merger.. . results, except for any pre-exist-
ing inter-company indebtedness, in the single arithmeti-
cal addition of assets, liabilities, and net worth. In gen-
eral, the continuing corporation should arise from the 
merger with an earned surplus equal in amount to the 
sum of the earned surpluses of the constituent corpora-
tions. 
Although Celanese was the dominant corporation in size, 

Black proposed two criteria: (1) comparative size and importance 
in the industry and (2) continuity of ownership interest. The im-
portance of the Celanese/Tubize merger is reflected by the fact 
that ARB No. 40 later required the same accounting treatment for 
business combinations deemed to be poolings of interests, i.e., the 
book values and the retained earnings of the constituent compa-
nies are carried forward. 
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February 1950 
An article by Wilcox [1950, p. 102] is typical of the state of 

confusion that existed with regard to accounting for business com-
binations at this point in time. As Werntz and Black had earlier 
done, Wilcox differentiated between a merger (pooling) and a pur-
chase. To him, a merger took place "when the nature of a combi-
nation is a pooling of interests and there is no substance of buying 
and selling.... 

In a discussion of the criteria for a merger, it was suggested 
that relative size, continuity of ownership, and continuity of man-
agement were particularly important. While recommending that 
these criteria be established, Wilcox cautioned that they should be 
set up as guidelines for the professional accountant and not as 
rigid rules. 

The mechanics of recording a merger were detailed. Included 
in the description was the concept that no new costs were created 
and that the earned surpluses of the combining firms should be 
joined, with adjustments to capital surplus and/or earned surplus 
contingent on the resulting relationship of the combined stated 
capital. 

The unique contribution of this article relates not only to its 
similarity to ARB No. 40, which was published later in the same 
year, but also to the positions taken by Wilcox [1950, p. 106] with 
regard to the revaluation of assets in a merger, partial poolings, 
and earned surplus. While pointing out that no new costs are 
established in a merger, Wilcox also said that "a merger creates an 
especially appropriate occasion for any useful revaluation for 
which there exists authoritative accounting support applicable in 
the circumstances." 

The earliest reference in the literature to a part-purchase, 
part-pooling is found in this article. First, the author takes the 
position that the accounting treatment for mergers and purchases 
should be mutually exclusive. He then relents this position by indi-
cating that "in some cases, however, a combination may involve 
both the aspects of a purchase and a merger" [p. 106]. 

Arguing that the net balances of earned surplus should be 
combined in a pooling of interests, Wilcox suggested that "it seems 
unnecessary for any company to become a party to a merger with 
the handicap of an operating deficit" [pp. 105-6]. In a merger 
where this condition might prevail, he suggested that the party or 
parties with an operating deficit should go through a quasi-reorga-
nization before the combination is effected [pp. 105-6]. 
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September 1950 
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 40 formalized pooling of in-

terests accounting. For the first time, a committee of the American 
Institute of Accountants used the terms "pooling of interests" and 
"purchase" to describe two types of business combinations. The 
bulletin included a discussion of the criteria for a pooling of inter-
ests and the accounting treatment to be used [Committee on Ac-
counting Procedure, 1950]. 

Criteria 

Four criteria were presented in ARB No. 40 to assist the pro-
fessional accountant in evaluating whether a business combina-
tion was a pooling of interests: (1) continuity of ownership inter-
est, (2) relative size of the constituents, (3) continuity of manage-
ment or the power to control management, and (4) nature of busi-
ness activity (similar or complementary activity would support a 
presumption of pooling) [pp. 1-2]. 

A pooling of interests was characterized as a business combi-
nation in which "all or substantially all of the equity interests in 
predecessor corporations continue as such, in a surviving corpora-
tion which may be one of the predecessor corporations, or in a 
new one created for the purpose" [p. 1]. The relative size criterion 
was not specifically defined, but the language in the bulletin indi-
cated that pooling of interests would probably not be applicable if 
one of the constituents was minor in size in relation to the others. 
With regard to application of the criteria, ARB No. 40 stipulated 
that "no one of these factors would necessarily be determinative, 
but the presence or absence would be cumulative in effect" [pp. 1-
2]. 

Accounting Treatment 
In addition to establishing the criteria for a pooling of inter-

ests, ARB No. 40 was specific about the accounting procedure to 
be used. For the first time, a committee of the AIA sanctioned the 
carrying forward of the retained earnings of an acquired firm into 
the records of the acquiring firm. If the combination was to be 
treated as a pooling of interests, it was necessary to use the follow-
ing accounting procedures: 

When a combination is deemed to be a pooling of inter-
ests, the necessity for a new basis of accountability does 
not arise. The book values of the assets of the constituent 
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companies, when stated in conformity with generally ac-
cepted accounting principles and appropriately adjusted 
when deemed necessary to place them on a uniform ba-
sis, should be carried forward; and the retained incomes 
of the constituent companies may be carried forward 
Due to the variety of conditions under which a pooling of 
interests may be carried out, it is not practicable to deal 
with the accounting presentation except in general terms. 
A number of problems will arise. For example, the aggre-
gate of stated capital of the surviving corporation in a 
pooling of interests may be either more than, or less than, 
the total of the stated capital of the predecessor corpora-
tions. In the former event the excess should be deducted 
first from the aggregate of any other contributed capital 
(capital surplus), and next from the aggregate of any re-
tained income (earned surplus) of the predecessors; while 
in the latter event the difference should appear in the 
balance-sheet of the surviving corporation as other con-
tributed capital (capital surplus) . . . [p. 2]. 

Prior to the issuance of ARB No. 40, there had been a few 
business combinations that were recorded as poolings. Subse-
quent to 1950, the modern merger movement accelerated and 
pooling of interests accounting was used more frequently. 

1950-1960 
In the ten-year period following the publication of ARB No. 

40, the American Institute of Accountants (name changed to 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants [AICPA] in 
1957) issued two additional accounting research bulletins related 
to accounting for mergers. The dates of these official pronounce-
ments were June 1953 and January 1957. 

June 1953 
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 was an attempt to codify 

and to clarify the portions of the first forty-two bulletins that had 
continuing value. Two chapters of this publication were related to 
the evolution of the theory of pooling: (1) Chapter 5, "Intangible 
Assets," and (2) Chapter 7, Section C, "Business Combinations" 
[Committee on Accounting Procedure, 1953]. 

ARB No. 43. Chapter 5 
As a restatement of ARB No. 24, the only significant change in 
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this chapter was the elimination of one alternative treatment of 
type (b) intangibles. The superseded bulletin had discouraged the 
practice of writing off type (b) intangibles directly to earned or 
capital surplus, but it had not prohibited the procedure. 

Under ARB No. 43, the alternatives were either to carry the 
type (b) intangible on the books for an indefinite period or to 
amortize it against income. When such an intangible became 
worthless, a direct write-off could be made to income or if the 
inclusion of substantial charges to income would tend to be mis-
leading, a charge directly to earned surplus was acceptable. Under 
no circumstances was purchased goodwill to be immediately 
charged to capital surplus [pars. 6-8]. Since the SEC had stated in 
ASR No. 50 (see previous discussion) that goodwill could not be 
charged to capital surplus, the Committee on Accounting Proce-
dure apparently was bending to the regulator s will on this issue. 

ARB No. 43. Chapter 7. Section C 
With one exception, this chapter was a rewording of ARB No. 

40. The new concept was that "when a combination results in 
carrying forward the earned surpluses of the constituent compa-
nies, statements of operations issued by the continuing business 
for the period in which the combination occurs and for any pre-
ceding period should show the results of operations of the com-
bined interests" [par. 7]. 

This procedure is consistent with the basic concept that a 
pooling of interests is simply a combination and continuation of 
two or more firms as a single entity. It is significant because it is 
the first time that the manner of presenting earnings under the 
pooling concept had been set forth. 

January 1957 
Chapter 7, Section C of ARB No. 43 was supplanted by ARB 

No. 48 [Committee on Accounting Procedure, 1957]. To make 
pooling of interests accounting more compatible with the growing 
trend toward corporate diversification, the requirement of similar 
or complementary businesses was deleted. The tests of continuity 
of ownership and continuity of management or the power to con-
trol management were retained. 

Prior to 1957, the relative size criterion had never been spe-
cifically defined, but there was apparently an understanding that 
only firms of relatively equal size could be pooled. This position 
had been under attack from the business community and little 
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support had been received by the profession from the SEC in 
enforcing the rule. ARB No. 48 attempted to illuminate the relative 
size question by stating that "relative size of the constituents may 
not necessarily be determinative, especially where the smaller cor-
poration contributes desired management personnel; however, 
where one of the constituent corporations is clearly dominant (for 
example, where the stockholders of one of the constituent corpo-
rations obtain 90% to 95% or more of the voting interest in the 
combined enterprise), there is a presumption that the transaction 
is a purchase rather than a pooling of interests" [par. 6]. Barr 
[May 17, 1979] said that "Paragraph 6 of ARB No. 48 by specifying 
a 90% to 95% voting interest completed destruction of the size 
test. About this time, the New York Stock Exchange left enforce-
ment to the accounting profession and obtained letters from them 
stating their satisfaction with the rules." 

In addition, ARB No. 48 initiated the concepts of continuity of 
assets and continued subsidiary existence after a pooling of inter-
ests. Statements on these two subjects were as follows: 

. . . abandonment or sale of a large part of the business of 
one or more of the constituents militates against consid-
ering the combination as a pooling of interests [par. 6]. 
. . . the continuance in existence of one or more of the 
constituent corporations in a subsidiary relationship to 
another of the constituents or to a new corporation does 
not prevent the combination from being a pooling of in-
terests . . . [par. 4]. 
The practical effect of this bulletin was that essentially any 

business combination could be accounted for as a pooling, regard-
less of the types of businesses or the relative sizes of the combin-
ing firms. Speaking at the annual meeting of the American Ac-
counting Association (AAA) in 1958, Barr [1959, p. 179] confirmed 
that relative size was no longer a significant factor. 

As a general proposition we have objected to pooling of 
interests when the equity of the smellier company would 
be less than five percent. However, in some situations 
pooling of interests accounting has been accepted when 
the acquiring company's interests has exceeded 95 per-
cent . . . . 

1960-1968 
Pooling of interests accounting was never approved as an op-

tional method in either ARB No. 48 or any of the previous pro-
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nouncements of the American Institute of Accountants, but it was 
clearly treated as such in practice. If a business combination met 
the requirements for a pooling, it could be treated either as a 
pooling or as a purchase. As the attributes prerequisite to a pool-
ing diminished, either by proclamation or in practice, the effect 
was that by 1960 almost any merger could be accounted for as a 
pooling. 

The appropriateness of using pooling of interests accounting 
was the leading accounting controversy of the 1960s because it 
was widely believed that pooling accounting might artificially 
stimulate merger activity, encourage corporations to issue exces-
sive debt or preferred stock securities, or mislead investors 
[Seligman, 1982, p. 420]. By the early 1960s, the ability to increase 
earnings per share by use of pooling accounting was being recog-
nized publicly [Chatov, 1975, p. 213]. This phenomenon could be 
achieved by (1) the sale of assets acquired (in a pooling, assets 
acquired would be recorded at book value with the subsequent 
sale at market value yielding an instant gain); (2) the pooling of 
earnings while reducing the number of shares of common stock 
outstanding (by paying for part of the acquisition with cash, debt 
securities or preferred stock); and (3) lower reported depreciation 
and amortization due to assets being recorded at book value (as-
suming book value was lower than market value). 

As the post-World War II merger movement picked up steam, 
the controversy over accounting for business combinations in-
creased. In 1959, the Committee on Accounting Procedure was 
superseded by the Accounting Principles Board (APB). With a re-
newed emphasis on research to find solutions to accounting is-
sues, the APB funded two research studies related to merger ac-
counting. In the 1960s, the topic was mentioned, in conjunction 
with other issues, in two opinions issued by the APB and the APB 
formed a committee to study accounting for business combina-
tions. Also, a committee of the AAA recommended that pooling of 
interests accounting be discontinued. During this time period, six 
dates are significant: (1) July 1963, (2) October 1965, (3) July 1966, 
(4) December 1966, (5) January 1968, and (6) October 1968. 

July, 1963 
Accounting Research Study (ARS) No. 5, "A Critical Study of 

Accounting for Business Combinations," was published by the 
AICPA [Wyatt, 1963]. Wyatt said, "In the study of business combi-
nations we are primarily concerned with the accounting concepts 
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to be used as guides in recording the effects of financial transac-
tions and with the nature of informative disclosures in the finan-
cial statements" [p. 11]. 

After a study of the literature and a review of over 350 busi-
ness combinations consummated between 1949 and 1960, Wyatt 
concluded that the criteria used to differentiate a pooling of inter-
ests from a purchase were artificial guidelines and that there had 
been a gradual deterioration in the criteria. With regard to the size 
criterion, he found that "the vast majority of business combina-
tions consummated in recent years involved constituents of dis-
proportionate size" [p. 73]. Wyatt further determined that "at the 
same time the pooling concept has become predominant in ac-
counting for business combinations consummated by transfer of 
capital stock" [p. 73]. 

Although there are nine recommendations in the research 
study, they can be reduced to the following four general sugges-
tions: (1) pooling of interests accounting is a valid concept only in 
cases where there is a combination between two legally separate, 
but closely related entities; (2) the vast majority of business combi-
nations are exchange transactions and should be accounted for as 
purchases; (3) goodwill should be amortized over its expected lim-
ited life, or if it does not appear to have limited life, it should be 
carried forward until evidence of its impairment exists; and (4) 
"fair-value pooling" should be used when the combining entities 
are about the same size and it is impossible to determine which 
one acquires the other [pp. 105-7]. 

Speaking on behalf of the Project Advisory Committee for 
ARS No. 5, Maurice Moonitz, Director of Accounting Research for 
the AICPA, made the following statement: 

The committee is of the opinion that Professor Wyatt's 
study is good insofar as it relates to background mate-
rial and general discussion, but some members feel that 
its conclusions and recommendations are not realistic 
and do not give adequate recognition to other points of 
view. The study seems to favor a discontinuance of al-
most all poolings of interests. The committee feels that 
the distinction between poolings and purchases should 
be continued . . . Also, the committee is not disposed to 
accept the fair value approach to combinations of com-
panies of approximately equal size [Wyatt, 1963, p. 
xiii]. 
Wyatt's conclusions were based on the concept that a busi-

ness combination is essentially a particular type of business trans-
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action [Wyatt, 1963, p. 69]. Moonitz wanted to know the practical 
consequences of defining a business combination as occurring 
"when two or more companies merge their assets or place them 
under common ownership or control by any one of a variety of 
methods" [Wyatt, 1963, p. xii]. Robert C. Holsen agreed to study 
this issue and his report "Another Look at Business Combina-
tions" is included in ARS No. 5 [Wyatt, 1963, pp. 109-14]. 

Moonitz said, "I concur with his [Holsen's] conclusions that 
' . . . a purchase occurs when . . . one group . . . gives up its owner-
ship interest in the assets it formerly controlled,' that ' . . . a pool-
ing occurs when equity shares are exchanged . . . ' and that criteria 
such as relative size and continuity of management... ' are nei-
ther logical nor practical guides to a distinction between a pur-
chase and a pooling" [Wyatt, 1963, p. xii]. Holsen also "suggested 
that the accounting policy with respect to the write-off of goodwill 
should be re-examined and consideration given to allowing a com-
pany to charge to earned surplus the amount of goodwill at the 
date of its acquisition" [Wyatt, 1963, p. 114]. Moonitz did not 
embrace Holsen's suggested accounting for goodwill, but did agree 
that the issue needed to be re-examined. 

October 1965 
After a review of all Accounting Research Bulletins issued 

prior to December 31, 1965, the APB issued Opinion No. 6 [1965]. 
One paragraph in this Opinion related to accounting for business 
combinations. As a modification of ARB No. 48 the following 
statement was made: 

The board believes that Accounting Research Bulletin No. 
48 should be continued as an expression of the general 
philosophy for differentiating business combinations that 
are purchases from those that are pooling of interests but 
emphasizes that the criteria set forth in paragraphs 5 and 
6 are illustrative guides and not necessarily literal re-
quirements [par. 22]. 

At this point, continuity of ownership was the only surviving ma-
jor criterion for pooling. 

July 1966 
Erosion of the criteria for a pooling of interests and the in-

creasing popularity of the concept did not silence the theoretical 
debate, however. In fact, less than a year from the date that APB 
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Opinion No. 6 was issued, the American Accounting Association's 
Committee to Prepare a Statement of Basic Accounting Theory, in 
its publication A Statement of Basic Accounting Theory [1966, p. 
33], recommended that pooling of interests be disallowed. 

December 1966 
APB Opinion No. 10 amended paragraph 12 of ARB No. 48. 

The requirements for restatement of financial statements after a 
pooling of interests were amplified with the most significant 
change being that "if the pooling is consummated at or shortly 
after the close of the period, and before financial statements of the 
continuing business are issued, the financial statements should, if 
practicable, give effect to the pooling for the entire period being 
reported.. ." [par. 5]. 

The practical result of this requirement was to make it pos-
sible for a firm to manipulate its reported earnings. By having a 
merger ready to be effected, management could wait to see what 
its earnings were for the prior period before determining when to 
finalize the agreement. If earnings for the prior period were inad-
equate, the pooling of interests could be consummated and the 
combined financial results for the prior period would be reported 
as if the two firms had been operating as one for the entire prior 
period. On the other hand, if earnings for the prior period for the 
acquiring firm met management's expectations, the merger could 
be postponed for completion in the following period. Instead of 
clarifying and strengthening the theory of pooling, APB Opinion 
No. 10 created another loophole that would embarrass the profes-
sion. 

January 1968 
During the decade of the 1960s, pressure had been exerted 

upon the accounting profession to accept the pooling of interests 
treatment for a business combination even though the evidence 
clearly indicated that the transaction was a purchase. With the 
apparent consent of the SEC, the concept of part-purchase, part-
pooling had been accepted [Kellogg, 1965, p. 34] ; the relative size 
criterion had become meaningless [Eiteman, 1967, p. 4]; retroac-
tive poolings had been effected [Mosich, 1968, pp. 352-62]; various 
types of securities, other than common stock, had been used 
[Kellogg, 1965, pp. 36-7]; and pooling accounting had assumed a 
passive role, i.e., management could apparently elect or reject 
pooling if the terms of the merger met minimum criteria. 
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The literature of the 1960s was replete with discussions both 
supporting and opposing pooling [see, for example, Blough, 1960; 
Briloff, 1967; Jaenicke, 1962; Lauver, 1966; Mosich, 1967; and 
Sapienza, 1962.] Under mounting pressure, the APB formed a 
committee on business combinations. It would be almost three 
years before an opinion would be issued, but this date marked the 
beginning of a long, arduous effort to establish sound accounting 
principles applicable to business combinations. 

October 1968 
The subject of goodwill has had a profound influence on ac-

counting for business combinations. When ARS No. 5 [Wyatt, 
1963] was published, the APB recognized the inter-relationship of 
these two topics, and subsequently authorized a study of goodwill 
which was to be completed before a serious effort was made to 
establish new accounting rules for business combinations. 

In general, the recommendations of ARS No. 10 [Catlett and 
Olson, 1968] were consistent with ARS No. 5. Having concluded 
that most business combinations should be accounted for as pur-
chases and that the difference between the value of the consider-
ation given and the fair value of the net assets acquired should be 
assigned to goodwill, the authors disagreed with Wyatt regarding 
the disposition of goodwill. Catlett and Olson took the position 
that goodwill resulted from a disbursement of assets or of pro-
ceeds of stock issued to effect the business combination, in antici-
pation of future earnings, and that it should, therefore, be ac-
counted for as a reduction of stockholders' equity rather than as a 
charge to income [1968, p. xii]. 

ARS No. 10 was criticized by five members of its Project Advi-
sory Committee [pp. 116-54] and by Reed K. Storey, AICPA Direc-
tor of Research [pp. xi-xiii, pp. 162-6]. Storey criticized the re-
search methodology and suggested that the conclusions were not 
supported by logic. Only one member of the Project Advisory 
Committee, Leonard Spacek, strongly supported the authors' con-
clusions [pp. 155-61]. 

1969-1970 — APB OPINION NO. 16 
Although the APB subcommittee on business combinations 

had been appointed in January 1968, the committee deferred ac-
tion toward developing an opinion until ARS No. 10 was released 
late in 1968. The combined recommendations of ARS No. 5 and 
ARS No. 10 were used as reference points for the initial explora-

178

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



Rayburn and Powers: A History of Pooling of Interests Accounting 173 

tion of the subject of accounting for mergers. Thus, most of the 
activity associated with the development of APB Opinion No. 16 
took place in 1969 and 1970. 

The crisis with which the accounting profession would 
wrestle over this two-year period was a product of two phenom-
ena. In testimony before the Senate Commerce Committee, 
Hamer H. Budge, Chairman of the SEC, pointed out that total 
mergers in 1968 were twelve times the 1950 level, three times the 
1960 level, and one and one-half times the level of 1967 [United 
States Senate, 1969, p. 29]. Commenting on the extremely com-
plex capital structures which are often created in a merger, Budge 
said that "we have felt that improvements are needed in account-
ing practices as applied to conglomerates in order to provide more 
meaningful information for investors and the securities markets" 
[United States Senate, 1969, p. 33]. 

Not only was the rate of merger activity increasing, the use of 
pooling of interests accounting for business combinations was 
also increasing. Wakefield [1970, p. 33] reported that of 391 List-
ing Applications to the New York Stock Exchange that related to the 
issuance of stock for merger or acquisition purposes, 82.5 percent 
were accounted for as poolings of interests. Analysis of Listing 
Applications to the New York Stock Exchange for the twelve-month 
period beginning with November 1, 1968, and ending with Octo-
ber 31, 1969, confirms Wakefield's figures. Of a total of 2,200 
Listing Applications that were filed during the above period, 1,087 
involved proposed business combinations. Pooling of interests ac-
counting was proposed and approved for 82.98 percent of the ap-
plicants [Rayburn, 1975, p. 9]. 

Buttressed by relaxation of the criteria for pooling in APB 
Opinion No. 10 and apparently supported by the regulatory bodies 
involved, accounting practitioners had, with few exceptions, 
reached the point where they were willing to approve any combi-
nation as a pooling, if management of the acquiring firm could get 
approval from the SEC. One of the vociferous critics of pooling, 
Briloff [1967, p. 489], had earlier characterized the situation. 

While the Board (APB) is considering the entire subject 
of business combinations (while explicitly continuing its 
dispensation for the pooling method) the process of 
shareholder delusion through share dilution continues 
unabated. It can, in my opinion, be fairly inferred that 
this delusion-dilution process goes on with the specific 
approval, and probably also the guidance, of the indepen-
dent auditors for the acquiring entity, and with the direct 
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knowledge and consent of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, as well as the committees on stock listing 
for the several exchanges including The New York Stock 
Exchange. 
In this review of the development of APB Opinion No. 16, the 

major events are listed chronologically with some deviations 
deemed necessary for clarity. In an effort to capture the mood of 
the times and the pressure under which accounting theory is de-
termined, the activities related to APB Opinion No. 16 are dis-
closed in more detail than previous and subsequent developments. 
Thus, numerous dates are involved and are revealed. To follow the 
established procedure of developing each date as a sub-topic, how-
ever, would tend to clutter rather than create order. Therefore, the 
structure of this section is modified. 

Early in 1969, the SEC began to express its concern over the 
"gamesmanship of corporate acquisitions and earnings per share" 
[Barr, March 21, 1969]. Barr, then Chief Accountant of the SEC, 
made some suggestions as to what might be acceptable to the SEC 
on pooling of interests accounting. 

1. Only an exchange of unissued common stock or con-
vertible preferred stock, which meets the definition of 
a common stock equivalent in APB Opinion No. 15, for 
the common shares or net assets of the company to be 
acquired should qualify as a pooling. Partial poolings 
should be discontinued. 

2. The combination should be a tax-free reorganization. 
3. The relative size test must be reinstated and a test of 

two to one was suggested. 
4. The combination should be of going concerns operat-

ing in corporate form. 
In addition to favoring the continuation of the concept of 

pooling, the SEC stated that "amortization of purchased goodwill 
should be mandatory" and suggested a maximum period of thirty 
to thirty-three years. From this time forward, the major contro-
versy would be centered on pooling or no pooling, the size test, 
and mandatory amortization of goodwill. 

In June 1969, the APB invited representatives of cooperating 
organizations to a symposium on business combinations which 
was held in New York [Lytle, June 3, 1969]. A second symposium 
was held in October 1969. From these early discussions, it was 
evident that opinion was divided. In favor of the pooling of inter-
ests concept were the American Bar Association, the Financial 
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Analysts Federation, the Financial Executives Institute (FEI), Rob-
ert Morris Associates, and the SEC. Even among this group, how-
ever, there was an apparent consensus that pooling should be re-
stricted to business combinations meeting specific criteria. 

Although there was mixed reaction from outside organiza-
tions as well as from within the APB, early sentiment on the Board 
was to discontinue pooling of interests accounting. Commenting 
on a draft opinion that called for the discontinuance of pooling 
and the mandatory amortization of purchased goodwill, Barr [Oc-
tober 8, 1969] urged retention of the pooling concept. Two Big-
Eight accounting firms made known their opposition to this draft 
and the Corporate Reporting Committee of FEI initiated a vigor-
ous campaign against elimination of pooling of interests account-
ing [Zeff, 1972, p. 214]. Indication of an early shift in the APB's 
position appeared in an AICPA press memorandum [October 28, 
1969]. 

At a meeting last weekend, the Accounting Principles 
Board affirmed the position that acquisitions should be 
accounted for as purchases. It is exploring the proposi-
tion that in transactions involving common stock only, 
goodwill would not be recognized because of the diffi-
culty of determining a reliable total cost based on market 
price of the common stock issued. 
In December 1969, two contrasting positions were made pub-

lic. On the eighth of the month, the AICPA released a press memo-
randum in which the APB took a tentative position favoring pur-
chase and pooling of interests accounting, but not as alternatives. 
The pooling method would be retained only for common stock 
transactions that met certain criteria, one of which would be that 
neither party to the business combination could be more than 
three times as large as the other. Prior to the APB's tentative deci-
sion, the Federal Trade Commission, in hearings before the Sub-
committee on Antitrust and Monopoly of the U. S. Senate Com-
mittee on the Judiciary, recommended that the SEC require that 
pooling of interests be eliminated "as the normal mode of account-
ing for acquisitions involving the exchange of stock" [Federal 
Trade Commission, 1969, p. 23]. 

Exposure Draft 
Operating within this environment, the APB [February 23, 

1970], after eight discussion drafts, released an Exposure Draft of 
the proposed opinion on accounting for business combinations 
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and intangible assets. Over 40,000 copies of the Exposure Draft 
were distributed for comment to corporate executives, government 
and stock exchange officials, security analysts, and members of 
accounting faculties and public accounting firms [AICPA, March 
2, 1970]. 

In the Exposure Draft, the APB took the position that the 
purchase method and the pooling of interests method of account-
ing for business combinations were acceptable, but not as alterna-
tives. If a merger met specific criteria, it would have to be ac-
counted for as a pooling of interests. Failure to meet any one of 
the criteria would dictate the use of purchase accounting [par. 7]. 

On the related issue of purchased goodwill, the APB stated 
that the cost should be amortized over the estimated useful life of 
the asset with the period of amortization not to exceed forty years 
[par. 106]. 

General Criticism 
The general criticism of the proposed opinion was that the 

APB was trying to restrict mergers rather than establish sound 
accounting principles for business combinations. An example of 
this reaction was a statement by Jules Backman [1970, p. 46], an 
economist, that "we should not attempt to limit acquisitions by big 
companies through changes in accounting methods." Herbert C. 
Knortz [1970, p. 30], senior vice-president and controller of Inter-
national Telephone and Telegraph Corporation (ITT), commented 
as follows: 

A statement of principle acknowledging the basic validity 
of both the poolings and the purchasing concepts, as the 
draft does, would have been well advised to avoid paying 
only Hp service to one of these techniques. This admoni-
tion is of significant importance when one realizes that 
the accounting disadvantage generated by the purchasing 
treatment is so massive it makes most mergers economi-
cally untenable. 
Many investment bankers and corporate financial officials 

joined the chorus to predict that the proposed rules would sharply 
curtail the merger movement [Wall Street Journal, February 27, 
1970, p. 1]. 

Support was also evident, however. On two occasions, Hamer 
H. Budge, Chairman of the SEC, endorsed the proposal before 
Congressional Committees [Wall Street Journal, June 24, 1970, p. 
7]. In a speech before the National Association of Accountants, 
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SEC Commissioner James Needham [1970] said that "we encour-
aged the APB to include in this proposed opinion the very restric-
tive criteria for the use of pooling-of-interests accounting and the 
requirement for mandatory amortization of goodwill arising in 
purchase transactions." Both the New York Stock Exchange and 
the American Stock Exchange endorsed the draft [Wall Street Jour-
nal, June 24, 1970, p. 7]. 

Particular criticism was leveled at two provisions of the draft: 
(1) the size test and (2) mandatory amortization of goodwill. 

Size Test 

The Exposure Draft would have allowed pooling of interests 
only in cases where the acquiring company was no greater than 
three times as large as the acquired firm. Relative size was to be 
determined at the date the merger was consummated by comput-
ing the ratio of the number of shares of voting common stock 
issued to the acquired firm's stockholders to the total outstanding 
shares. The following quotations are illustrative of the attacks 
lodged against this requirement: 

It is difficult to understand conceptually why pooling is 
appropriate for an acquisition more than one-third the 
size of the acquiring company but not appropriate for a 
company which is relatively smaller [Backman, 1970, p. 
42]. 
FEI (Financial Executives Institute) considers the size cri-
terion contemplated in this exposure draft to be discrimi-
natory and conceptually indefensible. FEI had, in previ-
ous discussions with the APB, expressed a willingness to 
compromise on principle and accept a 10% (or 9 to 1 
ratio) . . . However, in the light of more deliberate and 
more complete discussion of this issue, which suggests 
that such a compromise could virtually eliminate 
poolings of interests, FEI's latest position reaffirms our 
belief that a size criterion is neither valid nor practical 
[Hangen, 1970]. 
The proposed opinion contains many controversial is-
sues, but none so patently improper as the suggested 
"size test." . . . Research by the Financial Executives Insti-
tute has indicated that less than five percent of the merg-
ers in its sampling would have qualified for pooling un-
der the proposed tests. An examination of 63 indicates 
that only one would have qualified [Knortz, 1970, p. 30]. 
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In an effort to still speculation over the effect of the proposed 
size test, two members of the APB conducted independent re-
search on the subject. One limited survey of 293 mergers revealed 
that "only 6% of the poolings reviewed involved combinations 
meeting the proposed size criterion" [Watt, 1970]. The other study 
of 1,452 cases of business combinations involving the offering of 
stock during 1969 indicated that only five percent would qualify 
for pooling under the three-to-one size test [Catlett, 1970]. 

Mandatory Amortization of Purchased Goodwill 

The mandatory amortization of purchased goodwill over a 
period not to exceed forty years has the effect of reducing reported 
earnings. Opposition to this proposed requirement ranged from 
the theoretical argument that goodwill should not be recognized 
as an asset [Arthur Andersen & Co., 1970] to the more practical 
argument that the rule would reduce the incentive for mergers by 
cutting the post-merger earnings reported by the combined entity. 

In a research study that was financed by the Financial Execu-
tives Research Foundation, with the expressed purpose of influ-
encing the deliberations of the APB, Burton [1970, p. 82] reported 
the results of his survey as follows: 

It was also demonstrated that the amortization of good-
will acquired in 1967 mergers over a 40 year period 
would only slightly reduce reported earnings in the years 
1968 and 1969. At the same time, the impact of 40 year 
goodwill amortization on the incremental earnings pro-
duced by business combinations in the same companies 
would have been much more significant, averaging ap-
proximately 50% of the earnings acquired in the first year 
following the combination with considerable variation 
about the mean. 

Overwhelming Opposition 
The APB expected strong opposition to the proposed opinion, 

but whether the degree of resistance that materialized was ex-
pected is questionable. Zeff reports, "Early in the exposure period, 
the chairman of the FEI Corporate Reporting Committee again 
sent a letter to FEI members urging them to transmit their views 
to the APB as individuals and through their professional and trade 
associations" [1972, p. 214]. Ernst & Ernst and Arthur Andersen & 
Co. publicly opposed the draft and at least three other major pub-
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lic accounting firms quietly lobbied against it [Wall Street Journal, 
June 24, 1970, p. 7]. Also, a coalition of business leaders, the Orga-
nization for Consistent Accounting Principles, waged a letter writ-
ing campaign against the proposal [Seligman, 1982, p. 423]. 

By June 1970, in addition to comments in the literature and 
in the press, the APB had received 860 letters of comment. Eighty-
nine percent of the respondents expressed disagreement with the 
proposed opinion. Of this group, sixty percent were opposed to the 
restrictions on the use of pooling of interests accounting, and ten 
percent were against mandatory amortization of purchased good-
will. The only significant support for the draft came from account-
ing educators and the stock exchanges [Lytle, June 17, 1970]. 

Size Test is Relaxed and Agreement is Reached 
At a meeting in June, the APB voted 12 to 6 to change the size 

test to nine-to-one and to require amortization of goodwill over a 
period not to exceed forty years. This vote was intended as final 
and a meeting was scheduled for one month later to approve the 
final wording of the opinion [Zeff, 1972, p. 216]. 

APB Opinion No. 16 and No. 17 
At the meeting of the APB in July, the two-thirds majority 

could not be sustained and the Board was in a difficult position. 
Failure to reach a consensus would surely set the stage for the 
SEC to issue its own rule. Leonard Savoie, Executive Vice Presi-
dent of the AICPA, had warned "if the Board doesn't correct 
abuses in merger accounting, the SEC will do the job swiftly and 
sharply" [Wall Street Journal, June 24, 1970, p. 7]. 

Unable to get a two-thirds vote on the proposed opinion (after 
several attempts), the APB divided the contents of the Exposure 
Draft into two opinions (one on business combinations and one 
on intangible assets) and agreed to eliminate the size test [AICPA 
Press Memorandum, July 31, 1970]. A two-thirds majority on 
separate opinions was possible because members of the APB held 
different views about APB Opinion No. 16 and No. 17. Milton M. 
Broeker, J. S. Seidman and Frank T. Weston voted against APB 
Oninion No. 16, but voted affirmatively for APB Opinion No. 17. 
George R. Catlett and Charles B. Hellerson dissented on APB 
Opinion No. 17, but supported APB Opinion No. 16. APB members 
Leo E. Burger, Sidney Davidson and Charles T. Horngren dis-
sented on both opinions. APB Opinion No. 16, "Business Combina-
tions," passed by a vote of 12 to 6 and APB Opinion No. 17, "Intan-
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gible Assets," was approved 13 to 5. The effective date of both 
opinions was November 1, 1970. 

APB Opinion No. 17 
Although this paper is primarily concerned with pooling of 

interests accounting, APB Opinion No. 17 is related. The signifi-
cant aspect of this opinion, as it relates to accounting for business 
combinations, is the treatment of purchased goodwill. Buoyed by 
the support of the SEC, the APB did not budge from the position 
that purchased goodwill should be amortized against income over 
a period not to exceed forty years [par. 29]. Even if one agrees that 
this approach is theoretically sound in a purchase transaction, one 
must also acknowledge that the practical effect might be increased 
pressure to use pooling of interests. 

APB Opinion No. 16 
Even after the proposed opinion was divided into two parts, 

APB Opinion No. 16 on business combinations received only the 
bare two-thirds vote required for adoption. As stated above, the 
size test requirement was eliminated. Thus, the original concept of 
comparable size, which had become meaningless by the early 
1950s, was not to be resurrected. The pooling concept, although 
apparently restricted, had survived. 

In a move to counter the criticism that corporations could 
account for business combinations by the accounting method of 
their choice—pooling of interests; purchase; part-purchase, part-
pooling—and to establish sound accounting principles that would 
eliminate other abuses that had been associated with accounting 
for mergers, the APB issued APB Opinion No. 16. Effective with 
merger negotiations initiated after October 31, 1970, the opinion 
approved both the purchase method and the pooling of interests 
method, but not as alternatives [pars. 8 and 97]. 

Under the new rules, some abuses were directly eliminated; 
minimum criteria were established that must be adhered to if a 
merger is to be treated as a pooling; and the accounting procedure 
for a pooling of interests was specified. 

Abuses eliminated. — APB Opinion No. 16 attacked the past 
practice of part-purchase, part-pooling in a very direct manner. 
The Board said that "a single method should be applied to an 
entire combination; the practice now known as part-purchase, 
part-pooling is not acceptable" [par. 43]. There was one exception 
to this position, however. A "grandfather" clause applied if a mi-

186

Accounting Historians Journal, Vol. 18 [1991], Iss. 2, Art. 10

https://egrove.olemiss.edu/aah_journal/vol18/iss2/10



Rayburn and Powers: A History of Pooling of Interests Accounting 181 

nority interest or exactly fifty percent was held in the common 
stock of another company on October 31, 1970, and after that 
date, the two companies enter into a plan of combination. Other-
wise, such a situation could result in a part-purchase, part-pool-
ing. Initially, this clause was to expire October 31, 1975 [par. 99]. 
However, in October 1975, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) issued FASB Statement No. 10, "Extension of 
'Grandfather Provision for Business Combinations," in which the 
five-year limitation was eliminated. At that time, the FASB had a 
project on its agenda titled "Accounting for Business Combina-
tions and Purchased Intangibles" which involved a reconsideration 
of APB Opinion No. 16. Rather than leave open the possibility that 
accounting practices that would change with expiration of the 
grandfather provisions of APB Opinion No. 16 might change again 
after reconsideration of the opinion, the Board eliminated the five-
year limitation "so as to maintain the status quo during the 
Board's reconsideration of that Opinion" [FASB Statement No. 10, 
par. 3]. 

The practice of including the profits of an acquired company 
in the annual report to the stockholders even though the pooling 
took place after the end of the period reported on also was elimi-
nated [par. 61]. This maneuver, made possible by a loose interpre-
tation of the reporting requirements of APB Opinion No. 10, led 
critics to refer to it as a method of creating "instant earnings." 
Corporate managements no longer have the alternative of using 
this ploy to enhance earnings reports. 

The continuity of ownership rule was prevalent as a require-
ment for pooling in the pre-APB Opinion No. 16 era. Although 
never stated as a definite policy, the unwritten rule of the SEC was 
that control-selling shareholders (shareholders controlling the ac-
quired company) could sell only twenty-five percent of the securi-
ties received within one year following the distribution of stock to 
them, twenty-five percent more the second year, and the balance 
after the two-year period had expired [Gunther, 1973, p. 459]. APB 
Opinion No. 16 contained no mandatory holding period for com-
mon stock received in a pooling. Therefore, immediate bail-outs of 
stock received were not damaging to a pooling. After some astute 
managements abused this privilege to the point of arranging to-
tally "risk-free" poolings, the SEC issued Accounting Series Release 
No. 130 and No. 135 which required that "no affiliate of either 
company in the business combination sells or in any other way 
reduces his risk relative to any common shares received in the 
business combination until such time as financial results covering 
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at least 30 days of post-merger combined operations have been 
published" [Gunther, 1973, p. 460]. This requirement is not as 
stringent as the old SEC rule, but it does emphasize the concept 
that a pooling implies continuity of ownership. 

Minimum criteria. — Having accepted the validity of the 
pooling of interests concept, the APB stipulated that twelve criteria 
must be met if a business combination is to be treated as a pool-
ing. Equally significant, perhaps, was the concept that if these 
criteria were satisfied, pooling must be used [par. 45]. 

Accounting procedure. — The method of recording a busi-
ness combination as a pooling of interests is supported by the 
argument that no new basis of accountability arises. The account-
ing procedures set forth in APB Opinion No. 16 were consistent 
with this concept. 

The combined corporation records the historical-cost 
based amounts of the assets and liabilities of the separate 
companies because the existing basis of accounting con-
tinues [par. 117]. 
The stockholders' equities of the separate companies are 
also combined... The combined corporation records as 
capital the capital stock and capital in excess of par or 
stated value of outstanding stock of the separate compa-
nies. 
Similarly, retained earnings or deficits of the separate 
companies are combined and recognized as retained 
earnings of the combined corporation. The amount of 
outstanding shares of stock of the combined corporation 
at par or stated value may exceed the total amount of 
capital stock of the separate combining companies; the 
excess should be deducted first from other contributed 
capital and then from the combined retained earnings 
. . .[Par. 118]. 

1971-1991 
APB Opinion No. 16 attempted to identify those business com-

binations to be accounted for as poolings of interests by delineat-
ing the twelve pooling criteria and making the pooling versus pur-
chase decision a somewhat mechanical one through strict consid-
eration of those criteria. As companies began to apply the opinion 
in practice, application problems became apparent. In addressing 
problems of implementation, the AICPA issued thirty-nine inter-
pretations of APB Opinion No. 16 between December 1970 and 
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March 1973, dealing primarily with the specifics and mechanics of 
applying the pooling criteria. 

The SEC also took action during 1972 and 1973 to provide 
implementation guidelines for APB Opinion No. 16. In addition to 
Accounting Series Release No. 130 and No. 135, the SEC issued 
Accounting Series Release No. 146, dealing with the effect of trea-
sury stock transactions on accounting for business combinations. 
Many of the large accounting firms developed manuals providing 
guidance in applying APB Opinion No. 16. (See, for example, Inter-
pretations of APB Opinion No. 16 and 17, Arthur Andersen & Co., 
Seventh Edition, 1988.) In discussing the need for extensive inter-
pretive materials concerning the opinion, Dieter [1989] of Arthur 
Andersen & Co. states that "this must say something about the 
ambiguity of the concept of pooling-of-interests to accountants. 
Soundly conceived concepts are more easily understood and inter-
preted shortly after adoption" [p. 46]. 

Dieter also discusses the position generally taken by the SEC 
regarding poolings. He notes that the SEC has attempted to sup-
port the standard-setting authority of the private sector in recent 
years and its own rules have addressed relatively narrow issues 
where abuses were perceived, with one exception—interpreting 
APB Opinion No. 16. 

. . . the Chief Accountant's Office does not often issue 
SABs [Staff Accounting Bulletins] or other interpretative 
guidance on pooling-of-interests issues. Rather, pooling-
of-interests accounting questions for registrants are 
handled on a case-by-case approach, and word of mouth 
is supposed to make these views available to the profes-
sion as a whole [Dieter, 1989, p. 47]. 
In 1973, the FASB replaced the APB as the primary account-

ing standard-setting body in the United States. Soon after its for-
mation, the FASB issued an open letter soliciting the public's 
views concerning the need for interpretation, amendment, or re-
placement of existing pronouncements of the Committee on Ac-
counting Procedure or the Accounting Principles Board. The 
FASB Status Report dated April 30, 1974, indicated that a high 
proportion of the respondents to the open letter questioned APB 
Opinion No. 16 and No. 17. As a result, the FASB announced the 
appointment of a task force for a project on business combina-
tions and purchased intangibles, with its first step to be reconsid-
eration of the criteria for pooling of interests accounting. The pri-
mary objective of the task force was to provide input to the FASB 
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in drafting a discussion memorandum identifying alternative solu-
tions as a basis for a public hearing. 

The June 24, 1974, Status Report indicated a change in the 
FASB's position: 

The Standards Board has dropped a previously an-
nounced interim step in its project on accounting for 
business combinations and intangible assets and has de-
cided, instead, to proceed directly with total reconsidera-
tion of two Accounting Principles Board Opinions on the 
subject. 

The FASB felt that the project should extend beyond the mere 
consideration of the pooling criteria to encompass the underlying 
theory of business combinations. 

On August 19, 1976, the FASB Discussion Memorandum, "Ac-
counting for Business Combinations and Purchased Intangibles," 
was issued. It provided the basis for a public hearing scheduled to 
be held in New York on May 17, 1977. 

In December 1976, the FASB announced that it would hold a 
public hearing in June 1977 on the conceptual framework for fi-
nancial accounting and reporting. As a result, the public hearing 
on business combinations and purchased intangibles would be 
rescheduled [FASB Status Report, December 5, 1976]. This hearing 
was ultimately rescheduled for the second half of 1978, with an 
exposure draft and final Statement expected in 1979 [FASB Status 
Report, October 13, 1977 ]. 

The April 26, 1978, Status Report indicated that "the Board 
has received recommendations to postpone a public hearing and 
not to issue a Statement on that topic [Business Combinations 
and Purchased Intangibles] until it has substantially completed 
certain phases of the conceptual framework project. Additional 
information is being obtained as to the priority to be assigned to 
the business combinations project" [pp. 1-2]. The Board an-
nounced in October of 1978 that the planned timing for the busi-
ness combinations project had been moved back, awaiting the 
issuance of a Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts on the 
Elements of Financial Statements of Business Enterprises. The 
public hearing on business combinations was not expected until 
the fourth quarter of 1979, with a final Statement not expected 
until 1981 [FASB Status Report, October 25, 1978]. 

As work on various of its projects progressed, the FASB con-
cluded that "a Statement on elements and an updating supple-
ment to the August 1976 [business combinations] discussion 
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memorandum should precede a public hearing on this project. 
Accordingly, a public hearing is not expected before 1980" [FASB 
Status Report, July, 6, 1979]. In October of 1979, the Board an-
nounced that "the project is inactive pending further progress on 
the conceptual framework, especially elements of financial state-
ments" [FASB Status Report, October 17, 1979]. After more than a 
year of inactivity, the FASB announced that the business combina-
tions project had been removed from its agenda "because of low 
priority in relation to other existing and potential projects" [FASB 
Status Report, April 10, 1981]. 

Considering all of the concern with the inadequacies of APB 
Opinion No. 16 expressed by the public in response to the FASB's 
1973 open letter, it seems surprising that the FASB's ultimate con-
clusion was that the business combinations project was one of 
"low priority." However, from the time the Discussion Memoran-
dum was issued in 1976 until 1981, only sixteen comment letters 
were received by the FASB [Letters of Comment on the Discussion 
Memorandum of the FASB]. An analysis of these comment letters 
is summarized in Exhibit 1. 

Exhibit 1 
Discussion Memorandum Comments 

General Position 
Preferred to defer consideration of the issue until the Con-

ceptual Framework Project was completed 
Did not specifically refer to poolings 
Supported APB Opinion No. 16 (some with slight modifi-

cations) 
Recommended elimination of poolings 
Considered pooling preferable to purchase regardless of 

method of payment 
An outline only 

16 

Number of 
Comments 

2 

4 
6 

2 
1 

1 

Most, if not all, of the positions taken in the comment letters 
were unsupported with logic or theory, and little effort was made 
to defend arguments. Clearly, the FASB received no mandate for 
major change in accounting for business combinations from these 
responses. 

Hermanson and Hughes [1980] reported on a study of the 
satisfaction of accounting practitioners, accounting educators, and 
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financial executives with APB Opinion No. 16 and No. 17. Their 
survey of 600 individuals suggested that "the major accounting 
groups seem to have learned to live with—and, in some cases, 
appreciate—Opinions 16 and 17." Their message for the FASB 
was: "Take your time" [p. 15]. They discovered that educators and 
financial executives tended to differ in their opinions while ac-
counting practitioners sided in some cases with educators and in 
other cases with the executives. Table 1 presents selected results of 
their findings concerning satisfaction with APB Opinion No. 16. 
Table 2 presents their findings concerning the appropriate treat-
ment of goodwill [APB Opinion No. 17]. 

The FASB apparently was in agreement with Hermanson and 
Hughes since it has largely ignored the issue of business combina-
tions in general (and poolings of interests specifically) following 
the abandonment of the business combinations project in 1981. 
The FASB issued Technical Bulletin No. 85-5 in June of 1985 en-
titled "Issues Relating to Business Combinations." Regarding 
poolings, the technical bulletin addressed the issues of down-
stream mergers, identical common shares, and the combination of 
mutual and cooperative enterprises, all with reference to the appli-
cation of APB Opinion No. 16. The SEC issued Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 65 in November of 1986 in which the SEC's staff 
discussed its views on certain matters involved in the application 
of Accounting Series Release No. 130 and No. 135 regarding risk 
sharing in business combinations accounted for as poolings of 
interests. For the most part, however, the authoritative bodies 
have allowed the accounting for poolings of interests as provided 
for in APB Opinion No. 16 to stand. 

In fact, APB Opinion No. 16 has only had paragraphs 
amended or superseded seven times, and none of those changed 
the criteria for accounting for a business combination as a pooling 
of interests. Additionally, the FASB has issued only four interpre-
tations and two technical bulletins regarding APB Opinion No. 16. 
One of the interpretations, FASB Interpretation No. 21 [April 
1978], and one of the technical bulletins, FASB Technical Bulletin 
No. 85-5 (see above), addressed pooling of interests. FASB Interpre-
tation No. 21 clarified application of FASB Statement No. 13, "Ac-
counting for Leases," in a pooling as well as in a purchase combi-
nation. 

The continuing acceptability of pooling of interests account-
ing has not silenced all critics, however. Dieter [1989], in consider-
ing the need for changes in accounting for business combinations, 
attacks the pooling concept. 
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Table 1 
Degree of Satisfaction with APB Opinion No. 16 

The pooling criteria 
Practitioners 
Educators 
Financial Executives 

The manner of 
recording a pooling 

Practitioners 
Educators 
Financial Executives 

The manner of 
recording a purchase 

Practitioners 
Educators 
Financial Executives 

Very 
Satis-
fied 

5.5% 52.7% 
1.8% 28.1% 
1.1% 52.5% 

7.3% 56.4% 
.9% 38.2% 

2.2% 64.8% 

12.7% 60.0% 
9.1% 64.5% 
5.5% 68.1% 

18.2% 
17.5% 
15.6% 

21.8% 
23.6% 
14.3% 

14.5% 
13.6% 
9.9% 

16.4% 
40.4% 
20.0% 

7.2% 
12.2% 
11.1% 

9.1% 5.4% 
26.4% 10.9% 
11.0% 7.7% 

12.8% 
12.8% 
11.0% 

0.0% 
0.0% 
5.5% 

55 
114 
90 

55 
110 
91 

55 
110 
91 

Source: Hermanson, R. H., and H. P. Hughes. "Pooling vs. Purchase and 
Goodwill: A Long-standing Controversy Abates." Mergers & Acquisitions (Fall, 
1980): 17. 

Table 2 
Opinions Regarding Treatment of Goodwill 

APB Opinion No. 17 

Goodwill should be: 
Recorded as an asset 63.6% 66.7% 63.3% 
Immediately written off or shown as 

a reduction of stockholders' equity 25.5% 23.7% 26.7% 
Other 10.9 % 9.6% 10.0% 

Number of responses 55 114 90 
If goodwill is capitalized as an asset, 
the subsequent treatment of it should 
be to: 

Retain it permanently as is 1.8% 2.7% 6.8% 
Amortize it mandatorily against 

current income 72.8% 69.6% 55.8% 
Amortize it mandatorily directly 

to retained earnings 12.7% 12.5% 22.7% 
Amortize it optionally against 

current income 10.9% 2.7% 5.6% 
Amortize it optionally directly to 

retained earnings 0.0% 2.7% 1.1% 
Other 1.8% 9.8% 8.0% 

Number of responses 55 112 88 
Source: Hermanson, R. H., and H. P. Hughes. "Pooling vs. Purchase and 

Goodwill: A Long-standing Controversy Abates." Mergers & Acquisitions. (Fall, 
1980): 18. 

Practi-
tioners Educators 

Financial 
Executives 

Satis-
fied Neutral 

Dissatis-
fied 

Very 
Dissatis-

fied 

Number 
of 

Responses 
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The present rules, embodied primarily in APB Opinion 
Nos. 16 and 17 . . . were a convenient compromise, not 
rules of reason and logic... the concept of pooling-of-
interests is an accountant-related concept that bears no 
relationship to economic reality and is at variance with 
the primary transaction-based approach used in most 
areas of accounting today. The conceptual arguments 
to support continuation of this form are weak. In almost 
all business combinations that are accounted for as 
poolings-of-interests, an economic event has taken place 
whereby one entity has acquired another. To not account 
for these very significant transactions at their economic 
value further erodes the credibility of continuing finan-
cial statements [p. 44]. 

Despite arguments such as these, the pooling method is still gener-
ally accepted. The criticisms have not been severe enough nor 
sufficient in number to move the authoritative bodies to action. 

APB Opinion No. 16 celebrated its twentieth birthday in No-
vember of 1990. Except for interpretive pronouncements, the sec-
tions of the opinion related to pooling of interests have not been 
changed. The FASB has had a project on "Consolidations and Re-
lated Matters" on its agenda since January 1982. One part of this 
project is addressing when a new basis of accounting is appropri-
ate. This part of the project is in the early stages of development 
with a Discussion Memorandum [FASB, September 10, 1991] re-
cently issued. What impact, if any, these deliberations will have on 
accounting for a business combination as a pooling of interests 
cannot be predicted. 

In its annual overview of the activities of the FASB, the Finan-
cial Accounting Standards Advisory Council [1990] surveyed cur-
rent and former Council members, soliciting their views on the 
priorities and timetables of each of the FASB's current agenda 
items. The respondents stated that "Business Combinations con-
tinues (as it did in the prior year) to be the first choice of Council 
members for a major new agenda project when the Board has the 
capacity to add one" [Financial Accounting Standards Advisory 
Council, 1990, p. 1]. Thus, there is some pressure for the FASB to 
revisit this issue. Until it does, APB Opinion No. 16 continues in 
force essentially unchanged as it relates to pooling of interests 
accounting for business combinations. 
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INTRODUCTION 
The accountancy profession is nearly one hundred and fifty 

years old. Formally organized in Scotland in the mid 1850s, it has 
expanded rapidly worldwide to become one of the leading profes-
sions in terms of the number of people it employs, the quantity 
and variety of services it offers and renders, the size and pervasive-
ness of its public firms, the extent of its provision and use of 
educational and research resources, the degree of influence it has 
in its relations with the state, and the social status and economic 
rewards enjoyed by its members. Yet, it still must cope with per-
sistent and seemingly intractable problems such as the dubious 
meaning of reported accounting figures, inconsistencies in ac-
counting rules, education orientated solely to training for current 
practice, a lack of research influence on practice, and managing 
the ethical behavior of practitioners. 

For these reasons, and more than ever before, there is a need 
to explore the origins and development of the accountancy profes-
sion — that is, to discover the reasons why it came into existence, 
and the means by which it has prospered despite its long-standing 
problems. Hopefully, such historical studies will not only provide 
the profession's current and future members with an understand-
ing of their roots, but will also signal clues as to possible resolu-
tions of at least some of its problems. 

With these thoughts in mind, this review essay is intended to 
provide some historical perspective on the modern accountancy 
profession by critiquing the recent study of Dr. Kedslie into the 
origins of the earliest professional accountancy bodies formed in 
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Scotland in the mid 1850s [Kedslie, 1990].1 It would be arrogant to 
claim that these bodies were necessarily different in character, 
origin or purpose from other bodies formed at about the same 
time in England and elsewhere. Nevertheless, there is a curious 
fascination about the founding fathers of any enterprise. For ex-
ample, consider the attention given to Pacioli regarding the intro-
duction of double-entry bookkeeping despite knowledge of its ex-
istence prior to the date of his publication [see de Roover, 1974]. 

Given this natural curiosity about 'beginnings,' what is most 
surprising with respect to the Kedslie text is that it represents one 
of a very few scholarly studies of the Scottish origins of the mod-
ern accountancy profession. One of the earliest and often-quoted 
texts is that of Brown [1905], a leading Scottish chartered accoun-
tant at the beginning of this century, who wrote very generally of 
the origins of the profession in Scotland, the establishment of the 
first societies, the first chartered accountants, and the work and 
problems of these early professionals [pp. 181-231 and 314-42]. 
Pre-professional accounting in Scotland is covered in a detailed 
study by Mepham [1988] of eighteenth century accounting and 
accountants, the main feature of which is the considerable intel-
lectual capacity of the men behind the accounting ideas which 
were part of the Scottish Enlightenment [pp. 381-3]. 

Post-professionalization in Scotland has also been studied by 
accounting historians, and in a number of ways. First, there is an 
anonymous general history of the early development to 1954 of 
the main Scottish professional body, described within a context of 
accounting activities and leading Scottish accountants of the pe-
riod [ICAS, 1954/1984]. Second, Stewart [1977/1986] produced a 
historical review of Scotland's professional beginnings in account-
ing in the form of a series of brief biographical sketches of the 
original Scottish chartered accountants to 1879. Third, Winsbury 
[1977] has written a history of a leading international public ac-
countancy firm which originated in Scotland. Fourth, Lee [1984] 
has edited a book of papers which were delivered over a seventy-
year period to Scottish accounting student societies by leading 
accountants, revealing the type of persistent issues which were 
brought to the attention of Scottish accounting practitioners and 
their apprentices over several decades. Fifth, Walker [1988] re-

1It should be noted that Kedslie's book appears in summarized form in a 
recently published paper which was awarded the 1990 Manuscript Award of the 
Academy of Accounting Historians [Kedslie, 1990a]. 
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cently wrote an extensive empirically-based social history of re-
cruitment to the earliest Scottish accountancy body, with specific 
references to the social mobility of the recruits. 

Kedslie's text touches on most of the activities and issues cov-
ered in these earlier studies. It is particularly related to that of 
Walker [1988], in the sense that both historians have observed and 
interpreted the main factors which they perceive to have com-
prised the origins of the earliest Scottish accountancy bodies. 
However, lest any reader feel that there is duplication between 
these two recent studies, it should be stated at the outset that 
Kedslie's study provides a broad observation and commentary on 
a multiplicity of connected issues. It establishes what Carr [1987, 
p. 104] has described as one of the essential roles of history — "a 
rational and logical quilt of knowledge." In this case, knowledge 
concerns the origins of professional accountancy in Scotland. 
Walker, on the other hand, has produced a more socio-scientific 
study of certain specific variables which he argues determined the 
nature and size of the recruitment and self-recruitment to one of 
the founding professional bodies in Scotland. In particular, his 
study is of developments from the origins of professionalization, 
with specific emphasis on the openness of professional accoun-
tancy in Edinburgh to the phenomenon of upward social mobility. 

PLEA FOR KNOWLEDGE 
Kedslie's study of the early Scottish accountancy profession 

must be seen in the context of several recent pleas for more and 
better knowledge of the origins of accounting generally, and the 
accountancy profession particularly. The particular motivations 
behind these urgings are the need to understand the role of ac-
counting and accountants within the context of significant organi-
zational and societal change; not to study these phenomena as if 
they were static and neutral; and, more specifically, to observe 
accounting (and presumably the accountant) becoming what they 
were not [see Burchell et al., 1980; Willmott, 1986; and Hopwood, 
1987]. Kedslie's text is compatible with these ambitions for the 
study of accounting history, although it is not necessarily faithful 
to them all and at all times. The purpose of this review is to 
identify the compatibilities and incompatibilities between 
Kedslie's thesis and prior historical prescriptions, remembering 
the warning of Carr [1987, p. 22] that history is not just about 
facts; it is also about the historian, and the problem he or she has 
in separating fact from interpretation, and the unique from the 
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general. It is also perhaps relevant to note the view of Collingwood 
[1974, p. 37] that the proper task of historians is to penetrate the 
minds of those persons they seek to study historically. Each of 
these points will be touched on at appropriate parts of this review, 
But, first, a summary of Kedslie's thesis with, where relevant, 
comparisons to that of Walker. 

CONTENT OF KEDSLIE [1990] 
Kedslie's study is of the origins and events surrounding the 

formation of three Scottish professional accountancy bodies in the 
mid 1850s (chronologically, in Edinburgh, Glasgow and Aber-
deen). What is fascinating about these developments is not the 
formations themselves, but why they took place in Scotland at that 
time. Kedslie's careful research has provided some interesting an-
swers, and she has managed to present them (both in her book 
and related paper) in a way that is accessible not just to the ac-
counting historian, but also to the practitioner and the student of 
accounting. Indeed, her study provides a data base for further 
research as much as definitive conclusions on the issues con-
cerned. In this respect, and as will be explained later in this re-
view, arguably its main weakness is its failure to use such a data 
base to support or reject hypotheses which could be specified with 
respect to familiar models of professional behavior. 

Kedslie's study begins with an examination of the accounting 
and accounting-related activities with which identifiable accoun-
tants were involved prior to professionalization in Scotland. She 
reveals evidence of these accountants as connected in a variety of 
ways, and to different degrees, with such businesses as canals and 
railways [pp. 15-28]; banking, insurance and stockbroking [pp. 28-
39]; and, most particularly, bankruptcy [pp. 39-54 and 114-34]. In 
general, Kedslie discovered from data gathered from directories, 
court records, and other relevant sources, there were significant 
differences in pre-professional activities in the three geographical 
locations researched, depending on the nature and preponderance 
of different businesses in different regions. For example, 
Edinburgh was a legal and financial center, whereas Glasgow had 
an industrial and stockbroking focus. These inevitably led to the 
founding fathers of chartered accountancy in Scotland having dif-
ferent social backgrounds, and being involved and specializing in 
different accounting and related activities depending on the city in 
which they did business. For example, Edinburgh accountants en-
tering the new profession were more likely to have family connec-
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tions with the legal or financial communities than were their col-
leagues in Glasgow [p. 82]. At least within the context of 
Edinburgh, these findings are consistent with those of Walker 
[1988, p. 265]. 

One thing above all others is clear from Kedslie's thesis. Pre-
professionalization, accountants as a social grouping were signifi-
cantly involved in bankruptcy work and this was the principal 
factor leading to the formation of the three Scottish professional 
bodies [pp. 50-77 and 114-34]. Indeed, a threat of change in bank-
ruptcy law at the time, which would have led to lawyers rather 
than accountants undertaking such work, was the indisputable 
catalyst for action to form the Edinburgh body [p. 59], and then 
the Glasgow and Aberdeen bodies. In the end, the legal change did 
not take place, but it was sufficient to create the beginnings of 
modern professional accountancy. Involvement in bankruptcy and 
related legal work continued to be a major source of business for 
the early Scottish chartered accountants, to the point that they 
appear to have established a near-monopoly of such activity dur-
ing the decades following the founding of the three professional 
bodies — that is, until a decline at the end of the nineteenth cen-
tury [p. 134]. Indeed, Walker [1988, p. 34-40] provides data in the 
Edinburgh context from which a similar conclusion can be drawn. 
The main change in the mix of business appears to have been to 
company auditing — for example, in relation to Scottish banks 
[Kedslie, 1990, p. 145] and railway companies [Kedslie, 1990, p. 
166]. Walker [1988, p. 40] confirms this trend with more general 
corporate data. 

Kedslie examines the social origins of the early Scottish 
professional accountants [pp. 78-113]. When compared with the 
work of Walker [1988], the analysis is not as statistically de-
tailed and argumentatively complex as his interwoven themes of 
recruitment factors [pp. 30-193], and his self-recruitment demo-
graphic model [pp. 203-64]. Kedslie's conclusions, however, are 
no less clear and concise. For example, her evidence indicates 
that the earliest recruits to the Scottish profession tended at 
first to come from an upper to middle class background [pp. 79-
81]. This varied, however, between Edinburgh, and Glasgow 
and Aberdeen. Edinburgh's earliest recruits tended to be more 
upper to upper-middle class than their colleagues elsewhere. 
Later recruits in all three regions tended to come from a more 
uniform middle class background [pp. 81-96]. This matches the 
specific Edinburgh findings of Walker [1988, pp. 83-9]. Kedslie 
[1990, pp. 96-104] also found the earliest recruits usually had a 
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sound education at fee-paying schools, with some having uni-
versity education [pp. 101-4]. Walker [1988, pp. 89-95] presents 
similar data for Edinburgh recruitment. Finally, Kedslie [1990, 
pp. 110-12] also demonstrates the earliest chartered accountants 
in Scotland were active in public life and so-called 'good works' 
in the community. 

In other words, these early accounting professionals were pre-
dominantly members of an elite grouping in their communities 
prior to entry to membership of their professional bodies, and 
later members tended to come from reasonably similar back-
grounds — with some differences over time and between bodies. 
Coming together at this time in such an organized way is a clear 
signal of some form of self-protection involving economic employ-
ment and social status. Kedslie reveals the several post-
professionalization actions of Scottish chartered accountants 
which evidence such self-protection. Interestingly, despite differ-
ences in the composition and background of members of the three 
bodies, this evidence reveals unanimity of attitude and purpose 
over the issues concerned. 

The first matter centers on the expansion and then decline in 
the second half of the nineteenth century in the involvement of 
Scottish chartered accountants in legally-driven work such as 
bankruptcies, and a compensating expansion of their involvement 
in other areas in which they had previous connections (such as 
auditing banks, insurance companies and railways [Kedslie, 1990, 
pp. 114-34 and 135-71]. Kedslie clearly reveals the adaptability 
and success of the early chartered accountants in capturing sig-
nificant areas of accounting-related activity — to the point at 
which they occupied a near-monopoly position (as in the audit of 
railways) [p. 71]. 

The second example of protectionism cited by Kedslie [1990, 
pp. 179-217] is the increasingly explicit use by the three Scottish 
professional bodies of methods of restricted entry. This started 
with entry by invitation to a selected few with an appropriate 
background and experience. Then to indenture, apprenticeship 
and informal examinations. And, finally, to a unified national ex-
amination system. Several things above all others evidence delib-
erate barriers to entry — the high financial cost of entry to mem-
bership and the length of training prior to entry [for example, pp. 
184-8]; and the rapid stiffening of educational and examination 
standards designed to provide chartered accountants with a 
knowledge which was directly relevant to their involvement in 
practice [for example, pp. 188-97]. 
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Legal conflicts with rival accountancy bodies to prevent them 
receiving a charter of incorporation, and thus protect the exclusive 
use of the label of chartered accountant, comprises Kedslie's 
[1990, pp. 218-9] third example of professional closure. These pro-
tectionist actions were successful, although the rival bodies sur-
vived to be later absorbed into larger bodies in England. This 
defending of what amounted to a professional monopoly has been 
well documented and discussed by Walker [1991], with the par-
ticular conclusion that its success rested on appeals to the public 
interest being best served by restricting the tide of chartered ac-
countants to the then existing Scottish chartered bodies [p. 279]. 

The final example provided by Kedslie [1990, pp. 239-61] of 
early Scottish chartered accountants attempting to establish pro-
fessional closure concerns the issue of registration of such accoun-
tants as the only ones licensed to practice as such. This was in-
tended to be achieved by legislation and, over several years, nu-
merous unsuccessful attempts were made by the Scottish and 
other UK bodies to do just that. As Kedslie [1990, p. 260] remarks, 
these attempts appeared to be deliberately explicit displays of na-
tional and inter-organizational rivalry. The Scottish activities have 
been extensively explored by MacDonald [1985]. 

A THEORY OF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR 
The value of Kedslie's work is in its provision of a "quilt" of 

related topics which, when gathered together, give the reader a 
sense of how the Scottish bodies came into being in the mid 
1850s, and then proceeded to restrict their membership and cap-
ture specific work for their members. In this respect, however, the 
quilt tends to lack a pattern which would help explain why these 
developments took place when and where they did. In other 
words, there is little or no specification of a general model or 
individual hypotheses of professional behavior with which to re-
late the data and derive explanatory conclusions of the type de-
sired by writers such as Burchell et al. [1980], Willmott [1986] and 
Hopwood [1987]. Kedslie [1990, pp. 262-74] does attempt briefly 
at the end of her book to provide such a scenario — in the sense 
that she discusses various views of the attributes of a profession 
and its members. These include such well-known writers on the 
subject as Carr-Saunders and Wilson [1933] and Hall [1969]. 

Kedslie uses each of these studies to describe attributes or 
characteristics of professionalism such as a theoretical body of 
knowledge; social prestige through charters of incorporation; 
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training, examination and licensing; independence from the client 
and a code of ethics; the use of rituals, symbols and specialist 
languages; a legal monopoly; and the power and authority given to 
self-regulate. These are used briefly by Kedslie [1990, pp. 270-4] 
with reference to her findings on the Scottish bodies — that is, to 
evidence that, because these attributes could be demonstrated to 
have existed in the formation of these bodies, then each such body 
clearly had the characteristics of a professional body [p. 273]. 

Such a conclusion is logical and necessary in such a historical 
study. However, it limits the latter in its potential to explain the 
rationale of the professional accountancy body and its Scottish 
origins. Kedslie provides considerable data to make such a case. 
She fails to take the opportunity — despite having access to sev-
eral authorities which could have assisted her. For example, she 
refers to Carr-Saunders and Wilson [1933] in terms of professional 
characteristics, but does not present this study as an example of 
the functionalist approach to the study of professionalism. This is 
the view that the professional exists to provide a functional service 
within the public domain, and that his actions are primarily 
guided by altruism — of putting service to the public before eco-
nomic or social self-interest. Kedslie [1990, p. 262] also makes 
brief and incidental reference to Larson [1977], a principal advo-
cate of the alternative critical school of professionalism — but 
without mentioning his model of the professional as a person 
seeking market control over needed services and upward social 
mobility by a process of public legitimation of his actions. 

In other words, the evidence provided by Kedslie of the emer-
gence and development of professionalized accountancy in mid to 
late nineteenth century Scotland is presented without a formal 
theoretical framework. In particular, the extensive and valuable 
data which she has gathered have not been discussed or inter-
preted from either a functionalist or critical perspective. For ex-
ample, there is a considerable literature on the power-knowledge 
relationship in the context of professional activity — that is, where 
there is a body of knowledge, there is the exercising of power, and 
vice versa. Johnson [1972, pp. 41-7] discusses this concept in 
terms of a profession creating a structure of uncertainty [p. 42-3] 
which can be both threatening and exploitative [p. 44], and 
thereby exercising occupational control [p. 45]. Bledstein [1976] 
argues in similar terms — of the professional having power 
through command of his discipline [p. 90], special rituals reinforc-
ing the mystery of his power [pp. 93-4], invoking disasters to in-
crease client dependency [pp. 99-100], and cultivating irrationality 
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by uncovering anomalies [p. 102]. Larson [1977], also writes of the 
ideology of (professional) competence creating a societal image 
that subconsciously fuses power with superior ability and self-
development [p. 241], but which uses the work ethic, universal 
service and noblesse oblige as components of a marketable com-
modity [p. 220]; professionalism as a means of controlling edu-
cated labor and co-opting elites [p. 237]; professionals construct-
ing reality on their terms, thus obtaining a minimum of social 
authority [p. 231]; and professionals having a monopoly of compe-
tence as well as practice in terms of authority over a body of 
knowledge [p. 231]. 

Putting these ideas in the context of professional accountancy, 
Kedslie could have hypothesized that the early Scottish profes-
sional accountants acted in a concerted way to monopolize a body 
of knowledge or competence which they could exclusively prac-
tice; created an atmosphere of dependency for such services by 
pointing out the need for altruistically-driven superior abilities to 
successfully remove observable uncertainties to maintain the pub-
lic interest; and reinforced such superiority by explicit signs of 
elitism and status. The evidence provided by Kedslie is certainly 
consistent with this model. For example, attempting to achieve 
professional monopoly in the areas of bankruptcies [pp. 50-77 and 
114-34] and company audits [pp. 135-71]; involving a need for 
skilled professionals to deal with complex issues in bankruptcies 
and audits [p. 57, 62, 75, 141-2, 156, 160-1 and 168]; creating an 
image of elitism and status in terms of specific entry standards 
including apprenticeships, entry and membership fees, and educa-
tion and examination [pp. 188-217]; and using the idea of the 
public interest to exclude other bodies from the domain of public 
accounting [pp. 218-39], protect the title of chartered accountant 
[pp. 239-49], and attempt to register only chartered accountants 
[pp. 249-61]. 

Kedslie does make some oblique references to these issues 
and interpretations, but her thesis is weakened by a lack of explic-
itness. In particular, she fails to provide her reader with a strong 
flavor of the ultimate challenge for the early Scottish chartered 
accountants — that is, what Montagna [1974, pp. 4-5] has de-
scribed as the conflict between public interest and self-interest, 
and the need to balance these opposing responsibilities. In addi-
tion, because of her lack of a theoretical framework, she has ne-
glected to relate her findings explicitly to the research of other 
writers in the same area — for example, the factors relating to 
recruitment and self-recruitment in the Scottish bodies [Walker, 
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1988]; the use of the examination process to create occupational 
control [Hoskin and Macve, 1986]; the standardizing of knowledge 
and the institutionalizing of training to gain social rewards 
[Richardson, 1988]; and social closure through occupational regis-
tration [MacDonald, 1985]. She has presented facts about actions 
without necessarily attempting to clearly "get behind" the thinking 
behind the actions as recommended by Collingwood [1974, p. 37]. 

CONCLUSIONS 
As stated at the beginning of this review, there is a need to 

know how professional accountancy came to be what it was not. 
However, much of this process of investigation and explanation is 
subject to the constraint of the historian. In this case, Kedslie has 
provided much useful material to describe the emergence of pro-
fessionalism in accountancy in Scotland. What is still required is 
an interpretive approach to such data to provide explanation and 
understanding. As she reveals in her preface [Kedslie, 1990, p. xiii] 
and conclusion [p. 274], recent events in the history of The Insti-
tute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland suggest that the process 
of professionalization is a continuing affair which will require fur-
ther investigation and explanation. Dr. Kedslie is to be encouraged 
to continue that process as part of the larger task of understanding 
the role of professional accounting and public accountants in soci-
ety. 
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Henry Benson, GBE, FCA, Lord Benson, Accounting for Life (Lon-
don: Kogan Page Ltd. in association with the Institute of Char-
tered Accountants in England and Wales, 1989, 225 pp., £14.95). 

Reviewed by 
Thomas J. Burns 

The Ohio State University 
In the Epilogue, Lord Benson says he is loyal to the following 

prayer (and his autobiography surely reflects it): 
Not the quarry, but the chase, 
Not the laurel, but the race, 
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Not the hazard, but the play, 
Make me, Lord, enjoy always. 
This delightful book is the personal history of an accountant 

who seems to have done everything and enjoyed every minutes. 
Born in South Africa, his mother was a poor relative of the Coo-
pers accounting family; while a boy on a trip to England, the 
family decided he would enter the firm as a clerk when 17. He did, 
qualified as a chartered accountant at 23, and became a partner at 
25 (due to ability and, as he reports, nepotism). He went on to 
become the English head of the firm, conduct investigations 
throughout the world for his firm, for the Bank of England, and 
the government, even chairing the first International Accounting 
Standards Committee. A listing of special assignments and ap-
pointments covers six pages including his election as the only liv-
ing non-American to The Ohio State University Accounting Hall of 
Fame in 1984. 

His personal life has been equally rewarding. Married for 50 
years, he has three children (one who is in what seems to be the 
family firm, Coopers & Lybrand), and nine grandchildren (a photo 
of eight nude on a slide is included). A sportsman who developed a 
middle-aged passion for sailing, he has taken the entire family on 
safari in Africa and sailing in the Greek Isles. Determined, he took 
52 years to catch a single expensive salmon but he seems to enjoy 
it all in this fully packed life. He is a good carpenter in his spare 
time and enjoys making cabinets. 

This account of his life is far more candid than any other 
accountant has written and also includes his frank opinions on 
many issues including those of accounting, business, politics, soci-
ety and life in general. He traveled more than a million miles on 
business alone by planes, cars, taxis, camels, river boats, ocean 
liners, trains, rickshaws and by foot, mostly to open offices over-
seas and to ensure such offices maintained standards. 

Illustrative of this account of a life at the top is his description 
of how to conduct a large scale investigation. He starts by break-
ing the subject down into a number of topics. Next a list is made 
of the information needed under each topic. Prepare a series of 
questions (sometimes 1,500) for which answers are needed. Make 
a list of the people needed to see and in what order. Interview with 
tape recording (or a skilled associate). Transcribe notes immedi-
ately. Test recommendations against evidence. Expect five or six 
drafts of the report with the " . . . first preliminary draft put to-
gether by a junior partner . . ." [p. 86]. Finally use common sense. 
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Fraud has been a subject of considerable concern. His audit 
cases on this subject include one in Hong Kong which took three 
years of his expert witnessing. He also had service on the Roskill 
Committee which made suggestions on how to improve criminal 
procedures for fraud. 

When told that an Australian accounting student audience 
was only interested in sex and crime, he told them that he was out 
of date on the one and shy about the other. But, he told them, you 
will never be paid enough until you are old (when you will be 
overpaid), you will often be offered bribes, not in money, but in 
flattery, your colleagues can be helpful if you let them and you 
should truly cherish your independence. 

The following four lines epitomizes everything important to 
him: 

I would be true, for there are those who trust me; 
I would be pure, for there are those who care; 
I would be strong, for there is much to suffer; 
I would be brave, for there is much to dare. 
When he retired from the firm, he was with the Bank of En-

gland for eight years. For centuries this bank fired employees who 
refused to work on Sundays or who joined the Roman Catholic 
Church. He found that the Bank still maintained tight discipline. 
He first met Mrs. Thatcher, later to become prime minister, when 
he was called into a cabinet meeting to discuss the financial fate of 
Rolls-Royce. She tried to engage him in private conversation, 
much to his impatience. When he entered the House of Lords, his 
maiden speech, most appropriate for an accountant, was on infla-
tion. 

In a negotiation valuing shares, he tossed a coin with his 
opponent, a partner in another large firm, about whether to add 
an extra million pounds. Benson lost. He and an associate ar-
ranged for the merger with the American firm of Lybrand, Ross 
Bros. & Montgomery in 1957. From 1945 to 1975 (when he re-
tired), the firm, now Coopers & Lybrand, grew from eight offices 
worldwide to 332. 

As the first chairman of the IASC which develops standards, 
he recommends first, "that those standards need to be tighter and 
the alternatives reduced or eliminated . . . Second, . . . whenever 
financial statements are issued to the public they should state 
whether they comply with international accounting standards and, 
if they do not, the extent to which the standards have been ob-
served" [p. 113]. He also insists that every accountancy board any-
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where needs to do a better job of seeing to it that standards are 
applied. 

Sixteen pages of photos illustrate the book. Included are sev-
eral cartoons from Punch which use Benson's name in the cap-
tions. Don't overlook his description of the benefits of a raw 
mouse sandwich! 

Thomas N. Bisson, Fiscal Accounts of Catalonia under the Early 
Count-Kings (1151-1213) (Berkeley: University of California Press, 
1984, 2 vols., 777 pp., $105). 

Reviewed by 
Patti A. Mills 

Indiana State University 

By the middle of the twelfth century, the counts of Barcelona 
had established a loose hegemony over what was to become the 
Kingdom of Catalonia. This beautiful work by a noted medievalist 
is an annotated edition of account summaries and other account-
ing-related records of these early count-kings. Comprising all of 
the extant accounts, inventories and commissions of the comital-
royal domains, and a selection of other fiscal records, these docu-
ments are an invaluable resource for the study of early govern-
mental accounting. 

Each of the documents is carefully transcribed according to 
the editorial standards of the Commission Internationale de 
Diplomatique and is accompanied by a brief summary of its con-
tents, a physical description and editorial notes. The texts are in 
medieval Latin. For the reader who has no knowledge of the lan-
guage, the most valuable part of Bisson's work will undoubtedly 
be his masterful 162-page introduction, in which he offers his own 
analysis of the documents and the historical background neces-
sary to their understanding. 

At the heart of the introduction are three chapters which 
Bisson uses to explain the general administrative structure and 
economy of Old Catalonia; and to chart the development of public 
accounting procedures and other fiscal activity during the period 
1151-1213. Bisson's account is incredibly rich in detail, especially 
his description of local administration; but like other master histo-
rians, he manages to distill from his carefully reported findings 
important conclusions. The evidence shows that over the course of 
the period accounting and audit activity improved in this corner of 
the Mediterranean, as was the case in other areas of Europe. The 
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main impetus, however, was to strengthen the counts' credit, the 
lifeblood of their expansionist designs. Indeed, the counts' chief 
fiscal officers — the accountants and collectors who initiated fiscal 
reform — were normally his principal creditors. As Bisson writes, 
"building efficient institutions was not yet an end in itself in the 
early thirteenth century" [p. 150]. Despite advances in routini-
zation and in the management and preservation of written ac-
counts, public accountability at this time was essentially patrimo-
nial rather than bureaucratic in nature. 

The introduction is supplemented by ten "related studies" 
which assemble a wide variety of information gleaned from the 
documents. For example, one of the studies provides a "biographi-
cal conspectus" of the accountants, auditors and scribes engaged 
in the fiscal administration of the comital domains. The known 
audits or "sessions of account" are listed chronologically in an-
other study. Another attractive feature of the work is the series of 
23 black-and-white plates which show the actual scripts and en-
dorsements of several documents. 

Few governmental accounting records survive in the aggre-
gate prior to 1250. By his efforts, Thomas Bisson has afforded us a 
unique glimpse into the early stirrings of public accountability. 

Anne Loft, Coming Into the Light (A Study of the Development of a 
Professional Association for Cost Accountants in Britain in the 
Wake of the First World War) (London: The Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants, 1990, 158 pp., no price given). 

Reviewed by 
Moyra J. M. Kedslie 
University of Hull 

This beautifully produced book provides us with an explana-
tion of why a professional body for cost accountants emerged and 
of the subsequent formation and early years of that body, then 
called the Institute of Cost and Works Accountants. The period 
covered is very narrow when measured in years but extremely 
significant in terms of the changes in the British economy and 
social structure which took place during and after the First World 
War. It is interesting to see the opportunities that the war pre-
sented for cost accountants and the manner in which they capital-
ized upon this in 1913 when the Institute was formed. 

Chapter Two sets the scene for the birth of the new profes-
sional body by examining the development of cost accounting sys-
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tems in Britain towards the end of the nineteenth century and 
beginning of the twentieth century, which led to a growth in the 
number of men employed as costing clerks. The second factor to 
be considered is the impact of the First World War on industry 
and the involvement of professional accountants in government 
work. Because the chartered accountants and incorporated ac-
countants were members of well-established professional bodies, 
they were often recruited to assist in this work in preference to 
costing clerks with no professional affiliation. This preferential 
treatment undoubtedly indicated to costing clerks, many of whom 
must have been highly skilled and experienced, the lower status 
attributed to them by virtue of their lack of an organized body and 
provided the catalyst for such a formation. 

The formation and early organization of the ICWA is dealt 
with in some detail in Chapters Three and Four. Understandably, 
the cost accountants attempted to model themselves on the exist-
ing professional accounting bodies and to form "an Institute equal 
in status to the Chartered Accountants" [p. 47]. This view was at 
variance with that held by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales whose president declared at the 39th An-
nual General Meeting of the Institute [Accountant, May 8, 1920, p. 
548]: 

In my opinion, "Costing" has lately become almost a sci-
ence, and ought to form a part of the education of every 
Chartered Accountant in a much larger degree than it has 
apparently done in the past, but that does not justify a 
separate organisation amongst members of the Institute. 
It is most undesirable to encourage these outside forma-
tions, as, if they deal with subjects that appertain to our 
profession, then by all means let those subjects be in-
cluded more liberally in our curriculum. 

The president was referring to his speech to the Costing Asso-
ciation [p. 37] but it is reasonable to assume that the CAs held 
similar views on the formation of the ICWA. 

Finally the book deals with the early membership of the 
ICWA and includes eight fascinating reports of interviews with 
surviving founder members. This is the most enjoyable part of the 
book and is an excellent example of the use of oral history. 

It would be impossible to review this book without making 
some comparison between it and Anne Loft's earlier book for 
which she received the 1990 Hourglass Award. Much of the new 
book is a reiteration of Chapters Six, Seven and Eight of the ear-
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lier one with the addition of archival material on the early days of 
the Institute and a much fuller coverage of the oral history aspect. 
However, this repetition can be forgiven on the grounds that the 
target audience is different — it would make an excellent gift for 
someone who had worked through the early development of pro-
fessional costing. Another regrettable similarity between the two 
books is the lack of index and, in this case, of a bibliography. 
Nevertheless, this is an interesting and well-produced book which 
should have considerable appeal to a wide range of readers. 
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